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PART I  

ITEM 1.    BUSINESS  

        This Annual Report (including the following section regarding Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results 
of Operations) contains forward-looking statements regarding our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. Words such 
as "expects," "anticipates," "intends," "plans," "believes," "seeks," "estimates" and similar expressions or variations of such words are intended 
to identify forward-looking statements, but are not the exclusive means of identifying forward-looking statements in this Annual Report. 
Additionally, statements concerning future matters, including statements regarding our business, our financial position, the research and 
development of our products and other statements regarding matters that are not historical are forward-looking statements.  

        Although forward-looking statements in this Annual Report reflect the good faith judgment of our management, such statements can only 
be based on facts and factors currently known by us. Consequently, forward-looking statements are inherently subject to risks and uncertainties 
and actual results and outcomes may differ materially from the results and outcomes discussed in or anticipated by the forward-looking 
statements. Factors that could cause or contribute to such differences in results and outcomes include without limitation those discussed under 
the heading "Risk Factors" below, as well as those discussed elsewhere in this Annual Report. Readers are urged not to place undue reliance on 
these forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date of this Annual Report. We undertake no obligation to revise or update any 
forward-looking statements in order to reflect any event or circumstance that may arise after the date of this Annual Report. Readers are urged to 
carefully review and consider the various disclosures made in this Annual Report, which attempt to advise interested parties of the risks and 
factors that may affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.  

Overview  

        Inovio is engaged in the discovery, development, and delivery of a new generation of vaccines, called DNA vaccines, focused on cancers 
and infectious diseases. Our SynCon™ technology enables the design of "universal" DNA-based vaccines capable of providing cross-protection 
against new, unmatched strains of pathogens such as influenza. Our electroporation DNA delivery technology uses brief, controlled electrical 
pulses to increase cellular DNA vaccine uptake. Initial human data has shown this method can safely and significantly increase gene expression 
and immune responses. Our clinical programs include human papillomavirus ("HPV")/cervical cancer (therapeutic), avian influenza 
(preventative), hepatitis C virus ("HCV") and human immunodeficiency virus ("HIV") vaccines. We are advancing preclinical research for a 
universal seasonal/pandemic influenza vaccine. Our partners and collaborators include University of Pennsylvania, National Microbiology 
Laboratory of the Public Health Agency of Canada, NIAID (NIH), Merck, Tripep, University of Southampton, and HIV Vaccines Trial Network 
("HVTN").  

Industry Background  

Historical Importance of Vaccines  

        We believe vaccines have saved more lives and prevented more human suffering than any other human invention. As recently as a century 
ago, infectious diseases were the main cause of death worldwide, even in the most developed countries. For instance, the Spanish flu pandemic 
of 1918 killed more people than all the bullets and bombs did during the Great War. Today, there is a vast range of vaccines available to protect 
against more than two dozen infectious diseases, especially for children. Our society has found that the only way to control or even eliminate 
diseases is consistent, widespread use of vaccines. For most of the past 25 years the vaccine industry was dominated by a few large  
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pharmaceutical companies. Only in recent years improved pricing and technology have helped turned the vaccine market into a growth business. 
As a result, with pharmaceutical innovation slowing down, many large pharmaceutical companies have turned to vaccines to sustain their 
growth.  

Challenges Facing Vaccines  

        Despite the advances made to quality of life as a result of the development and use of vaccines over the past century, several significant 
challenges continue to exist. The technical limitations of conventional vaccine technology have constrained the development of effective 
vaccines for many diseases. Development of vaccines based on conventional methods requires significant infrastructure in research and 
manufacturing, and can be time consuming. Safety risks associated with conventional vaccine approaches may offset their potential benefits, as 
the conventional vaccines we have depended upon employ weakened or dead viruses or different parts of the viruses as vaccines. Further, 
conventional vaccines are still grown in eggs or cells and harvested over weeks of time with a very inefficient manufacturing process.  

        In addition, it is important to note a changing dynamic in the broader vaccine marketplace. Traditionally, vaccines have been predominantly 
focused on the pediatric market, intended to protect children from diseases that could cause them serious harm. Today, there is a growing interest 
in vaccines against diseases that may affect adolescents and adults, which include both sexually transmitted diseases and infections that strike 
opportunistically, such as during pregnancy, in immuno-compromised individuals, and in the geriatric population  

Inovio's Solution  

        We believe our DNA vaccine platform comprising our SynCon™ DNA vaccine constructs and our proprietary electroporation delivery 
technology has the potential to develop and deliver a new generation of vaccines that are safer than traditional vaccines (our platform uses a non-
live, non replicating vaccine), have stronger immune-stimulating power than traditional vaccines and have added advantages with respect to 
development time and cost. Preclinical studies in animals have demonstrated the safety and potential efficacy of our approach.  

The Next Generation of Vaccines: DNA Vaccines  

        DNA vaccines may be designed to prevent a disease (prophylactic vaccines) or treat an existing disease (therapeutic vaccines). A DNA 
vaccine consists of a DNA plasmid encoding a selected antigen(s) that is introduced into cells of humans or animals with the purpose of evoking 
an immune response to the encoded antigen. Information encoded in the DNA plasmid directs the cells to produce antigenic proteins that may 
then trigger the immune system to mount one or both of two responses: the production of antibodies, known as a humoral immune response, 
and/or the activation of T-cells, known as a cellular or cell-mediated immune response. These responses can neutralize or eliminate infectious 
agents (e.g. viruses, bacteria, and other microorganisms) or abnormal cells (e.g. malignant tumor cells). DNA vaccines have several advantages 
over traditional vaccines in that they are non-pathogenic (meaning they cannot cause the disease), may be effective against diseases which 
cannot be controlled by traditional vaccines, and are relatively fast, easy and inexpensive to design and produce. DNA vaccines are stable under 
normal environmental conditions for extended periods of time and do not require continuous refrigeration. Another potentially major advantage 
of DNA vaccines is their relatively short development cycle. For example, DNA vaccines against newly identified viral agents may be developed 
within weeks or months, as opposed to the years often required to develop a traditional vaccine candidate. DNA vaccines against cancer use a 
portion of the genetic code of a cancer antigen to cause a host to produce proteins of the antigen that may induce an immune response.  
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Inovio's SynCon™DNA Vaccines  

        Our DNA vaccines are designed to generate specific antibody and/or T-cell responses, but our vaccine design process reaches further. 
Employing bioinformatics, combining extensive genetic data, sophisticated algorithms, and ultra-powerful computing, our design process is able 
to synthetically define antigens and gene sequences common across different viral sub-types or taxonomic groups (families) of HIV, HCV, HPV, 
and influenza. By synthetically deriving this consensus of genes that look similar to a diverse panel of viral antigens, our SynCon™ DNA 
vaccine constructs may provide a solution to the genetic "shift" and "drift" that is typical of these infectious diseases and be able to fight newly 
emergent, unmatched strains of a virus. SynCon™ immunogens are able to elicit broad, diverse immune responses, which in theory are 
important to protect against variable pathogens such as influenza, HCV and possibly HIV.  

        More technically speaking, SynCon™ DNA vaccine antigens are designed by aligning numerous primary sequences and choosing DNA-
based triplets for the most common amino acid at each site. These antigens are further optimized for codon usage, improved mRNA stability, and 
enhanced leader sequences for ribosome loading. The DNA inserts are therefore optimized at the genetic level to give them high expression 
capability in human cells.  

        We believe these design capabilities allow us to better target appropriate immune system mechanisms and produce a higher level of the 
coded antigen to enhance the overall ability of the DNA vaccine to induce the desired immune response.  

        Pre-clinical studies have shown that immunization of mice and non-human primates using SynCon™ DNA vaccine constructs elicited an 
immune response against multiple sub-types of the HIV, HCV, HPV, and influenza viruses. Vaccine candidates for all these diseases are being 
advanced through preclinical and clinical studies.  

Electroporation DNA Delivery Technology  

        Our DNA vaccine candidates are being delivered into cells of the body using our highly efficient, proprietary electroporation (EP) DNA 
delivery technology, which uses the brief application of high-intensity, pulsed electric fields to create temporary and reversible permeability, or 
pores, in the cell membrane. Efficient delivery of DNA vaccines in humans has been thought to be the shortcoming of earlier generations of 
DNA vaccines. Most drugs and biologics must enter into a cell through a cell membrane in order to perform their intended function. However, 
gaining entry into a cell through the outer cell membrane can be a significant challenge. Electronic pulse-induced permeabilization of the cellular 
membrane, generally referred to as electroporation, has the observable effect that there is a less restricted exchange of molecules between the cell 
exterior and interior—the benefit being that it allows and enhances the uptake of, for example, a biopharmaceutical agent previously injected 
into local tissue. The extent of membrane permeabilization depends upon various electrical, physical, chemical, and biological parameters.  

        The transient, reversible nature of this electrical permeabilization of membranes is the underlying basis of our electroporation systems, 
which are designed to harness this phenomenon by delivering controlled electrical pulses into tissue to facilitate the uptake of useful 
biopharmaceuticals. Our technology generates localized electric fields in targeted tissue to induce electroporation, which increases cellular 
uptake even for large molecules such as DNA. Most cell types and tissue can be successfully electroporated as long as applicators with the 
appropriate configuration of needle electrodes can be used to expose cells and tissues to the electric field.  

        Alternative delivery approaches based on the use of viruses and lipids are complex and expensive, and have in the past created concerns 
regarding safety and cause unwanted immune responses against themselves. We believe electroporation provides a relatively straightforward, 
cost effective method for  
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delivering DNA into cells with high efficiency and minimal complications (as compared to viral vectors) and, importantly, inducing clinically 
relevant levels of gene expression.  

Products and Product Development  

        Independently and together with our licensees and collaborators, we are currently developing a number of DNA-based vaccines and 
therapeutics for the prevention or treatment of cancer and chronic infectious diseases. The table below summarizes progress in our independent, 
collaborative and out-licensed product development programs as of December 31, 2009.  

Infectious Diseases: DNA Vaccines  

Therapeutic Hepatitis C Virus (HCV) Vaccine  

          
Pre-Clinical  

Studies   Development Status      
Product Area   

Product Target and  
Indication(s)   

In  
Vitro   

In  
Vivo   

Phase 
I   

Phase  
II   

Phase  
III   

Phase  
IV   

Development  
Lead 

DNA Vaccine 
tumor-
associated 
antigen 
therapeutic 
vaccines    

HER-2 and CEA-
expressing cancers   

X   X   X                     Merck 

  
Prostate Cancer   X   X   X*                     Univ. of 

Southampton 

  
hTERT-expressing 
cancers   

X   X   IP                     Merck 

  
Cervical Cancer 
(VGX-3100)   

X   X   IP                     Inovio 

DNA Delivery 
Infectious 
disease vaccine   

Avian Influenza 
(VGX-3400)    X    X    IP    

                  

Inovio  

  
Universal Influenza 
(VGX-3500)   

X   X                         Inovio 

  HCV Vaccine   X   X   IP                     Tripep 

  

Preventative HIV 
Vaccine 
(PENNVAX™-B)
(1)   

X   X   X                     HVTN 

  

Preventative HIV 
Vaccine 
(PENNVAX™-B)   

X   X   IP                     HVTN 

  

Therapeutic HIV 
Vaccine 
(PENNVAX™-B)   

X   X   IP                     UPENN 

  

Preventative HIV 
Vaccine 
(PENNVAX™-G)   

X   X                         US Army 

  

Preventative HIV 
Vaccine 
(PENNVAX™-GP)   

X   IP                         NIH/NIAID 

  Biodefense Targets   X   IP                         US Army 
  Unspecified Targets   X   IP                         Inovio 

X  =    Completed  
 

IP  =    In Progress  
 

*  =    Final data pending  
 

(1)  =    without electroporation  



        Hepatitis is a disease characterized by inflammation of the liver. HCV is a major cause of acute hepatitis. HCV is spread primarily by direct 
contact with human blood, the major causes worldwide being the use of unscreened blood transfusions, and re-use of needles and syringes that 
have not been adequately sterilized. As many as 70% - 90% of newly infected patients may progress to develop chronic infection (WHO: 2002). 
Of those with chronic liver disease, 5% - 20% may develop cirrhosis.  
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About 5% of infected persons may die from the consequences of long term infection (due to liver cancer or cirrhosis). Globally, an estimated 170 
million people are chronically infected with HCV, which represents a reservoir sufficiently large for HCV to persist, and 3 to 4 million persons 
are newly infected each year. In the US, while new incidences of HCV have dropped dramatically, an estimated 4.1 million (1.6%) Americans 
have been infected with HCV, of whom 3.2 million are chronically infected (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention: 2006).  

        In January 2006, we signed an agreement with Sweden-based Tripep to co-develop a therapeutic vaccine for HCV using electroporation. 
The vaccine is based on Tripep's proprietary HCV antigen construct and delivered to infected individuals using our MedPulser® DNA Delivery 
System. The study is being conducted at the Karolinska Institute's University Hospital in Sweden. The terms of the development agreement call 
for each party to fund a portion of the Phase I and subsequent Phase II trials and thereafter share profit according to their contribution. We have 
33% ownership in the overall product with the option to increase this to 50% after the completion of the Phase I/II trial.  

        In November 2009, we announced the completion of the Phase I clinical study with Tripep of ChronVac-C hepatitis C virus DNA vaccine 
delivered using our electroporation technology. The study established the safety and tolerability of this therapy, with vaccine-induced immune 
responses and transient effects on the serum levels of HCV in these chronically infected patients providing proof-of-concept of DNA vaccines 
delivered using electroporation.  

        We believe the results of this clinical study will contribute to the advancement of all our programs for DNA vaccines delivered using 
electroporation, including those for influenza, HIV, cervical cancer, and other infectious diseases discussed below.  

Preventative and Therapeutic HIV Vaccines  

        Since its discovery in 1981, AIDS has killed more than 25 million people. In 2005, the total number of HIV-infected people worldwide 
reached an estimated 38.6 million, with 4.1 million newly infected individuals. In 2005, the disease claimed approximately 3.1 million lives. 
UNAIDS estimates that 60,000 individuals were newly infected with HIV across the U.S. and Western Europe in 2005, bringing the number of 
HIV-infected people to approximately 1.75 million. Over half of these individuals live in the U.S.  

        In 2005, the HIV market accounted for 1.8% of global pharmaceutical sales and 17% of total anti-infective sales. Although this is relatively 
small compared to other therapeutic areas, the HIV market has experienced strong growth. It generated $7.4 billion of sales in 2005 and 
experienced a compound annual growth rate of 13.3% from 2001-2005, making it one of the fastest growing infectious disease markets.  

        Effective vaccines have been actively pursued for over 20 years, without success. HIV represents one of the most confounding targets in 
medicine. The virus' high mutagenicity (ability to mutate) has made effective vaccine development very challenging. Its outer envelope, swathed 
in sugar molecules, is difficult to attack, and HIV strikes the very cells that the immune system launches to thwart such an infection. Although 
several drugs (antiretrovirals) are available to treat the patients once they are infected, vaccines are necessary to stop the spread of disease and 
perhaps reduce the need for antiretroviral treatment.  
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        After many years of rapid development and introduction of new anti-retroviral drugs for treatment of HIV infection, the introduction of new 
drugs to the market for treatment of HIV infection appears to be waning. Available drugs, despite several limitations, have set a high standard 
that must be met in terms of efficacy. However, there is still a significant need for better HIV therapies and patents are beginning to expire on 
early HIV drugs. For example, zidovudine is already available as a generic drug and other early HIV drugs will soon face such generic 
competition. To maintain HIV-related revenues, as well as meet the needs of HIV-infected patients, pharmaceutical companies must develop 
new drugs with improved profiles, especially in terms of toxicity and increased barriers to development of viral resistance. As a result, the 
medical and commercial needs are fueling continued interest in the development of new nucleosides (NRTIs), non-NRTIs, and protease 
inhibitors (PI) for treatment of HIV infection.  

        Noting that many long-term survivors have high counts of killer CD8+ T cells, the HIV vaccine field has turned to stimulating the immune 
system to generate those cells. Recent HIV vaccine candidates adopted the use of an adenovirus or a common human cold virus that had been 
altered to prevent viral replication. These vaccines have proven to not be effective. We believe a different approach is needed to develop an 
effective vaccine for HIV.  

        Our HIV vaccines consist of candidates for HIV prevention as well as therapy or treatment. Furthermore, our vaccines are differentiated 
according to the targeted region of the world with the greatest prevalence of certain HIV subtypes. PENNVAX™-B is designed to target HIV 
clade B (most commonly found in the U.S., North America, Australia and the European Union (EU). PENNVAX™-G is designed to target HIV 
clades A, C and D, which are more commonly found in Asia, Africa, Russia and South America.  

        Our PENNVAX™-B vaccine (without electroporation delivery) Phase I trial (HVTN-070) was completed in 2009. This 120 patient study 
was sponsored by the National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases' (NIAID) Division of AIDS (DAIDS) and was conducted by the 
HVTN to evaluate the vaccine's safety and immunogenicity in healthy volunteers. Following this study, in October 2009, along with the HVTN, 
we initiated a follow-on Phase I study (HVTN-080) of PENNVAX™-B (with or without a cytokine) delivered with electroporation using the 
CELLECTRA® delivery device in healthy, uninfected individuals.  

        A second IND is now open, allowing testing of PENNVAX™-B in a therapeutic setting. This Phase I trial (HIV-001) is being conducted in 
collaboration with the University of Pennsylvania and targets HIV-positive individuals. The electroporation-delivered PENNVAX™-B arm of 
this trial will start in early 2010. If the Phase I studies are successful in demonstrating enhanced immunological responses to the HIV antigens, 
then we will partner with the HVTN or another governmental organization to further develop the HIV candidate vaccines through Phase II and 
Phase III clinical studies. It is anticipated that given the critical need for preventive and therapeutic vaccines for HIV, any commercialization will 
likely be through a big pharmaceutical company partner for the North American and EU markets and a world health agency for the developing 
world markets.  

        In 2010, we plan to initiate a new prophylactic HIV Phase I trial (RV262) in collaboration with the US Army. The study will test 
PENNVAX™-G delivered with electroporation in conjunction with a modified vaccinia Ankara- Chiang Mai double recombinant boost.  

        Due to its prevalence and global health importance, there is a large amount of funding available through various governmental and non-
governmental organizations. Most notably, the National Institutes of Health (NIH) awarded us a contract to develop a preventive HIV DNA 
vaccine candidate in conjunction with electroporation technology for intradermal delivery of DNA vaccines. The contract was awarded under the 
NIAID's HIV Vaccine Design and Development Teams program and brings together HIV vaccine experts from the University of Pennsylvania 
School of Medicine and our company. The contract provides up to $23.5 million of funding over seven years, including a base  
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period and follow-on option years. The program is focusing on the vaccine candidate, PENNVAX™-GP, was developed in the laboratory of 
DNA vaccines pioneer Professor David B. Weiner at the University of Pennsylvania School of Medicine and licensed to us. The DNA-based 
vaccine will be delivered using our novel intradermal electroporation technology. This program expands our portfolio of candidate HIV 
vaccines. The funding and development program covers preclinical optimization, immunogenicity and challenge studies in animal models, IND -
enabling toxicology studies, cGMP (current good manufacturing practices) manufacturing of all components of the DNA vaccine and 
CELLECTRA® device, and the conduct of a Phase I human clinical trial. cGMP manufacture of the PENNVAX™-GP constructs to support 
clinical trials will be conducted at the state of the art manufacturing facility of our affiliate VGX International, Inc. ("VGX Int'l").  

        HIV remains a challenging and tremendously important area of medical research, and we value the NIH's support to further evaluate the 
immunogenicity and efficacy of our electroporation delivery system and novel preventive HIV vaccine candidate.  

Avian Influenza (H5N1) Vaccine—VGX-3400  

        Influenza is one of the most communicable diseases and it typically affects children and the elderly most severely. Complications from 
influenza cause more than 200,000 hospitalizations and lead to approximately 36,000 deaths each year in the U.S. alone, according to the 
Centers for Disease Control. The world is annually subjected to two influenza sessions (one per hemisphere), between three and five million 
cases of severe illness, and up to 500,000 deaths. A pandemic occurs every ten to twenty years, which infects a large proportion of the world's 
population and can kill tens of millions of people as the "Spanish Flu" did in just two years (50-100 million deaths during 1918-1919).  

        New influenza viruses are constantly produced by mutation or reassortment, and can develop resistance to standard antiviral drugs. H5N1 
has been spreading from Asia despite the belief that it was under control immediately after outbreaks there in 2004. In 2005, there were reports 
of H5N1 in wild birds in Europe. In 2006, there were reports of a H5N1 strain in wild birds and poultry in Africa and the Near East. According 
to the World Health Organization, the H5N1 bird flu has infected 467 people in 15 countries since 2003, with 282 deaths (60% death rate). 
While H5N1 has never spread widely, one concern is the potential for the lethal H5N1 to "reassort" with another of the influenza sub-types that 
have been prone to spread more rapidly, possibly creating a more dangerous influenza strain. Through 2006, over 140 million birds have been 
killed and over $10 billion has been spent to try to contain H5N1 avian influenza.  

        In pre-clinical studies, vaccination with VGX-3400 generated broadly protective levels of hemagglutination inhibition titers in 100% of the 
immunized animals in five separate animal models—mice, ferrets, rabbits, pigs, and rhesus monkeys. Vaccination with VGX-3400 also 
protected animals from an unmatched, lethal H5N1 virus challenge in mouse, ferret, and monkey models. VGX-3400 also induced significant 
levels of antigen-specific CD8+ killer T cell responses.  

        In March 2010, we announced that VGX received approval in Korea to begin a Phase I clinical trial in healthy volunteers for our SynCon™ 
preventive DNA vaccine (VGX-3400) targeting H5N1 avian influenza. We are co-developing VGX-3400 with Korea-based VGX Int'l. The 30-
subject 2-dose Phase I study will be conducted in multiple clinical research sites in Korea. A parallel study in the U.S. is also planned for this 
year. The planned Phase I trial will evaluate three levels of the vaccine for safety and immunogenicity. One dose will be chosen for expanded 
safety and immunogenicity (Phase II/III) studies.  

        Although a number of companies have well-developed avian influenza programs and lead vaccine candidates have entered into national 
stockpiles (US and EU), we believe there exists a need for new antigen-sparing, rapidly adaptable and easily scalable technologies to prepare for 
the as yet unknown target presented by the next form of avian influenza. Our SynCon™ platform provides protection from  
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known avian influenza viruses (in animal studies) and has also shown the ability to protect against newly emergent, unmatched strains.  

Universal Influenza (Pandemic/Season Flu) Vaccine—VGX-3500  

        Conventional vaccines are strain-specific and have limited ability to protect against genetic shifts in the influenza strains they target. They 
are therefore modified annually in anticipation of the next flu season's new strain(s). If a significantly different, unanticipated new strain 
emerges, such as the 2009 swine-origin pandemic strain, then the current vaccines provide little or no protective capability. In contrast, we 
believe that our design approach to characterize a broad consensus of antigens across variant strains of each influenza sub-type creates the ability 
to protect against new strains that have common genetic roots, even though they are not perfectly matched. By formulating a single vaccine with 
some or all of the key sub-types, protection may be achieved against seasonal as well as pandemic strains such as swine flu or pandemic-
potential strains such as avian influenza noted above. We are focused on developing DNA-based influenza vaccines able to provide broad 
protection against known as well as newly emerging, unknown seasonal and pandemic influenza strains.  

        By using SynCon™-based consensus sequences, we have developed potent and cross-protective DNA vaccines against multiple influenza 
strains. Accordingly, we are evaluating the development of two additional DNA vaccines for influenza: VGX-3500, which would protect against 
the pandemic flu (H1N1 and H5N1) and a "universal" influenza vaccine, to protect against these two sub-types as well as other sub-types. The 
universal flu vaccine, which consists of plasmids encoding H1HA, H2HA, H3HA, H5HA, NA, and NP, is currently being evaluated in animal 
models. These vaccines are delivered via the CELLECTRA® electroporation system and induce robust humoral immune responses, which are 
required for protection from pathogenic influenza infection. The vaccine can be administered with either intradermal or intramuscular injection, 
although the former raises a greater antibody response.  

Cancer: DNA-Based Immunotherapies  

        In December 2004, we initiated a Phase I clinical trial sponsored by the H. Lee Moffitt Cancer Center using our MedPulser® DNA 
Electroporation System to deliver plasmid DNA coding for IL-12  
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        Instead of targeting a specific strain or 
strains, we have developed a universal vaccine 
strategy to deal with the ever-changing flu 
threats. Using our SynCon™ process, our 
scientists designed DNA vaccines targeting an 
optimal consensus of HA, NA, and NP proteins 
derived from multiple strains of each of the sub-
types H1N1, H2N2, H3N2 (these three influenza 
sub-types having been responsible for the 
majority of seasonal and pandemic influenza 
outbreaks in humans during the last century), as 
well as H5N1. In theory, consensus HA vaccine 
constructs from each sub-type, delivered in a 
single shot with our electroporation device, 
could potentially protect vaccinated subjects 
from 90-95% of all human seasonal and 
pandemic influenza concerns.  
 
        Moreover, using our approach the vaccines 
might not have to be administered annually after 
the first few priming sessions. Rather, the same 
combination could be used to boost the immune 
system every few years. 



Table of Contents  

 
to tumors with the aim of treating malignant melanoma. The study was designed to assess the use of electrical pulses generated by our 
proprietary electroporation technology to deliver into tumor cells a plasmid DNA encoding a cytokine, interleukin-12, which stimulates adaptive 
and innate immunity. In December, 2008, we reported that final results of this trial were presented in the peer-reviewed Journal of Clinical 
Oncology in a paper prepared by Drs. Adil Daud, Richard Heller et al, titled, "Phase I Trial of Interleukin-12 Plasmid Electroporation in Patients 
With Metastatic Melanoma."  

        The paper concluded: "This first human trial, to our knowledge, of gene transfer utilizing in vivo DNA electroporation in metastatic 
melanoma showed that it is safe, effective, reproducible, and titratable." The findings showed not only regression of treated melanoma skin 
lesions, but also regression of distant untreated lesions, suggesting a systemic immune response to the localized treatment.  

Cancer: DNA Vaccines  

        In April 2005, The University of Southampton initiated a U.K. Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency (MHRA) approved a 
Phase I/II clinical trial undertaken in collaboration with us. The study used our electroporation technology to deliver a therapeutic plasmid-based 
DNA vaccine to skeletal muscle with the aim of treating recurrent prostate cancer. The trial, sponsored and led by the University of 
Southampton, is investigating whether the DNA vaccine, developed at the University of Southampton, can stimulate patients to develop immune 
responses against prostate cancer and whether use of our electroporation system enhances this response. This academic study is a Phase I/II 
study of 30 patients with biochemical failure of prostate cancer. The study is testing a DNA fusion vaccine, developed in Southampton, encoding 
for an immunostimulant sequence from tetanus (DOM) linked to a sequence from prostate specific membrane antigen (PSMA27). The study is 
also evaluating electroporation as a novel delivery strategy for DNA vaccines compared to DNA delivered without electroporation.  

        Patient enrollment for this study has been completed. Resultant data has affirmed that this therapy is safe and well-tolerated. Published data 
of antibody responses in the 30 patients vaccinated in this study indicated that the use of electroporation yielded significantly enhanced antibody 
responses to DOM while the absence of electroporation resulted in low anti-DOM antibody responses (25-fold mean increase over baseline 
compared to a 1.5-fold mean increase, respectively). Importantly, the level of antibody response further increased following additional boosts of 
DNA vaccine delivery via electroporation at later time points. Furthermore, antibody responses persisted out to 18 months of follow-up, a 
significant result that would be useful in the context of a practical vaccine regimen. This vaccine was found to be safe and well tolerated. 
Analyses of T-cell immune responses to the PSMA antigen are ongoing.  

        In December 2007, we received an additional $2.0 million milestone payment from Merck, resulting from the filing of a second 
Investigational New Drug (IND) application to the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) by Merck for a DNA-based vaccine using our DNA 
delivery technology. The milestone relates to our collaboration and license with Merck initiated in May 2004 for the development of certain 
DNA vaccines. Further development of the product may lead to additional milestone payments and royalties to us. We received this milestone 
payment for our contribution to the collaboration, which has so far demonstrated the high level of gene delivery and expression that is thought to 
be necessary for the induction of a therapeutic immune response. Merck has funded all clinical development costs of these candidates to date.  

        As of October 2008, Merck had begun to enroll patients for this study, which is using a DNA vaccine encoding for hTERT to target non-
small cell lung, breast and prostate cancers. The vaccine is delivered using our electroporation DNA delivery technology.  
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Therapeutic Cervical Cancer Vaccine—VGX-3100  

        Worldwide it is estimated there are 473,000 cases of cervical cancer, and 253,500 deaths per year. In 2008 an estimated 3,870 women in the 
US were predicted to die of cervical cancer, and around 11,000 new cases are expected to be diagnosed. Cervical cancer is caused by various 
types of HPV. Many people who may have HPV do not show any signs or symptoms and can therefore pass the virus to others without even 
knowing it. Prophylactic vaccines aimed at inducing natural immunity against HPV infection in naive (without the disease) individuals have 
been approved and are effective against HPV infection, but once a person has an established infection, the vaccines are ineffective for preventing 
development of cervical cancer. There is a need for an effective therapeutic vaccine that could treat HPV caused cervical tumor cells in young 
women and replace surgical procedures that can affect their reproductive potential. It is estimated that approximately $1.7 billion are spent in the 
United States each year on treatment of cervical cancer.  

        Although prophylactic vaccines for HPV, including Merck's Gardasil® and GSK's Cervarix®, have been recently approved, no therapeutic 
vaccine for HPV/cervical cancer is available. Furthermore, studies suggest that these approved prophylactic vaccines do not have any therapeutic 
effects in women who are already infected with HPV. Our product is designed to treat cervical cancers arising from HPV 16 and HPV 18, which 
account for over 70% of the global cases of cervical cancer.  

        We are currently conducting a Phase I study of our therapeutic cervical cancer vaccine (VGX-3100). VGX-3100 is a DNA vaccine targeting 
the E6 and E7 proteins of HPV types 16 and 18 and is delivered via in vivo electroporation. In February 2010, we presented additional interim 
safety and immunogenicity data from the trial. Similar to previously reported data from the initial lowest dose cohort of this Phase I trial, the 
vaccine was found to be generally safe and well tolerated. While previously reported data showed significant cellular and humoral immune 
responses, data from this second, intermediate dose group highlighted a significantly increased and dose-related immune response specific to the 
antigens targeted by the vaccine.  

        The dose escalation study is designed to test the safety and immunogenicity of VGX-3100 in women with a previous history of cervical 
intraepithelial neoplasia (CIN) 2/3, a precursor lesion prior to the development of cancer. The trial is enrolling patients in three cohorts of six 
subjects each with DNA vaccine doses at 0.6 mg (0.3 mg each of two DNA plasmids), 2.0 mg, and 6.0 mg. The immunization regimen consists 
of each subject receiving the respective dose at day 0, month 1 and month 3. The vaccine is delivered using our proprietary CELLECTRA® 
intramuscular electroporation delivery device.  

        All six patients in the second, intermediate dose cohort have been enrolled; samples from the first four patients have been evaluated for 
immune responses. As with the first cohort, the vaccination procedures were well-tolerated by the subjects in the second cohort. In general, 
reported adverse events and injection site reactions were mild to moderate and required no treatment.  

        The preliminary immunological analysis of blood samples collected before and after vaccination indicated the induction of antigen-specific 
immune responses against the target proteins produced by the vaccine. Antigen-specific cytotoxic T-lymphocyte (CTL) responses were observed 
against all four antigens (E6 and E7 proteins for HPV types 16 and 18). In this cohort, 2 of 4 vaccinated subjects (50%) developed significant 
CTL responses, with average responses of 532 spot forming units per million cells after three immunizations. This was a 71% increase in CTL 
responses compared to the lowest dose cohort, which also yielded 50% responders (3 out of 6) and average CTL responses of 311 SFU per 
million cells. Generation of tumor-specific T cell responses is believed to be an important characteristic of a potential cancer therapeutic vaccine. 

        We also tested the samples for antibody responses against the target antigens and observed strong antibody responses in 4 of 4 subjects 
(100%). Antibodies were generated against all four antigens, as  
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tested by the enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay . The current results were an improvement over the results from the first cohort, in which 5 of 
6 vaccinated subjects (83%) developed strong antibody responses. The level of antibody responses in the current cohort was 5 - 10 fold higher 
than that observed in the lowest-dose cohort. The average antibody titer to both HPV E7 proteins in the current cohort was greater than 1:50,000. 

        Specific antibody responses to tumor antigens can function as an important surrogate potency marker for determining the immunogenicity 
of a vaccine, i.e. the ability of a vaccine to induce an immune response. We believe our results underscore the potential usefulness of our DNA 
vaccine platform against infectious disease targets, where generation of antibodies has been shown to be protective.  

        We expect full enrollment of all three cohorts in the first half of 2010 and complete immunogenicity and safety data to be reported in Q4 
2010.  

DNA Vaccines for Biodefense  

        A number of infectious agents that are relatively rare today are poised for an upsurge in incidence by either "natural" or terrorism-related 
means. For example, natural threats are led by the influenza strain H5N1. An engineered influenza virus for intentional release would pose a 
significant human threat. Human pathogens that could be employed for terrorist purposes must be easily deliverable.  

        Since 2001, the U.S. government has spent or allocated over a billion dollars in funding to address the threat of biological weapons. U.S. 
funding for bioweapons-related activities focuses primarily on research for and acquisition of medicines for defense. Biodefense funding also 
goes toward stockpiling protective equipment, increased surveillance and detection of biological agents, and improving state and hospital 
preparedness. The increase in this type of funding is mainly due to the Project BioShield Act adopted in 2004.  

        There are opportunities to secure development funding and for proof-of principle DNA vaccine studies for biowarfare pathogens and related 
efforts within our business strategy. Over the past 5 years, we have been successful at securing funding from the US government.  

        As resources obtained from government funding can be employed to enhance the development of technology in the area of cancer and 
chronic infectious disease, we plan to continue to pursue opportunities in the area of biodefense. In September 2008 we announced a contract for 
$933,000 from the Department of Defense (US Army) to continue research and development of DNA-based vaccines delivered via our 
proprietary electroporation system. The contract will run through May 2010. This project is focused on identifying DNA vaccine candidates with 
the potential to provide rapid, robust immunity to protect against bio-warfare and bioterror attacks. .  

Animal Health/Veterinary  

        VGX Animal Health, Inc. (VGX AH) a majority-owned subsidiary, has licensed LifeTide™, a plasmid-based growth hormone releasing 
hormone (GHRH) technology for swine. LifeTide™ is one of only four DNA-based treatments approved for use in animals and is the only 
DNA-based agent delivered using electroporation that has been granted marketing approval (Australia).  

Additional Applications of Inovio's DNA Delivery Technology  

        In addition to using our technology for human drug and vaccine delivery, it can be used for research to validate new drug targets, to 
generate monoclonal antibodies, deliver siRNA and other molecules. The use of our technology for research increases general awareness for the 
technology and may facilitate its transition into clinical development for these other applications. In addition, we  
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believe there may be a benefit to exploring future potential applications for our technology in the area of gene therapy to treat genetic disorders.  

        We continue to pursue limited opportunities in the areas of stem cells, ex-vivo applications and RNAi, where collaborators would provide 
the majority of required development resources.  

Inovio's Electroporation DNA Delivery Technology  

Choice of Tissue for DNA Delivery  

        Skeletal muscle has been a core focus for delivery of DNA vaccines via electroporation because it is mainly composed of large elongated 
cells with multiple nuclei. Muscle cells are non-dividing, hence long-term expression can be obtained without integration of the gene of interest 
into the genome. Muscle cells have been shown to have a capacity for secretion of proteins into the blood stream. Secreted therapeutic proteins 
may therefore act systemically and produce therapeutic effects in distant tissues of the body. In this respect, the muscle functions as a factory for 
the production of the biopharmaceutical needed by the body. It is envisioned that delivery of DNA by electroporation to muscle cells will 
circumvent the costly and complicated production procedures of viral gene delivery vectors, protein-based drugs, conventional vaccines and 
monoclonal antibodies. This approach may provide long-term stable expression of a therapeutic protein or monoclonal antibody at a sustained 
level.  

        For vaccination the DNA causes muscle cells to produce antigenic proteins that the immune system will identify as foreign and against 
which it will mount an immune response. As with conventional vaccines, the immune system will then develop memory of this antigen (and 
related disease) for future reference. Intramuscular delivery by electroporation of DNA encoded antigens has been shown to induce both humoral 
(antibody) and cellular (T-cell) immune responses. Table of Contents  

        While we have generated preclinical and preliminary clinical evidence that intramuscular electroporation-based DNA delivery will be 
effective for a number of vaccines, electroporation of the skin may also be a relevant route of administration. Skin or intradermal administration 
is important and is becoming an attractive site for immunization given its high density of antigen presenting cells (APCs). Unlike muscle, skin is 
the first line of defense against most pathogens and is therefore very rich in immune cells and molecules. Skin specifically contains certain cells 
that are known to help in generating a robust immune response. With intradermal administration of electroporation, we may be able to 
demonstrate a comparable immune response to muscle delivery.  

        We have also investigated in vivo delivery of genes directly into tumor cells. Tumor cells can be readily transfected with genes encoded 
with selected cytokines or potentially lethal proteins for the treatment of a variety of cancers. The goal of effective tumor delivery is the ultimate 
elimination of the transfected tumor, and we have experienced very few concerns regarding the safety of the procedure in our trials to date.  

Our Electroporation Systems  

        Existing generations of electroporation systems consist of an electrical pulse generator box the size of a large laptop attached by a cord to a 
separate needle-electrode applicator. We recently unveiled our new CELLECTRA®-SP series of hand-held, cordless electroporation devices. 
The new CELLECTRA ®- SP devices bring together groundbreaking design and engineering advancements to combine all components into a 
self-contained, easy-to-use portable device the size of a cordless hand tool.  
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CELLECTRA® System  

        There are several configurations in the CELLECTRA® device family. The first covers intramuscular (IM) delivery of DNA; the 
second covers the intradermal/subcutaneous delivery (ID) of DNA. Both devices have been validated, manufactured under cGMP and are 
ready for use in human clinical trials. We have filed a device master file (MAF) with the FDA covering the use of the CELLECTRA®-
IM EP device in human clinical trials. The device is intended to be used in combination with a DNA plasmid-based vaccine.  

        The new CELLECTRA ®- SP products combine the functionality of our current generation of skin and intramuscular 
electroporation devices in clinical testing with enhanced form, design, and portability. All components from the pulse generator and 
applicator are integrated into a cordless, rechargeable device. The rechargeable battery can enable vaccination of several hundred 
subjects, making the device highly amenable to mass vaccination. The devices are designed to accommodate different electrode arrays to 
meet the requirements of the particular vaccine and tissue for delivery (skin or muscle).  

Elgen System  

        The Elgen® DNA Delivery System, is designed primarily for muscle delivery. It consists of a computer-controlled, motorized two 
needle delivery device that injects DNA and delivers electroporation pulses through one pair of needles. An earlier prototype version of 
this experimental system is currently under evaluation in our clinical trial for a prostate cancer vaccine at the University of Southampton 
in the U.K.  

MedPulser® DNA Electroporation System  

        Our MedPulser® DNA Electroporation System was designed to create conditions to deliver DNA into tumor cells that promote 
optimal responses to gene-based immunotherapeutic cytokines. The cytokine-encoding plasmid is first injected with a syringe/needle into 
the selected tumor. Using a remote control, the pulse generator is switched on. High-voltage electrical pulses are generated and delivered 
through an attached electrical cord into the injected tissue through an electrode-needle array on the applicator. The electrode-needle array 
consists of a total of six needle-electrodes. The needle-electrode arrays are available in different sizes and configurations to facilitate 
access to tumors of different sizes and in different locations.  

MedPulser® DNA Delivery System  

        The MedPulser® DNA Delivery System (DDS) was developed to optimize the delivery of DNA into muscle cells. The modified 
system is similar to the MedPulser® Electroporation System. The primary differences are in the parameters of the electric pulses 
delivered by the generator and the needle-electrode configuration of the applicator. The pulse is designed specifically for DNA delivery 
with a lower strength electrical field of longer duration than for tumor electroporation. The applicator has a four needle-electrode array 
consisting of one set of opposite pairs. They are available in a range of configurations to meet the requirements of a variety of 
applications.  

        All of our electroporation-based DNA vaccine delivery systems noted above can increase levels of gene expression (i.e. production of the 
immune-system-stimulating protein the vaccine was coded to produce) of "naked" DNA vaccines by 100-fold or more compared to delivery of 
naked DNA vaccines via conventional injection alone. Delivery of our SynCon TM DNA vaccines into muscle or skin tissue with our 
electroporation systems have generated robust immune responses in disease models including influenza (H5N1 and H1N1), smallpox, and HIV. 
The strong immune responses have resulted in protection of immunized animals, most notably ferrets and primates, from death and illness 
following a challenge with the respective pathogens.  
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        More significantly, we have translated these animal study findings into positive clinical results. Our clinical studies with electroporation 
delivery of DNA vaccines in cancer patients have been among the first to demonstrate a generation of potent antigen-specific immune responses 
in humans. We recently announced that our therapeutic cervical cancer vaccine VGX-3100 showed significant dose-related T-cell and antibody 
responses in an on-going Phase I study.  

Collaborations and Licensing Agreements  

        We have entered into various arrangements with corporate, academic, and government collaborators, licensors, licensees and others. These 
arrangements are summarized below and elsewhere in this annual report. In addition, we conduct ongoing discussions with potential 
collaborators, licensors and licensees.  

        On March 24, 2010, we entered into a Collaboration and License Agreement (the "Agreement") with VGX Int'l. Under the Agreement, we 
granted VGX Int'l an exclusive license to Inovio's SynCon TM universal influenza vaccine delivered with electroporation to be developed in 
certain countries in Asia (the "Product").  

        As consideration for the license granted to VGX Int'l, we will receive a research and development initiation fee, as well as research support, 
annual license maintenance fees, and royalties on net Product sales. In addition, contingent upon achievement of clinical and regulatory 
milestones, we will receive development payments over the term of the Agreement. The Agreement also provides Inovio with exclusive rights to 
supply devices for clinical and commercial purposes (including single use components) to VGX Int'l for use in the Product.  

        The term of the Agreement commenced upon execution and will extend on a country by country basis until the last to expire of all Royalty 
Periods for the territory (as such term is defined in the Agreement) for any Product in that country, unless the Agreement is terminated earlier in 
accordance with its provisions as a result of breach, by mutual agreement, or by VGX Int'l right to terminate without cause upon prior written 
notice.  

        In January 2010, we announced that the Company expanded its existing license agreement with the University of Pennsylvania, adding 
exclusive worldwide licenses for technology and intellectual property for novel DNA vaccines against pandemic influenza, Chikungunya, and 
foot-and-mouth disease. The amendment also encompasses new chemokine and cytokine molecular adjuvant technologies. The technology was 
developed in the University of Pennsylvania laboratory of Professor David B. Weiner, a pioneer in the field of DNA vaccines and chairman of 
our scientific advisory board. Under the terms of the original license agreement completed in 2007, we obtained exclusive worldwide rights to 
develop multiple DNA plasmids and constructs with the potential to treat and/or prevent HIV, HCV, HPV and influenza and included molecular 
adjuvants. These prior and most recent agreements and amendments provide for royalty payments, based on future sales, to the University of 
Pennsylvania.  

        In March 2009, we announced an agreement with the PATH Malaria Vaccine Initiative to evaluate in a preclinical feasibility study our 
SynCon™ DNA vaccine development platform. More specifically, this collaboration was to design and test DNA vaccine candidates using target 
antigens from Plasmodium species and deliver them intradermally using the CELLECTRA® electroporation device. The collaboration brings 
together vaccine development and malaria experts from the University of Pennsylvania School of Medicine and Inovio. The program funding is 
over a year and may have follow-on funding.  

        In May 2004, we announced a licensing arrangement with Merck for the development of Merck's DNA cancer and infectious disease 
vaccines. The terms of the agreement include milestone and royalty payments for successful completion of the clinical development of the 
vaccines by Merck. Under the terms of the agreement, Merck reimbursed us for the co-development of a proprietary electroporation  
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system for the delivery of Merck's DNA vaccines. This development and commercialization agreement was an extension of an initial evaluation 
agreement established in 2003. Merck received the right to use our proprietary technology for two specific antigens with an option to extend the 
agreement to include a limited number of additional target antigens. In addition, Merck obtained a non-exclusive license to the intellectual 
property related to the initial two specific antigens. Merck is responsible for all development costs and clinical programs.  

        In May 2005, we announced that Merck exercised an option for a non-exclusive license for an additional antigen to be used with our 
MedPulser® DNA Delivery System. This option exercise was provided for under the 2004 license and research collaboration agreement, and 
brought the total number of antigens licensed by Merck to three. We received an option fee for the additional target antigen. Under the terms of 
our license agreement with Merck, we are eligible for milestone and royalty payments if certain development goals and commercialization of the 
device are achieved by Merck.  

Market  

        We anticipate that over the next several years a number of key demographic and technological factors should accelerate growth in the 
market for vaccines and medical therapies to prevent and treat infectious diseases and cancer, particularly in our product categories. These 
factors include the following:  

•  Rise in emerging infectious diseases and the threat of pandemics.   The attention received by the pandemic potential of avian 
influenza has mobilized cross-border agencies including governments, world health organizations and private and public 
corporations to develop effective vaccination and therapeutics strategies. Our candidate vaccines for avian influenza, 
Chikungunya and dengue are among those intended to serve these needs.  
 

•  Increased consumer awareness.   In areas such as cervical cancer, increased consumer awareness related to human papillomavirus 
(HPV) infection, the primary cause of cervical cancer, has led to renewed efforts for developing effective therapies. The current 
vaccines for cervical cancer prevention (Gardasil® and Cervarix®), while being effective measures for prevention in the 
unexposed population, are ineffective in people infected with HPV.  
 

•  Large unmet need.   In areas such as human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) and hepatitis C virus (HCV) (prevention and therapy) 
there is a large unmet need with no vaccine options on the market. With the exit of several players in the recent years from the 
HIV vaccine development area, if our vaccines prove successful we believe we are positioned to obtain a significant market 
position.  

        We believe there is a significant unmet clinical need to develop more efficacious vaccines that stimulate cellular immunity (i.e. can induce 
T-cell responses) and can be applied to diseases such as cancer, hepatitis C or HIV infection. For these applications, our scientists believe that 
DNA vaccines may offer an improvement over conventional vaccination. Our scientists believe that electroporation of DNA is critical to 
maximizing the efficiency of DNA vaccination and meeting unmet clinical needs for therapeutic vaccines, which some industry analysts 
consider to be a multi-billion dollar market opportunity.  

Competition  

        We are aware of several development-stage and established enterprises, including major pharmaceutical and biotechnology firms, which are 
actively engaged in infectious disease and cancer vaccine research and development. These include Crucell, Sanofi-Aventis, Novartis, 
GlaxoSmithKline plc, MedImmune, Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of AstraZeneca, Merck and  
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Pfizer Inc. We may also experience competition from companies that have acquired or may acquire technologies from companies, universities 
and other research institutions. As these companies develop their technologies, they may develop proprietary technologies which may materially 
and adversely affect our business.  

        In addition, a number of companies are developing products to address the same diseases that we are targeting. For example, Sanofi-
Aventis, Novartis, MedImmune, GlaxoSmithKline, CSL (in collaboration with Merck), and others have products or development programs for 
influenza. Merck and GlaxoSmithKline have products on the market for cervical cancer in the therapeutic setting; Transgene/Roche have a 
cervical cancer product in Phase II trials. Much of the development for a HIV vaccine is being done by government and non-government 
organizations such as the NIH and Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation.  

        We compete with companies that are developing DNA delivery technologies, such as viral delivery systems, lipid-based systems, or 
electroporation technology with an aim to carry out in vivo gene delivery for the treatment of various diseases. Currently there are five key DNA 
delivery technologies: viral, lipids, naked DNA, "gene gun" and electroporation. All are promising technologies, but they each also have their 
unique obstacles to overcome. We believe our electroporation system is strongly positioned to succeed as the dominant delivery method for 
DNA vaccines.  

Viral DNA Delivery  

        This technology utilizes a virus as a carrier to deliver genetic material into target cells. The method is very efficient for delivering vaccine 
antigens and has the advantage of mimicking real viral infection so that the recipient will mount a broad immune response against the vaccine. 
The greatest limitation of the technology stems from problems with unwanted immune responses against the viral vector, limiting its use to 
patients who have not been previously exposed to the viral vector and making repeated administration difficult. In addition, complexity and 
safety concerns increase the cost of vaccines and complicate regulatory approval.  

Ballistic DNA Delivery (Gene Gun)  

        This technology utilizes micron sized DNA-coated gold particles that are shot into the skin using compressed gas. The method has matured 
considerably over the last 15 years and has been shown to be an efficient method to deliver a number of vaccine antigens. Since the DNA is dry 
coated, excellent stability of the vaccine can be achieved. The method is limited to use in skin and only a few micrograms of genetic material can 
be delivered each time. This may limit the utility of the method for targets such as cancer where higher doses of vaccine antigens and stronger T-
cell responses are needed.  

Lipid DNA Delivery  

        A number of lipid formulations have been developed that increase the effect of DNA vaccines. These work by either increasing uptake of 
the DNA into cells or by acting as an adjuvant, alerting the immune system. While there has been steady progress in this field, lipid delivery 
tends to be less efficient than viral vectors and is hampered by concerns regarding toxicity and increased complexity.  

"Naked" DNA Delivery  

        The simplest DNA delivery mode is the injection of "naked" plasmid DNA into target tissue, usually skeletal muscle. This method is safe 
and economical but inefficient in terms of cell transfection, the process of transferring DNA into a cell across the outer cell membrane. 
Unfortunately, it is the least effective way of delivering DNA since only an extremely small fraction (approximately one out of twenty million) 
of the DNA molecules are taken up by the cells. While the method may have provided  
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some utility for the field of gene therapy, a number of clinical studies over the last decade have shown that the method is inadequate for 
delivering DNA vaccines into large animals and humans.  

"Naked" DNA Delivery With Electroporation  

        When naked DNA injection is followed by electroporation of the target tissue, transfection is significantly greater with resultant gene 
expression generally enhanced from 100 to 1000-fold. This increase makes many DNA vaccine candidates potentially feasible without unduly 
compromising safety or cost.  

        In December 2004, the first patient was treated using Inovio's electroporation system to deliver a plasmid DNA-based immunotherapy and 
we have initiated, together with partners, additional Phase I clinical trials using our electroporation technology to deliver DNA-based 
immunotherapies or DNA vaccines. To date our scientists have not observed any serious adverse events that can be attributed to the use of 
electroporation in these clinical DNA studies.  

        We believe that the greatest obstacle to making DNA vaccines and immunotherapies a reality has been the lack of safe, efficient, and 
economical delivery of DNA plasmid constructs into target cells and that electroporation may become the method of choice for DNA delivery 
into cells in many applications.  

        There are other companies with electroporation intellectual property and devices. We believe we have significant competitive advantages 
over other companies focused on electroporation for multiple reasons:  

•  We have an extensive history and experience in developing the methods and devices that optimize the use of electroporation in 
conjunction with DNA-based agents. This experience has been validated with multiple sets of interim data from multiple clinical 
studies assessing DNA-based immunotherapies and vaccines against cancers and infectious disease. Together with our partners 
and collaborators, we have been the leader in establishing proof-of-principle of electroporation-delivered DNA vaccines and 
immunotherapies.  
 

•  We have a broad product line of electroporation instruments designed to enable DNA delivery in tumors, muscle, and skin.  
 

•  We have been very proactive in filing for patents, as well as acquiring and licensing additional patents, to expand our 
international patent estate.  

        If any of our competitors develop products with efficacy or safety profiles significantly better than our products, we may not be able to 
commercialize our products, and sales of any of our commercialized products could be harmed. Some of our competitors and potential 
competitors have substantially greater product development capabilities and financial, scientific, marketing and human resources than we do. 
Competitors may develop products earlier, obtain FDA approvals for products more rapidly, or develop products that are more effective than 
those under development by us. We will seek to expand our technological capabilities to remain competitive, however, research and 
development by others may render our technologies or products obsolete or noncompetitive, or result in treatments or cures superior to ours.  

        Our competitive position will be affected by the disease indications addressed by our product candidates and those of our competitors, the 
timing of market introduction for these products and the stage of development of other technologies to address these disease indications. For us 
and our competitors, proprietary technologies, the ability to complete clinical trials on a timely basis and with the desired results, and the ability 
to obtain timely regulatory approvals to market these product candidates are likely to be significant competitive factors. Other important 
competitive factors will  
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include the efficacy, safety, ease of use, reliability, availability and price of products and the ability to fund operations during the period between 
technological conception and commercial sales.  

        The FDA and other regulatory agencies may expand current requirements for public disclosure of DNA-based product development data, 
which may harm our competitive position with foreign and U.S. companies developing DNA-based products for similar indications.  

Government Regulation  

DNA Vaccine Product Regulation  

        Any pharmaceutical products we develop will require regulatory clearances prior to clinical trials and additional regulatory approvals prior 
to commercialization. New gene-based products for vaccine or therapeutic applications are subject to extensive regulation by the FDA and 
comparable agencies in other countries. The precise regulatory requirements with which we will have to comply are uncertain at this time due to 
the novelty of the gene-based products and indications, or uses, that are currently under development. Our potential products will be regulated 
either as biological products or as drugs. In the United States, drugs are subject to regulation under the Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act, or 
the FDC Act. Biological products, in addition to being subject to provisions of the FDC Act, are regulated in the United States under the Public 
Health Service Act. Both statutes and related regulations govern, among other things, testing, manufacturing, safety, efficacy, labeling, storage, 
record keeping, advertising, and other promotional practices.  

        Obtaining FDA approval or comparable approval from similar agencies in other countries is a costly and time-consuming process. 
Generally, FDA approval requires that preclinical studies be conducted in the laboratory and in animal model systems to gain preliminary 
information on efficacy and to identify any major safety concerns. In the United States, the results of these studies are submitted as a part of an 
IND application which the FDA must review and allow before human clinical trials can start. The IND application includes a detailed 
description of the proposed clinical investigations.  

        A company must submit an IND application or equivalent application in other countries for each proposed product and must conduct 
clinical studies to demonstrate the safety and efficacy of the product necessary to obtain FDA approval or comparable approval from similar 
agencies in other countries. For example, in the United States, the FDA receives reports on the progress of each phase of clinical testing and may 
require the modification, suspension, or termination of clinical trials if an unwarranted risk is presented to patients.  

        To obtain FDA approval prior to marketing a pharmaceutical product in the United States typically requires several phases of clinical trials 
to demonstrate the safety and efficacy of the product candidate. Clinical trials are the means by which experimental treatments are tested in 
humans, and are conducted following preclinical testing. Clinical trials may be conducted within the United States or in foreign countries. If 
clinical trials are conducted in foreign countries, the products under development as well as the trials are subject to regulations of the FDA 
and/or its counterparts in the other countries. Upon successful completion of clinical trials, approval to market the treatment for a particular 
patient population may be requested from the FDA in the United States and/or its counterparts in other countries.  

        Clinical trials for therapeutic products are normally done in three phases. Phase I clinical trials are typically conducted with a small number 
of patients or healthy subjects to evaluate safety, determine a safe dosage range, identify side effects, and, if possible, gain early evidence of 
effectiveness. Phase II clinical trials are conducted with a larger group of patients to evaluate effectiveness of an investigational product for a 
defined patient population, and to determine common short-term side effects and risks associated with the drug. Phase III clinical trials involve 
large scale, multi-center,  
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comparative trials that are conducted to evaluate the overall benefit-risk relationship of the investigational product and to provide an adequate 
basis for product labeling. In some special cases where the efficacy testing of a product may present a special challenge to testing in humans, 
such as in the case of a vaccine to protect healthy humans from a life-threatening disease that is not a naturally occurring threat, effectiveness 
testing may be required in animals.  

        After completion of clinical trials of a new product, FDA marketing approval must be obtained or equivalent approval in comparable 
agencies in other countries. For the FDA, if the product is regulated as a biologic, a Biologics License Application, or BLA, is required and if the 
product is classified as a new drug, a New Drug Application, or NDA, is required. The NDA or BLA must include results of product 
development activities, preclinical studies, and clinical trials in addition to detailed chemistry, manufacturing and control information.  

        Applications submitted to the FDA are subject to an unpredictable and potentially prolonged approval process. Despite good-faith 
communication and collaboration between the applicant and the FDA during the development process, the FDA may ultimately decide, upon 
final review of the data, that the application does not satisfy its criteria for approval or requires additional product development or further 
preclinical or clinical studies. Even if FDA regulatory clearances are obtained, a marketed product is subject to continual review, and later 
discovery of previously unknown problems or failure to comply with the applicable regulatory requirements may result in restrictions on the 
marketing of a product or withdrawal of the product from the market as well as possible civil or criminal sanctions.  

        Before marketing clearance for a product can be secured, the facility in which the product is manufactured must be inspected by the FDA 
and must comply with cGMP regulations. In addition, after marketing clearance is secured, the manufacturing facility must be inspected 
periodically for cGMP compliance by FDA inspectors.  

        In addition to the FDA requirements, the NIH has established guidelines for research involving human genetic materials, including 
recombinant DNA molecules. The FDA cooperates in the enforcement of these guidelines, which apply to all recombinant DNA research that is 
conducted at facilities supported by the NIH, including proposals to conduct clinical research involving gene therapies. The NIH review of 
clinical trial proposals and safety information is a public process and often involves review and approval by the Recombinant DNA Advisory 
Committee, of the NIH.  

        Sponsors of clinical trials are required to register and report results for all controlled clinical investigations, other than Phase I 
investigations, of a product subject to FDA regulation. Trial registration may require public disclosure of confidential commercial development 
data resulting in the loss of competitive secrets, which could be commercially detrimental.  

Medical Device Manufacturing Regulation  

        In addition, we are subject to regulation as a medical device manufacturer. We must comply with a variety of manufacturing, product 
development and quality regulations in order to be able to distribute our electroporation devices commercially around the world. In Europe, we 
must comply with the Medical Device Directives. We have a Quality System certified by its international Notified Body to be in compliance 
with the international Quality System Standard, ISO13485, and meeting the Annex II Quality System requirements of the MDD. We completed 
Annex II Conformity Assessment procedures to allow for the CE Mark of our electroporation devices.  

        In the U.S., we are required to maintain facilities, equipment, processes and procedures that are in compliance with quality systems 
regulations. Our systems have been constructed to be in compliance with these regulations and our ongoing operations are conducted within 
these systems. Commercially distributed devices within the U.S. must be developed under formal design controls and be submitted to the FDA 
for clearance or approval. All development activity is performed according to formal procedures to ensure compliance with all design control 
regulations.  
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        We employ modern manufacturing methods and controls to optimize performance and control costs. Internal capabilities and core 
competencies are strategically determined to optimize our manufacturing efficiency. We utilize contract manufacturers for key operations, such 
as clean room assembly and sterilization, which are not economically conducted in-house. We outsource significant sub-assemblies, such as 
populated printed circuit boards, for which capital requirements or manufacturing volumes do not justify vertical integration.  

Other Regulations  

        We also are subject to various federal, state and local laws, regulations, and recommendations relating to safe working conditions, 
laboratory and manufacturing practices, the experimental use of animals, and the use and disposal of hazardous or potentially hazardous 
substances, including radioactive compounds and infectious disease agents, used in connection with our research. The extent of government 
regulation that might result from any future legislation or administrative action cannot be accurately predicted.  

Commercialization and Manufacturing  

        Because of the broad potential applications of our technologies, we intend to develop and commercialize products both on our own and 
through our collaborators and licensees. We intend to develop and commercialize products in well-defined specialty markets, such as infectious 
diseases and cancer. Where appropriate, we intend to rely on strategic marketing and distribution alliances.  

        We believe our plasmids can be produced in commercial quantities through uniform methods of fermentation and processing that are 
applicable to all plasmids. We believe we will be able to obtain sufficient supplies of plasmids for all foreseeable clinical investigations.  

Relationship with VGX Int'l  

        We acquired an equity interest in VGX Int'l in 2005. As of December 31, 2009 we owned 19.65% of the outstanding capital stock of VGX 
Int'l and VGX Int'l owned 294,360 shares of our common stock. None of our current officers, directors, or key employees beneficially owns, 
directly or indirectly, any securities of VGX Int'l. Dr. J. Joseph Kim, our CEO, Young Park, our corporate secretary and Bryan Kim, our vice 
president of Asian operations, currently constitute three of the four members of VGX Int'l's board of directors and receive customary 
compensation from VGX Int'l for their service in such capacity. Dr. Kim also served as chief executive officer of VGX Int'l prior to our 
acquisition of VGX Pharmaceuticals, Inc. in June 2009. Bryan Kim currently serves as the president and chief executive officer of VGX Int'l.  

        In 2008 we sold our manufacturing operations (including patent rights to certain manufacturing technology) to VGXI, Inc, a wholly-owned 
U.S. subsidiary of VGX Int'l. In connection with this transfer we entered into a Supply Agreement pursuant to which VGXI, Inc., a cGMP 
contract manufacturer, produces and supplies the DNA plasmids for all of our research and clinical trials. The price of the plasmids we purchase 
from VGXI, Inc. is determined by us and VGX Int'l at the time of order placement or, with respect to product supplied in connection with a grant 
contract, based on the contracted bid provided by the applicable agency. We agreed to treat VGX Int'l and its subsidiary as our most favored 
supplier for DNA plasmids and VGX Int'l and its subsidiary agreed to treat us as their most favored customer. Before we can manufacture DNA 
plasmids on our own behalf or engage a third party other than VGX Int'l or its subsidiary to manufacture DNA plasmids for us, we must first 
offer such manufacturing work to VGX Int'l or its subsidiary.  

        We have also entered into a license and collaboration agreements pursuant to which we have granted VGX Int'l exclusive rights to certain 
of our product candidates in certain jurisdictions. For example, VGX Int'l has exclusive rights in countries including Korea to our VGX-3400 for 
treatment of  
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the avian flu. In exchange for these rights VGX Int'l shares the development costs for some of our product candidates.  

        For the year ended December 31, 2009, we recognized revenue from VGX Int'l of $59,000, which consisted of milestone fees, device lease 
fees and consulting and other fees. Operating expenses related to VGXI, Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2009 were $1.7 million relating to 
manufacturing and engineering services as well as $56,000 for regulatory and technical support and other consulting services received. At 
December 31, 2009 we had an accounts receivable balance of $59,000 from VGX Int'l and its subsidiaries.  

Intellectual Property  

        Patents and other proprietary rights are essential to our business. We file patent applications to protect our technologies, inventions and 
improvements to our inventions that we consider important to the development of our business. We believe we have a comprehensive patent 
portfolio in the United States and in key foreign markets. We also rely upon trade secrets, know-how, continuing technological innovations and 
licensing opportunities to develop and maintain our competitive position  

        Our intellectual property portfolio covers our proprietary technologies, including electroporation delivery and vaccine related technologies. 
As of February 1, 2010, our patent portfolio included over 81 issued U.S. patents and 233 issued foreign counterpart patents.  

        Key vaccine related technology patents and published patent applications include the following:  

•  European patent no. 1809336B1, entitled, "Growth Hormone Releasing Hormone (GHRH) Enhances Vaccination Response"  
 

•  International publication WO 08/014521, entitled, "Improved Vaccines and Methods for Using the Same," which includes HCV, 
HPV, influenza, HIV, and cancer (hTERT) SynCon TM DNA.  
 

•  International publication WO2009/099716, entitled, "Novel Vaccines Against Multiple Subtypes Of Dengue Virus."  
 

•  International publication WO2009/073330, entitled, "Novel Vaccines Against Multiple Subtypes Of Influenza Virus."  
 

•  US Pat No. 7,245,963, entitled, "Constant Current Electrode Assembly for Electroporation," which covers the CELLECTRA® 
electroporation device.  

        Key electroporation related patents covering range of field strengths include the following:  

•  US Pat No. 5,273,525 issued December 28, 1993 (expires 2013)  
 

•  US Pat No. 6,110,161 issued August 29, 2000  
 

•  US Pat No. 6,261,281 issued July 17, 2001  
 

•  US Pat No. 6,958,060 issued October 25, 2005  
 

•  US patent 6,939,862 issued September 6, 2005  

        If we fail to protect our intellectual property rights adequately our competitors might gain access to our technology and our business would 
thus be harmed. In addition, defending our intellectual property rights might entail significant expense. Any of our intellectual property rights 
may be challenged by others or invalidated through administrative processes or litigation. In addition, our patents, or any other patents that may 
be issued to us in the future, may not provide us with any competitive advantages, or may be challenged by third parties. Furthermore, legal 
standards relating to the validity, enforceability and scope of protection of intellectual property rights are uncertain. Effective patent, trademark, 
copyright and trade secret protection may not be available to us in each  

22  



Table of Contents  

 
country where we operate. The laws of some foreign countries may not be as protective of intellectual property rights as those in the United 
States, and domestic and international mechanisms for enforcement of intellectual property rights in those countries may be inadequate. 
Accordingly, despite our efforts, we may be unable to prevent third parties from infringing upon or misappropriating our intellectual property or 
otherwise gaining access to our technology. We may be required to expend significant resources to monitor and protect our intellectual property 
rights. We may initiate claims or litigation against third parties for infringement of our proprietary rights or to establish the validity of our 
proprietary rights. Any such litigation, whether or not it is ultimately resolved in our favor, would result in significant expense to us and divert 
the efforts of our technical and management personnel.  

Significant Customers and Research and Development  

        During the year ended December 31, 2009 we derived 50% of our revenue from Wyeth and 33% of our revenue from the NIAID; during the 
year ended December 31, 2008 we derived 40% of our revenue from Wyeth. Revenues from Wyeth were generated under a collaboration and 
licensing agreement, which Wyeth terminated in July 2009.  

        Since our inception, virtually all of our activities have consisted of research and development efforts related to developing our 
electroporation technologies and DNA vaccines. Research and development expense consists of expenses incurred in performing research and 
development activities including salaries and benefits, facilities and other overhead expenses, clinical trials, contract services and other outside 
expenses. Our research and development expense was $9.4 million in 2009 and $5.8 million in 2008.  

Corporate History and Headquarters  

        Inovio was originally incorporated on June 29, 1983, under the laws of California as Biotechnologies & Experimental Research, Inc. The 
entity changed its corporate name to BTX, Inc. on December 10, 1991, and Genetronics, Inc. on February 8, 1994. On April 14, 1994, the board 
of directors approved a share exchange agreement with Consolidated United Safety Technologies Inc. On September 2, 1997, the company listed 
on the Toronto Stock Exchange as Genetronics Biomedical Ltd, under the laws of British Columbia, Canada, which wholly-owned 
Genetronics, Inc. On June 15, 2001, the entity completed a change in jurisdiction of incorporation from British Columbia, Canada, to the state of 
Delaware and became Genetronics Biomedical Corporation, a Delaware corporation. On January 17, 2003, Genetronics voluntarily de-listed 
from the Toronto Stock Exchange. On March 31, 2005, the corporate name changed from Genetronics Biomedical Corporation to Inovio 
Biomedical Corporation. On June 1, 2009, Inovio completed the acquisition of VGX Pharmaceuticals, Inc. ("VGX"), a privately-held company, 
pursuant to the terms of an Amended and Restated Agreement and Plan of Merger dated December 5, 2008, as further amended on March 31, 
2009 by and among Inovio, Inovio's wholly-owned subsidiary Inovio Acquisition, LLC and VGX (the "Merger"). Upon the closing of the 
Merger, Inovio Acquisition, LLC assumed all of VGX's business, properties and assets and assumed its obligations, changed its name to VGX 
Pharmaceuticals, LLC, and remains a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, utilizing a single, integrated management team with Inovio. 
Inovio conducts its business through its U.S. wholly-owned subsidiaries, Genetronics, Inc and VGX Pharmaceuticals, LLC and a wholly-owned 
subsidiary in the Republic of Singapore, Inovio Asia Pte. Ltd., which may be a platform for future research and development efforts.  

        Inovio's principal executive offices are located at 450 Sentry Parkway East, Blue Bell, Pennsylvania 19422, and the telephone number is 
(267) 440-4200.  
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Available Information  

        Our Internet website address is www.inovio.com . We make our annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current 
reports on Form 8-K, Forms 3, 4, and 5 filed on behalf of directors and executive officers, and any amendments to those reports filed or 
furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, available free of charge on our website as soon as 
reasonably practicable after we electronically file such material with, or furnish it to, the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC"). You 
can also read and copy any materials we file with the SEC at the SEC's Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, NE, Washington, DC 20549. 
You can obtain additional information about the operation of the Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. In addition, the 
SEC maintains an Internet site (www.sec.gov) that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other information regarding issuers 
that file electronically with the SEC, including us.  

Employees  

        As of March 5, 2010, we employed 40 people on a full-time basis and 2 people under consulting and project employment agreements. Of 
the combined total, 20 were in product research, which includes research and development, quality assurance, clinical, engineering, and 
manufacturing, and 22 were in general and administrative, which includes corporate development, information technology, legal, investor 
relations, finance, and corporate administration. None of our employees are subject to collective bargaining agreements.  

ITEM 1A.    RISK FACTORS  

         You should carefully consider the following factors regarding information included in this Annual Report. The risks and uncertainties 
described below are not the only ones we face. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or that we currently deem 
immaterial also may impair our business operations. If any of the following risks actually occur, our business, financial condition and operating 
results could be materially adversely affected.  

Risks Related to Our Business and Industry  

We have incurred losses since inception, expect to incur significant net losses in the foreseeable future and may never become profitable.  

        We have experienced significant operating losses to date; as of December 31, 2009 our accumulated deficit was approximately 
$177.2 million. We have generated limited revenues, primarily consisting of license and grant revenue, and interest income. We expect to 
continue to incur substantial additional operating losses for at least the next several years as we advance our clinical trials and research and 
development activities. We may never successfully commercialize our vaccine product candidates or electroporation-based DNA vaccine 
delivery technology and thus may never have any significant future revenues or achieve and sustain profitability.  

We have limited sources of revenue and our success is dependent on our ability to develop our vaccine and other product candidates and 
electroporation equipment.  

        Other than a DNA therapy for food animals, whose sales have not been significant, we do not sell any products and may not have any other 
products commercially available for several years, if at all. Our ability to generate future revenues depends heavily on our success in:  

•  developing and securing U.S. and/or foreign regulatory approvals for our product candidates, including securing regulatory 
approval for conducting clinical trials with product candidates;  
 

•  developing our electroporation-based DNA delivery technology;  
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•  commercializing any products for which we receive approval from the FDA and foreign regulatory authorities; and  
 

•  developing a market for LifeTide™ and/or our other animal health product candidates.  

        Our electroporation equipment and product candidates will require extensive additional clinical study and evaluation, regulatory approval in 
multiple jurisdictions, substantial investment and significant marketing efforts before we generate any revenues from product sales. We are not 
permitted to market or promote our electroporation equipment and product candidates before we receive regulatory approval from the FDA or 
comparable foreign regulatory authorities. If we do not receive regulatory approval for and successfully commercialize any products, we will not 
generate any revenues from sales of electroporation equipment and products, and we may not be able to continue our operations.  

None of our human vaccine product candidates has been approved for sale, and we may not develop commercially successful vaccine 
products.  

        Our human vaccine programs are in the early stages of research and development, and currently include vaccine product candidates in 
discovery, pre-clinical studies and Phase I clinical studies. There is limited data regarding the efficiency of DNA vaccines compared with 
conventional vaccines, and we must conduct a substantial amount of additional research and development before any regulatory authority will 
approve any of our vaccine product candidates. The success of our efforts to develop and commercialize our vaccine product candidates could 
fail for a number of reasons. For example, we could experience delays in product development and clinical trials. Our vaccine product candidates 
could be found to be ineffective or unsafe, or otherwise fail to receive necessary regulatory clearances. The products, if safe and effective, could 
be difficult to manufacture on a large scale or uneconomical to market, or our competitors could develop superior vaccine products more quickly 
and efficiently or more effectively market their competing products.  

        In addition, adverse events, or the perception of adverse events, relating to vaccines and vaccine delivery technologies may negatively 
impact our ability to develop commercially successful vaccine products. For example, pharmaceutical companies have been subject to claims 
that the use of some pediatric vaccines has caused personal injuries, including brain damage, central nervous system damage and autism. These 
and other claims may influence public perception of the use of vaccine products and could result in greater governmental regulation, stricter 
labeling requirements and potential regulatory delays in the testing or approval of our potential products.  

We will need substantial additional capital to develop our electroporation-based DNA vaccine delivery technology and vaccine and other 
product candidates and for our future operations.  

        Conducting the costly and time consuming research, pre-clinical and clinical testing necessary to obtain regulatory approvals and bring our 
vaccine delivery technology and product candidates to market will require a commitment of substantial funds in excess of our current capital. 
Our future capital requirements will depend on many factors, including, among others: the progress of our current and new product development 
programs; the progress, scope and results of our pre-clinical and clinical testing; the time and cost involved in obtaining regulatory approvals; the 
cost of manufacturing our products and product candidates; the cost of prosecuting, enforcing and defending against patent infringement claims 
and other intellectual property rights; competing technological and market developments; and our ability and costs to establish and maintain 
collaborative and other arrangements with third parties to assist in potentially bringing our products to market.  

        Additional financing may not be available on acceptable terms, or at all. Domestic and international capital markets have been experiencing 
heightened volatility and turmoil, making it more difficult to raise capital through the issuance of equity securities. Furthermore, as a result of the 
recent volatility in the capital markets, the cost and availability of credit has been and may continue to be  
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adversely affected by illiquid credit markets and wider credit spreads. Concern about the stability of the markets generally and the strength of 
counterparties specifically has led many lenders and institutional investors to reduce, and in some cases cease to provide, funding to borrowers. 
To the extent we are able to raise additional capital through the sale of equity securities or we issue securities in connection with another 
transaction, the ownership position of existing stockholders could be substantially diluted. If additional funds are raised through the issuance of 
preferred stock or debt securities, these securities are likely to have rights, preferences and privileges senior to our common stock and may 
involve significant fees, interest expense, restrictive covenants and the granting of security interests in our assets. Fluctuating interest rates could 
also increase the costs of any debt financing we may obtain. Raising capital through a licensing or other transaction involving our intellectual 
property could require us to relinquish valuable intellectual property rights and thereby sacrifice long term value for short-term liquidity.  

        Our failure to successfully address ongoing liquidity requirements would have a substantially negative impact on our business. If we are 
unable to obtain additional capital on acceptable terms when needed, we may need to take actions that adversely affect our business, our stock 
price and our ability to achieve cash flow in the future, including possibly surrendering our rights to some technologies or product opportunities, 
delaying our clinical trials or curtailing or ceasing operations.  

If we are unable to attract and retain key personnel and advisors, it may adversely affect our ability to obtain financing, pursue 
collaborations or develop or market our product candidates.  

        To pursue our business strategy, we will need to attract and retain qualified scientific personnel and managers, including personnel with 
expertise in clinical trials, government regulation, manufacturing, marketing and other areas. Competition for qualified personnel is intense 
among companies, academic institutions and other organizations. If we are unable to attract and retain key personnel and advisors, it may 
negatively affect our ability to successfully develop, test, commercialize and market our products and product candidates.  

We may not successfully integrate the VGX Pharmaceuticals business or realize all of the anticipated benefits of our acquisition of VGX.  

        On June 1, 2009, we completed our acquisition of VGX Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the "Merger"). To be successful after the Merger, we need to 
combine and integrate the separate organizations and operations of the two companies. The combination of two independent companies is a 
complex, costly, and time-consuming process. As a result, we must devote significant management attention and resources to integrating the 
diverse business practices and operations of the two companies. We may encounter difficulties that could harm the combined businesses, 
adversely affect our financial condition, and cause our stock price to decline, including the following:  

•  We may have difficulty maintaining employee morale and retaining key managers and other employees as we take steps to 
combine the personnel and business cultures of two separate organizations into one, and to eliminate duplicate positions and 
functions;  
 

•  We may have difficulty preserving important relationships with others, such as strategic partners, customers, and suppliers, who 
may delay or defer decisions on agreements with us, or seek to change existing agreements with us, because of the Merger;  
 

•  We may encounter unanticipated issues in integrating complex information technology, communications, and other systems used 
by the separate companies; and  
 

•  Our integration efforts will result in significant costs, including costs relating to employees and facilities, and may result in 
substantially greater costs and expenses than currently anticipated, and we may identify liabilities of the combined business that 
were not anticipated.  
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        The integration process may divert the attention of our officers and management from day-to-day operations and disrupt our business, 
particularly if we encounter these types of difficulties. We have not previously completed a merger or acquisition comparable in size or scope to 
this transaction. The failure of the combined company to meet the challenges involved in the integration process could cause an interruption of, 
or a loss of momentum in, the activities of the combined company and could seriously harm our results of operations.  

        Even if the operations of the two organizations are integrated successfully, the combined company may not fully realize the expected 
benefits of the transaction, including the synergies, cost savings or growth opportunities, whether within the anticipated time frame, or any time 
in the future.  

We face intense and increasing competition and many of our competitors have significantly greater resources and experience.  

        Many other companies are pursuing other forms of treatment or prevention for diseases that we target. For example, many of our 
competitors are working on developing and testing H5N1, H1N1 and universal influenza vaccines, and several H1N1 vaccines developed by our 
competitors have been approved for human use. Our competitors and potential competitors include large pharmaceutical and medical device 
companies and more established biotechnology companies. These companies have significantly greater financial and other resources and greater 
expertise than us in research and development, securing government contracts and grants to support research and development efforts, 
manufacturing, pre-clinical and clinical testing, obtaining regulatory approvals and marketing. This may make it easier for them to respond more 
quickly than us to new or changing opportunities, technologies or market needs. Many of these competitors operate large, well-funded research 
and development programs and have significant products approved or in development. Small companies may also prove to be significant 
competitors, particularly through collaborative arrangements with large pharmaceutical companies or through acquisition or development of 
intellectual property rights. Our potential competitors also include academic institutions, governmental agencies and other public and private 
research organizations that conduct research, seek patent protection and establish collaborative arrangements for product and clinical 
development and marketing. Research and development by others may seek to render our technologies or products obsolete or noncompetitive.  

If we lose or are unable to secure collaborators or partners, or if our collaborators or partners do not apply adequate resources to their 
relationships with us, our product development and potential for profitability will suffer.  

        We have entered into, or may enter into, distribution, co-promotion, partnership, sponsored research and other arrangements for 
development, manufacturing, sales, marketing and other commercialization activities relating to our products. For example, we have entered into 
a license and collaboration agreement with Merck. The amount and timing of resources applied by our collaborators are largely outside of our 
control.  

        Wyeth terminated one of our existing collaboration agreements. If any of our other current or future collaborators breaches or terminates 
our agreements, or fails to conduct our collaborative activities in a timely manner, our commercialization of products could be diminished or 
blocked completely. It is possible that collaborators will change their strategic focus, pursue alternative technologies or develop alternative 
products, either on their own or in collaboration with others. Further, we may be forced to fund programs that were previously funded by our 
collaborators, and we may not have, or be able to access, the necessary funding. The effectiveness of our partners, if any, in marketing our 
products will also affect our revenues and earnings.  

        We desire to enter into new collaborative agreements. However, we may not be able to successfully negotiate any additional collaborative 
arrangements and, if established, these relationships may not be  
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scientifically or commercially successful. Our success in the future depends in part on our ability to enter into agreements with other highly-
regarded organizations. This can be difficult due to internal and external constraints placed on these organizations. Some organizations may have 
insufficient administrative and related infrastructure to enable collaborations with many companies at once, which can extend the time it takes to 
develop, negotiate and implement a collaboration. Once news of discussions regarding possible collaborations are known in the medical 
community, regardless of whether the news is accurate, failure to announce a collaborative agreement or the entity's announcement of a 
collaboration with another entity may result in adverse speculation about us, resulting in harm to our reputation and our business.  

        Disputes could also arise between us and our existing or future collaborators, as to a variety of matters, including financial and intellectual 
property matters or other obligations under our agreements. These disputes could be both expensive and time-consuming and may result in 
delays in the development and commercialization of our products or could damage our relationship with a collaborator.  

A small number of licensing partners and government contracts account for a substantial portion of our revenue.  

        We currently derive, and in the past we have derived, a significant portion of our revenue from a limited number of licensing partners and 
government grants and contracts. For example, during the year ended December 31, 2009, Wyeth accounted for approximately 49% of our 
consolidated revenue and our contract with the National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases (NIAID) accounted for approximately 33% 
of our consolidated revenue. During the year ended December 31, 2008, Merck accounted for approximately 30% of our consolidated revenue. 
Wyeth terminated its agreement with us in July 2009, and we believe that development activities for Merck will be limited for the foreseeable 
future. If we fail to sign additional future contracts with major licensing partners and the government, if a contract is delayed or deferred, or if an 
existing contract expires or is cancelled and we fail to replace the contract with new business, our revenue would be adversely affected.  

We have agreements with government agencies, which are subject to termination and uncertain future funding.  

        We have entered into agreements with government agencies, such as the NIAID and the US Army, and we intend to continue entering into 
these agreements in the future. Our business is partially dependent on the continued performance by these government agencies of their 
responsibilities under these agreements, including adequate continued funding of the agencies and their programs. We have no control over the 
resources and funding that government agencies may devote to these agreements, which may be subject to annual renewal and which generally 
may be terminated by the government agencies at any time.  

        Government agencies may fail to perform their responsibilities under these agreements, which may cause them to be terminated by the 
government agencies. In addition, we may fail to perform our responsibilities under these agreements. Many of our government agreements are 
subject to audits which may occur several years after the period to which the audit relates. If an audit identifies significant unallowable costs, we 
could incur a material charge to our earnings or reduction in our cash position. As a result, we may be unsuccessful entering or ineligible to enter 
into future government agreements.  
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Our quarterly operating results may fluctuate significantly.  

        We expect our operating results to be subject to quarterly fluctuations. Our net loss and other operating results will be affected by numerous 
factors, including:  

•  variations in the level of expenses related to our electroporation equipment, product candidates or future development programs;  
 

•  merger integration expenses;  
 

•  addition or termination of clinical trials or funding support;  
 

•  any intellectual property infringement lawsuit in which we may become involved;  
 

•  any legal claims that may be asserted against us or any of our officers;  
 

•  regulatory developments affecting our electroporation equipment and product candidates or those of our competitors;  
 

•  our execution of any collaborative, licensing or similar arrangements, and the timing of payments we may make or receive under 
these arrangements; and  
 

•  if any of our products receives regulatory approval, the levels of underlying demand for our products.  

        If our quarterly operating results fall below the expectations of investors or securities analysts, the price of our common stock could decline 
substantially. Furthermore, any quarterly fluctuations in our operating results may, in turn, cause the price of our stock to fluctuate substantially. 
We believe that quarterly comparisons of our financial results are not necessarily meaningful and should not be relied upon as an indication of 
our future performance.  

If we are unable to obtain FDA approval of our products, we will not be able to commercialize them in the United States.  

        We need FDA approval prior to marketing our electroporation equipment and products in the United States. If we fail to obtain FDA 
approval to market our electroporation equipment and product candidates, we will be unable to sell our products in the United States, which will 
significantly impair our ability to generate any revenues.  

        This regulatory review and approval process, which includes evaluation of pre-clinical studies and clinical trials of our products as well as 
the evaluation of our manufacturing processes and our third-party contract manufacturers' facilities, is lengthy, expensive and uncertain. To 
receive approval, we must, among other things, demonstrate with substantial evidence from well-controlled clinical trials that our electroporation 
equipment and product candidates are both safe and effective for each indication for which approval is sought. Satisfaction of the approval 
requirements typically takes several years and the time needed to satisfy them may vary substantially, based on the type, complexity and novelty 
of the product. We do not know if or when we might receive regulatory approvals for our electroporation equipment and any of our product 
candidates currently under development. Moreover, any approvals that we obtain may not cover all of the clinical indications for which we are 
seeking approval, or could contain significant limitations in the form of narrow indications, warnings, precautions or contra-indications with 
respect to conditions of use. In such event, our ability to generate revenues from such products would be greatly reduced and our business would 
be harmed.  

        The FDA has substantial discretion in the approval process and may either refuse to consider our application for substantive review or may 
form the opinion after review of our data that our application is insufficient to allow approval of our electroporation equipment and product 
candidates. If the FDA does not consider or approve our application, it may require that we conduct additional clinical,  
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pre-clinical or manufacturing validation studies and submit that data before it will reconsider our application. Depending on the extent of these 
or any other studies, approval of any applications that we submit may be delayed by several years, or may require us to expend more resources 
than we have available. It is also possible that additional studies, if performed and completed, may not be successful or considered sufficient by 
the FDA for approval or even to make our applications approvable. If any of these outcomes occur, we may be forced to abandon one or more of 
our applications for approval, which might significantly harm our business and prospects.  

        It is possible that none of our products or any product we may seek to develop in the future will ever obtain the appropriate regulatory 
approvals necessary for us or our collaborators to commence product sales. Any delay in obtaining, or an inability to obtain, applicable 
regulatory approvals would prevent us from commercializing our products, generating revenues and achieving and sustaining profitability.  

Clinical trials involve a lengthy and expensive process with an uncertain outcome, and results of earlier studies and trials may not be 
predictive of future trial results.  

        Clinical testing is expensive and can take many years to complete, and its outcome is uncertain. Failure can occur at any time during the 
clinical trial process. The results of pre-clinical studies and early clinical trials of our products may not be predictive of the results of later-stage 
clinical trials. Results from one study may not be reflected or supported by the results of similar studies. Results of an animal study may not be 
indicative of results achievable in human studies. Human-use equipment and product candidates in later stages of clinical trials may fail to show 
the desired safety and efficacy traits despite having progressed through pre-clinical studies and initial clinical testing. The time required to obtain 
approval by the FDA and similar foreign authorities is unpredictable but typically takes many years following the commencement of clinical 
trials, depending upon numerous factors. In addition, approval policies, regulations, or the type and amount of clinical data necessary to gain 
approval may change. We have not obtained regulatory approval for any human-use products.  

        Our products could fail to complete the clinical trial process for many reasons, including the following:  

•  we may be unable to demonstrate to the satisfaction of the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities that our 
electroporation equipment and a product candidate is safe and effective for any indication;  
 

•  the results of clinical trials may not meet the level of statistical significance required by the FDA or comparable foreign 
regulatory authorities for approval;  
 

•  the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may disagree with the design or implementation of our clinical trials;  
 

•  we may be unable to demonstrate that our electroporation equipment and a product candidate's clinical and other benefits 
outweigh its safety risks;  
 

•  we may be unable to demonstrate that our electroporation equipment and a product candidate presents an advantage over existing 
therapies, or over placebo in any indications for which the FDA requires a placebo-controlled trial;  
 

•  the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may disagree with our interpretation of data from pre-clinical studies or 
clinical trials;  
 

•  the data collected from clinical trials of our product candidates may not be sufficient to support the submission of a new drug 
application or other submission or to obtain regulatory approval in the United States or elsewhere;  
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•  the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may fail to approve the manufacturing processes or facilities of us or third-
party manufacturers with which we or our collaborators contract for clinical and commercial supplies; and  
 

•  the approval policies or regulations of the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may significantly change in a manner 
rendering our clinical data insufficient for approval.  

Delays in the commencement or completion of clinical testing could result in increased costs to us and delay or limit our ability to generate 
revenues.  

        Delays in the commencement or completion of clinical testing could significantly affect our product development costs. We do not know 
whether planned clinical trials will begin on time or be completed on schedule, if at all. In addition, ongoing clinical trials may not be completed 
on schedule, or at all. The commencement and completion of clinical trials can be delayed for a number of reasons, including delays related to:  

•  obtaining regulatory approval to commence a clinical trial;  
 

•  adverse results from third party clinical trials involving gene based therapies and the regulatory response thereto;  
 

•  reaching agreement on acceptable terms with prospective contract research organizations, or CROs, and trial sites, the terms of 
which can be subject to extensive negotiation and may vary significantly among different CROs and trial sites;  
 

•  future bans or stricter standards imposed on gene based therapy clinical trials;  
 

•  manufacturing sufficient quantities of our electroporation equipment and product candidates for use in clinical trials;  
 

•  obtaining institutional review board, or IRB, approval to conduct a clinical trial at a prospective site;  
 

•  slower than expected recruitment and enrolment of patients to participate in clinical trials for a variety of reasons, including 
competition from other clinical trial programs for similar indications;  
 

•  retaining patients who have initiated a clinical trial but may be prone to withdraw due to side effects from the therapy, lack of 
efficacy or personal issues, or who are lost to further follow-up; and  
 

•  collecting, reviewing and analyzing our clinical trial data.  

        Clinical trials may also be delayed as a result of ambiguous or negative interim results. In addition, a clinical trial may be suspended or 
terminated by us, the FDA, the IRB overseeing the clinical trial at issue, any of our clinical trial sites with respect to that site, or other regulatory 
authorities due to a number of factors, including:  

•  failure to conduct the clinical trial in accordance with regulatory requirements or our clinical protocols;  
 

•  inspection of the clinical trial operations or trial sites by the FDA or other regulatory authorities resulting in the imposition of a 
clinical hold;  
 

•  unforeseen safety issues; and  
 

•  lack of adequate funding to continue the clinical trial.  
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        If we experience delays in completion of, or if we terminate, any of our clinical trials, the commercial prospects for our electroporation 
equipment and our product candidates may be harmed and our ability to generate product revenues will be delayed. In addition, many of the 
factors that cause, or lead to, a delay in the commencement or completion of clinical trials may also ultimately lead to the denial of regulatory 
approval of a product candidate. Further, delays in the commencement or completion of clinical trials may adversely affect the trading price of 
our common stock.  

We and our collaborators rely on third parties to conduct our clinical trials. If these third parties do not successfully carry out their 
contractual duties or meet expected deadlines, we and our collaborators may not be able to obtain regulatory approval for or commercialize 
our product candidates.  

        We and our collaborators have entered into agreements with contract research organizations ("CROs") to provide monitors for and to 
manage data for our on-going clinical programs. We and the CROs conducting clinical trials for our electroporation equipment and product 
candidates are required to comply with current good clinical practices, or GCPs, regulations and guidelines enforced by the FDA for all of our 
products in clinical development. The FDA enforces GCPs through periodic inspections of trial sponsors, principal investigators and trial sites. If 
we or the CROs conducting clinical trials of our product candidates fail to comply with applicable GCPs, the clinical data generated in the 
clinical trials may be deemed unreliable and the FDA may require additional clinical trials before approving any marketing applications.  

        If any relationships with CROs terminate, we or our collaborators may not be able to enter into arrangements with alternative CROs. In 
addition, these third-party CROs are not our employees, and we cannot control whether or not they devote sufficient time and resources to our 
on-going clinical programs or perform trials efficiently. These CROs may also have relationships with other commercial entities, including our 
competitors, for whom they may also be conducting clinical studies or other drug development activities, which could harm our competitive 
position. If CROs do not successfully carry out their contractual duties or obligations or meet expected deadlines, if they need to be replaced, or 
if the quality or accuracy of the clinical data they obtain is compromised due to the failure to adhere to our clinical protocols, regulatory 
requirements, or for other reasons, our clinical trials may be extended, delayed or terminated, and we may not be able to obtain regulatory 
approval for or successfully commercialize our product candidates. As a result, our financial results and the commercial prospects for our 
product candidates would be harmed, our costs could increase and our ability to generate revenues could be delayed. Cost overruns by or 
disputes with our CROs may significantly increase our expenses.  

Even if our products receive regulatory approval, they may still face future development and regulatory difficulties.  

        Even if U.S. regulatory approval is obtained, the FDA may still impose significant restrictions on a product's indicated uses or marketing or 
impose ongoing requirements for potentially costly post-approval studies. This governmental oversight may be particularly strict with respect to 
gene based therapies. Our products will also be subject to ongoing FDA requirements governing the labeling, packaging, storage, advertising, 
promotion, recordkeeping and submission of safety and other post-market information. In addition, manufacturers of drug products and their 
facilities are subject to continual review and periodic inspections by the FDA and other regulatory authorities for compliance with current good 
manufacturing practices, or cGMP, regulations. If we or a regulatory agency discover previously unknown problems with a product, such as 
adverse events of unanticipated severity or frequency, or problems with the facility where the product is manufactured, a regulatory agency may 
impose restrictions on that product, the manufacturer or us, including requiring withdrawal of the product from the market or suspension of 
manufacturing. If we, our product candidates or the  
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manufacturing facilities for our product candidates fail to comply with applicable regulatory requirements, a regulatory agency may:  

•  issue Warning Letters or untitled letters;  
 

•  impose civil or criminal penalties;  
 

•  suspend regulatory approval;  
 

•  suspend any ongoing clinical trials;  
 

•  refuse to approve pending applications or supplements to applications filed by us;  
 

•  impose restrictions on operations, including costly new manufacturing requirements; or  
 

•  seize or detain products or require us to initiate a product recall.  

Even if our products receive regulatory approval in the United States, we may never receive approval or commercialize our products outside 
of the United States.  

        In order to market any electroporation equipment and product candidates outside of the United States, we must establish and comply with 
numerous and varying regulatory requirements of other countries regarding safety and efficacy. Approval procedures vary among countries and 
can involve additional product testing and additional administrative review periods. The time required to obtain approval in other countries 
might differ from that required to obtain FDA approval. The regulatory approval process in other countries may include all of the risks detailed 
above regarding FDA approval in the United States as well as other risks. Regulatory approval in one country does not ensure regulatory 
approval in another, but a failure or delay in obtaining regulatory approval in one country may have a negative effect on the regulatory process in 
others. Failure to obtain regulatory approval in other countries or any delay or setback in obtaining such approval could have the same adverse 
effects detailed above regarding FDA approval in the United States. Such effects include the risks that our product candidates may not be 
approved for all indications requested, which could limit the uses of our product candidates and have an adverse effect on their commercial 
potential or require costly, post-marketing follow-up studies.  

We face potential product liability exposure and, if successful claims are brought against us, we may incur substantial liability.  

        The use of our electroporation equipment and DNA vaccine candidates in clinical trials and the sale of any products for which we obtain 
marketing approval expose us to the risk of product liability claims. Product liability claims might be brought against us by consumers, health 
care providers, pharmaceutical companies or others selling or otherwise coming into contact with our products. For example, pharmaceutical 
companies have been subject to claims that the use of some pediatric vaccines has caused personal injuries, including brain damage, central 
nervous system damage and autism, and these companies have incurred material costs to defend these claims. If we cannot successfully defend 
ourselves against product liability claims, we could incur substantial liabilities. In addition, regardless of merit or eventual outcome, product 
liability claims may result in:  

•  decreased demand for our product candidates;  
 

•  impairment of our business reputation;  
 

•  withdrawal of clinical trial participants;  
 

•  costs of related litigation;  
 

•  distraction of management's attention from our primary business;  
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•  substantial monetary awards to patients or other claimants;  
 

•  loss of revenues; and  
 

•  inability to commercialize our products.  

        In the United States, the National Childhood Vaccine Injury Act of 1986 (the "Vaccine Act") was created to provide a federal no-fault 
system for compensating certain vaccine-related injuries or death by establishing a claims procedure involving the United States Court of Federal 
Claims and special masters. Litigation is pending before the Supreme Court of the United States to decide whether the Vaccine Act categorically 
preempts all design-defect claims against vaccine manufacturers, or whether instead the preemption of particular design-defect claims must be 
decided on a case-by-case basis. If the Supreme Court holds that preemption under the Vaccine Act must be decided on a case-by-case basis, 
vaccine manufacturers will likely be exposed to greater litigation risk from plaintiffs alleging injuries from vaccines.  

        We have obtained product liability insurance coverage for our clinical trials, but our insurance coverage may not be sufficient to reimburse 
us for any expenses or losses we may suffer. Moreover, insurance coverage is becoming increasingly expensive, and, in the future, we may not 
be able to maintain insurance coverage at a reasonable cost or in sufficient amounts to protect us against losses due to liability. On occasion, 
large judgments have been awarded in class action lawsuits based on products that had unanticipated side effects. A successful product liability 
claim or series of claims brought against us could cause our stock price to decline and, if judgments exceed our insurance coverage, could 
adversely affect our business.  

We currently have no marketing and sales organization and have no experience in marketing products. If we are unable to establish 
marketing and sales capabilities or enter into agreements with third parties to market and sell our products, we may not be able to generate 
product revenues.  

        We currently do not have a sales organization for the marketing, sales and distribution of our electroporation equipment and product 
candidates. In order to commercialize any products, we must build our marketing, sales, distribution, managerial and other non-technical 
capabilities or make arrangements with third parties to perform these services. We contemplate establishing our own sales force or seeking third-
party partners to sell our products. The establishment and development of our own sales force to market any products we may develop will be 
expensive and time consuming and could delay any product launch, and we may not be able to successfully develop this capability. We will also 
have to compete with other pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies to recruit, hire, train and retain marketing and sales personnel. To the 
extent we rely on third parties to commercialize our approved products, if any, we will receive less revenues than if we commercialized these 
products ourselves. In addition, we may have little or no control over the sales efforts of third parties involved in our commercialization efforts. 
In the event we are unable to develop our own marketing and sales force or collaborate with a third-party marketing and sales organization, we 
would not be able to commercialize our product candidates which would negatively impact our ability to generate product revenues.  

If any of our products for which we receive regulatory approval does not achieve broad market acceptance, the revenues that we generate 
from their sales will be limited.  

        The commercial success of our electroporation equipment and product candidates for which we obtain marketing approval from the FDA or 
other regulatory authorities will depend upon the acceptance of these products by both the medical community and patient population. Coverage 
and reimbursement of our product candidates by third-party payors, including government payors, generally  
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is also necessary for optimal commercial success. The degree of market acceptance of any of our approved products will depend on a number of 
factors, including:  

•  our ability to provide acceptable evidence of safety and efficacy;  
 

•  the relative convenience and ease of administration;  
 

•  the prevalence and severity of any actual or perceived adverse side effects;  
 

•  limitations or warnings contained in a product's FDA-approved labeling, including, for example, potential "black box" warnings  
 

•  availability of alternative treatments;  
 

•  pricing and cost effectiveness;  
 

•  the effectiveness of our or any future collaborators' sales and marketing strategies;  
 

•  our ability to obtain sufficient third-party coverage or reimbursement; and  
 

•  the willingness of patients to pay out of pocket in the absence of third-party coverage.  

        If our electroporation equipment and product candidates are approved but do not achieve an adequate level of acceptance by physicians, 
health care payors and patients, we may not generate sufficient revenue from these products, and we may not become or remain profitable. In 
addition, our efforts to educate the medical community and third-party payors on the benefits of our product candidates may require significant 
resources and may never be successful.  

We are subject to uncertainty relating to reimbursement policies which, if not favorable to our product candidates, could hinder or prevent 
our products' commercial success.  

        Our ability to commercialize our electroporation equipment and product candidates successfully will depend in part on the extent to which 
governmental authorities, private health insurers and other third-party payors establish appropriate coverage and reimbursement levels for our 
product candidates and related treatments. As a threshold for coverage and reimbursement, third-party payors generally require that drug 
products have been approved for marketing by the FDA. Third-party payors also are increasingly challenging the effectiveness of and prices 
charged for medical products and services. We may not be able to obtain third-party coverage or reimbursement for our products in whole or in 
part.  

Healthcare reform measures could hinder or prevent our products' commercial success.  

        Among policy makers and payors in the United States and elsewhere, there is significant interest in promoting changes in health care 
systems to contain health care costs and improve quality. While reform proposals often involve expanding coverage to more individuals, health 
care reform may also involve increased government price controls, additional regulatory mandates and other measures designed to lower medical 
and pharmaceutical costs.  

        The continuing efforts of the government, insurance companies, managed care organizations and other payors of health care services to 
contain or reduce costs of health care may adversely affect:  

•  our ability to set a price we believe is fair for our products;  
 

•  our ability to generate revenues and achieve or maintain profitability;  
 

•  the availability of capital; and  
 

•  our ability to obtain timely approval of our products.  
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If we fail to comply with applicable healthcare regulations, we could face substantial penalties and our business, operations and financial 
condition could be adversely affected.  

        Certain federal and state healthcare laws and regulations pertaining to fraud and abuse and patients' rights may be applicable to our 
business. We could be subject to healthcare fraud and abuse and patient privacy regulation by both the federal government and the states in 
which we conduct our business, without limitation. The laws that may affect our ability to operate include:  

•  the federal healthcare program Anti-Kickback Statute, which prohibits, among other things, persons from soliciting, receiving or 
providing remuneration, directly or indirectly, to induce either the referral of an individual, for an item or service or the 
purchasing or ordering of a good or service, for which payment may be made under federal healthcare programs such as the 
Medicare and Medicaid programs;  
 

•  federal false claims laws which prohibit, among other things, individuals or entities from knowingly presenting, or causing to be 
presented, claims for payment from Medicare, Medicaid, or other third-party payors that are false or fraudulent;  
 

•  the federal Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, or HIPAA, which prohibits executing a scheme to 
defraud any healthcare benefit program or making false statements relating to healthcare matters and which also imposes certain 
requirements relating to the privacy, security and transmission of individually identifiable health information;  
 

•  the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, which among other things, strictly regulates drug product marketing, prohibits 
manufacturers from marketing drug products for off-label use and regulates the distribution of drug samples; and  
 

•  state law equivalents of each of the above federal laws, such as anti-kickback and false claims laws which may apply to items or 
services reimbursed by any third-party payor, including commercial insurers, and state laws governing the privacy and security of 
health information in certain circumstances, many of which differ from each other in significant ways and often are not preempted 
by HIPAA, thus complicating compliance efforts.  

        Additionally, the compliance environment is changing, with more states, such as California and Massachusetts, mandating implementation 
of compliance programs, compliance with industry ethics codes, and spending limits, and other states, such as Vermont, Maine, and Minnesota 
requiring reporting to state governments of gifts, compensation, and other remuneration to physicians. Federal legislation, the Physician 
Payments Sunshine Act of 2009, has been proposed and is moving forward in Congress. This legislation would require disclosure to the federal 
government of payments to physicians. These laws all provide for penalties for non-compliance. The shifting regulatory environment, along with 
the requirement to comply with multiple jurisdictions with different compliance and/or reporting requirements, increases the possibility that a 
company may run afoul of one or more laws.  

        If our operations are found to be in violation of any of the laws described above or any other governmental regulations that apply to us, we 
may be subject to penalties, including civil and criminal penalties, damages, fines and the curtailment or restructuring of our operations. Any 
penalties, damages, fines, curtailment or restructuring of our operations could adversely affect our ability to operate our business and our 
financial results. Any action against us for violation of these laws, even if we successfully defend against it, could cause us to incur significant 
legal expenses and divert our management's attention from the operation of our business. Moreover, achieving and sustaining compliance with 
applicable federal and state privacy, security and fraud laws may prove costly.  
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If we and the contract manufacturers upon whom we rely fail to produce our systems and product candidates in the volumes that we require 
on a timely basis, or fail to comply with stringent regulations, we may face delays in the development and commercialization of our 
electroporation equipment and product candidates.  

        We manufacture some components of our electroporation systems and utilize the services of contract manufacturers to manufacture the 
remaining components of these systems and our product supplies for clinical trials. The manufacture of our systems and product supplies 
requires significant expertise and capital investment, including the development of advanced manufacturing techniques and process controls. 
Manufacturers often encounter difficulties in production, particularly in scaling up for commercial production. These problems include 
difficulties with production costs and yields, quality control, including stability of the equipment and product candidates and quality assurance 
testing, shortages of qualified personnel, as well as compliance with strictly enforced federal, state and foreign regulations. If we or our 
manufacturers were to encounter any of these difficulties or our manufacturers otherwise fail to comply with their obligations to us, our ability to 
provide our electroporation equipment to our partners and products to patients in our clinical trials or to commercially launch a product would be 
jeopardized. Any delay or interruption in the supply of clinical trial supplies could delay the completion of our clinical trials, increase the costs 
associated with maintaining our clinical trial program and, depending upon the period of delay, require us to commence new trials at significant 
additional expense or terminate the trials completely.  

        In addition, all manufacturers of our products must comply with cGMP requirements enforced by the FDA through its facilities inspection 
program. These requirements include, among other things, quality control, quality assurance and the generation and maintenance of records and 
documentation. Manufacturers of our products may be unable to comply with these cGMP requirements and with other FDA, state and foreign 
regulatory requirements. We have little control over our manufacturers' compliance with these regulations and standards. A failure to comply 
with these requirements may result in fines and civil penalties, suspension of production, suspension or delay in product approval, product 
seizure or recall, or withdrawal of product approval. If the safety of any product is compromised due to our or our manufacturers' failure to 
adhere to applicable laws or for other reasons, we may not be able to obtain regulatory approval for or successfully commercialize our products, 
and we may be held liable for any injuries sustained as a result. Any of these factors could cause a delay of clinical trials, regulatory 
submissions, approvals or commercialization of our products, entail higher costs or result in our being unable to effectively commercialize our 
products. Furthermore, if our manufacturers fail to deliver the required commercial quantities on a timely basis, pursuant to provided 
specifications and at commercially reasonable prices, we may be unable to meet demand for our products and would lose potential revenues.  

Our failure to successfully acquire, develop and market additional product candidates or approved products would impair our ability to grow. 

        We may acquire, in-license, develop and/or market additional products and product candidates. The success of these actions depends partly 
upon our ability to identify, select and acquire promising product candidates and products.  

        The process of proposing, negotiating and implementing a license or acquisition of a product candidate or approved product is lengthy and 
complex. Other companies, including some with substantially greater financial, marketing and sales resources, may compete with us for the 
license or acquisition of product candidates and approved products. We have limited resources to identify and execute the acquisition or in-
licensing of third-party products, businesses and technologies and integrate them into our current infrastructure. Moreover, we may devote 
resources to potential acquisitions or in-licensing opportunities that are never completed, or we may fail to realize the anticipated benefits of 
such efforts. We may not be able to acquire the rights to additional product candidates on terms that we find acceptable, or at all.  
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        In addition, future acquisitions may entail numerous operational and financial risks, including:  

•  exposure to unknown liabilities;  
 

•  disruption of our business and diversion of our management's time and attention to develop acquired products or technologies;  
 

•  incurrence of substantial debt or dilutive issuances of securities to pay for acquisitions;  
 

•  higher than expected acquisition and integration costs;  
 

•  increased amortization expenses;  
 

•  difficulty and cost in combining the operations and personnel of any acquired businesses with our operations and personnel;  
 

•  impairment of relationships with key suppliers or customers of any acquired businesses due to changes in management and 
ownership; and  
 

•  inability to retain key employees of any acquired businesses.  

        Further, any product candidate that we acquire may require additional development efforts prior to commercial sale, including extensive 
clinical testing and approval by the FDA and applicable foreign regulatory authorities. All product candidates are prone to risks of failure typical 
of product development, including the possibility that a product candidate will not be shown to be sufficiently safe and effective for approval by 
regulatory authorities.  

Our business involves the use of hazardous materials and we and our third-party manufacturers must comply with environmental laws and 
regulations, which can be expensive and restrict how we do business.  

        Our and our third-party manufacturers' activities involve the controlled storage, use and disposal of hazardous materials, including the 
components of our product candidates and other hazardous compounds. We and our manufacturers are subject to federal, state and local laws and 
regulations governing the use, manufacture, storage, handling and disposal of these hazardous materials. In the event of an accident, state or 
federal authorities may curtail the use of these materials and interrupt our business operations. If we are subject to any liability as a result of our 
or our third-party manufacturers' activities involving hazardous materials, our business and financial condition may be adversely affected.  

We may be subject to stockholder litigation, which would harm our business and financial condition.  

        We may have actions brought against us by stockholders relating to the Merger, past transactions, changes in our stock price or other 
matters. Any such actions could give rise to substantial damages, and thereby have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial 
position, liquidity, or results of operations. Even if an action is not resolved against us, the uncertainty and expense associated with stockholder 
actions could harm our business, financial condition and reputation. Litigation can be costly, time-consuming and disruptive to business 
operations. The defense of lawsuits could also result in diversion of our management's time and attention away from business operations, which 
could harm our business.  

Our results of operations and liquidity needs could be materially affected by market fluctuations and general economic conditions.  

        Our results of operations could be materially affected by economic conditions generally, both in the U.S. and elsewhere around the world. 
Recently, concerns over inflation, energy costs, geopolitical issues, the availability and cost of credit, the U.S. mortgage market and a declining 
residential real estate market in the U.S. have contributed to increased volatility and diminished expectations for the  
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economy and the markets going forward. These factors, combined with volatile oil prices, declining business and consumer confidence and 
increased unemployment, have precipitated an economic recession. Domestic and international capital markets have also been experiencing 
heightened volatility and turmoil. These events and the continuing market upheavals may have an adverse effect on us. In the event of a 
continuing market downturn, our results of operations could be adversely affected. Our future cost of equity or debt capital and access to the 
capital markets could be adversely affected, and our stock price could decline. There may be disruption in or delay in the performance of our 
third-party contractors and suppliers. If our contractors, suppliers and partners are unable to satisfy their contractual commitments, our business 
could suffer. In addition, we maintain significant amounts of cash and cash equivalents at one or more financial institutions that are in excess of 
federally insured limits. Given the current instability of financial institutions, we may experience losses on these deposits.  

Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property  

It is difficult and costly to protect our intellectual property and our proprietary technologies, and we may not be able to ensure their 
protection.  

        Our commercial success will depend in part on obtaining and maintaining patent, trademark, trade secret, and other intellectual property 
protection relating to our electroporation equipment and product candidates, as well as successfully defending these intellectual property rights 
against third-party challenges.  

        The patent positions of pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies can be highly uncertain and involve complex legal and factual 
questions for which important legal principles remain unresolved. No consistent policy regarding the breadth of claims allowed in biotechnology 
patents has emerged to date in the United States. The biotechnology patent situation outside the United States can be even more uncertain 
depending on the country. Changes in either the patent laws or in interpretations of patent laws in the United States and other countries may 
diminish the value of our intellectual property. Accordingly, we cannot predict the breadth of claims that may be allowed or enforced in our 
licensed patents, our patents or in third-party patents, nor can we predict the likelihood of our patents surviving a patent validity challenge.  

        The degree of future protection for our intellectual property rights is uncertain, because legal decision-making can be unpredictable, thereby 
often times resulting in limited protection, which may not adequately protect our rights or permit us to gain or keep our competitive advantage. 
For example:  

•  we, or the parties from whom we have acquired or licensed patent rights, may not have been the first to file the underlying patent 
applications or the first to make the inventions covered by such patents;  
 

•  the named inventors or co-inventors of patents or patent applications that we have licensed or acquired may be incorrect, which 
may give rise to disputes or invalidate the patents;  
 

•  others may independently develop similar or alternative technologies or duplicate any of our products or technologies that may 
not be covered by our patents, or they may design around our patents;  
 

•  pending patent applications may not result in issued patents;  
 

•  the issued patents covering our products and technologies may not provide us with any competitive advantages;  
 

•  the issued patents may be challenged and invalidated, or rendered unenforceable;  
 

•  the issued patents may be subject to reexamination, which could result in a narrowing of the scope of claims or cancellation of 
claims found unpatentable;  
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•  we may not develop or acquire additional proprietary technologies that are patentable;  
 

•  our trademarks may be invalid or subject to a third party's prior use; or  
 

•  our ability to enforce our patent rights will depend on our ability to detect infringement, and litigation to enforce patent rights may 
not be pursued due to significant financial costs, diversion of resources, and unpredictability of a favorable result or ruling.  

        We depend, in part, on our licensors and collaborators to protect a portion of our intellectual property rights. In such cases, our licensors and 
collaborators may be primarily or wholly responsible for the maintenance of patents and prosecution of patent applications relating to important 
areas of our business. If any of these parties fail to adequately protect these products with issued patents, our business and prospects would be 
harmed significantly.  

        We also may rely on trade secrets to protect our technology, especially where we do not believe patent protection is appropriate or 
obtainable. However, trade secrets are difficult to protect. Although we use reasonable efforts to protect our trade secrets, our employees, 
consultants, contractors, outside scientific collaborators and other advisors may unintentionally or willfully disclose our trade secrets to 
competitors. Enforcing a claim that a third-party entity illegally obtained and is using any of our trade secrets is expensive and time consuming, 
and the outcome is unpredictable. In addition, courts outside the United States are sometimes less willing to protect trade secrets. Moreover, our 
competitors may independently develop equivalent knowledge, methods and know-how.  

        If we or our licensors fail to obtain or maintain patent protection or trade secret protection for our product candidates or our technologies, 
third parties could use our proprietary information, which could impair our ability to compete in the market and adversely affect our ability to 
generate revenues and attain profitability.  

If we are sued for infringing intellectual property rights of third parties, it will be costly and time consuming, and an unfavorable outcome in 
that litigation would have a material adverse effect on our business.  

        Other companies may have or may acquire intellectual property rights that could be enforced against us. If they do so, we may be required 
to alter our technologies, pay licensing fees or cease activities. If our products or technologies infringe the intellectual property rights of others, 
they could bring legal action against us or our licensors or collaborators claiming damages and seeking to enjoin any activities that they believe 
infringe their intellectual property rights.  

        Because patent applications can take many years to issue, there may be currently pending applications unknown to us or reissue applications 
that may later result in issued patents upon which our products or technologies may infringe. There could also be existing patents of which we 
are unaware that our products or technologies may infringe. In addition, if third parties file patent applications or obtain patents claiming 
products or technologies also claimed by us in pending applications or issued patents, we may have to participate in interference proceedings in 
the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office to determine priority of invention. If third parties file oppositions in foreign countries, we may also have to 
participate in opposition proceedings in foreign tribunals to defend the patentability of our filed foreign patent applications.  

        If a third party claims that we infringe its intellectual property rights, it could cause our business to suffer in a number of ways, including:  

•  we may become involved in time-consuming and expensive litigation, even if the claim is without merit, the third party's patent is 
ultimately invalid or we are ultimately found to have not infringed;  
 

•  we may become liable for substantial damages for past infringement if a court decides that our technologies infringe upon a third 
party's patent;  
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•  we may be ordered by a court to stop making, selling or licensing our products or technologies without a license from a patent 
holder, which may not be available on commercially acceptable terms, if at all, or which may require us to pay substantial 
royalties or grant cross-licenses to our patents; and  
 

•  we may have to redesign our products so that they do not infringe upon others' patent rights, which may not be possible or could 
require substantial investment or time.  

        If any of these events occur, our business could suffer and the market price of our common stock may decline.  

Risks Related to Our Common Stock  

The price of our common stock is expected to be volatile and an investment in our common stock could decline substantially in value.  

        In light of our small size and limited resources, as well as the uncertainties and risks that can affect our business and industry, our stock 
price is expected to be highly volatile and can be subject to substantial drops, with or even in the absence of news affecting our business. The 
following factors, in addition to the other risk factors described in this quarterly report, and the potentially low volume of trades in our common 
stock, may have a significant impact on the market price of our common stock, some of which are beyond our control:  

•  developments concerning any research and development, clinical trials, manufacturing, and marketing efforts or collaborations;  
 

•  fluctuating public or scientific interest in the potential for influenza pandemic or other applications for our vaccine or other 
product candidates;  
 

•  our announcement of significant acquisitions, strategic collaborations, joint ventures or capital commitments;  
 

•  fluctuations in our operating results  
 

•  announcements of technological innovations;  
 

•  new products or services that we or our competitors offer;  
 

•  the initiation, conduct and/or outcome of intellectual property and/or litigation matters;  
 

•  changes in financial or other estimates by securities analysts or other reviewers or evaluators of our business;  
 

•  conditions or trends in bio-pharmaceutical or other healthcare industries;  
 

•  regulatory developments in the United States and other countries;  
 

•  negative perception of gene based therapy;  
 

•  changes in the economic performance and/or market valuations of other biotechnology and medical device companies;  
 

•  additions or departures of key personnel;  
 

•  sales or other transactions involving our common stock;  
 

•  global unrest, terrorist activities, and economic and other external factors; and  
 

•  catastrophic weather and/or global disease pandemics.  

41  



Table of Contents  

        The stock market in general has recently experienced relatively large price and volume fluctuations. In particular, the market prices of 
securities of smaller biotechnology and medical device companies have experienced dramatic fluctuations that often have been unrelated or 
disproportionate to the operating results of these companies. Continued market fluctuations could result in extreme volatility in the price of the 
common stock, which could cause a decline in the value of the common stock. In addition, price volatility may increase if the trading volume of 
our common stock remains limited or declines.  

Anti-takeover provisions under our charter documents and Delaware law could delay or prevent a change of control which could limit the 
market price of our common stock.  

        Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation contains provisions that could delay or prevent a change of control of our company or 
changes in our board of directors that our stockholders might consider favorable. Some of these provisions include:  

•  the authority of our board of directors to issue shares of undesignated preferred stock and to determine the rights, preferences and 
privileges of these shares, without stockholder approval;  
 

•  all stockholder actions must be effected at a duly called meeting of stockholders and not by written consent; and  
 

•  the elimination of cumulative voting.  

        In addition, we are governed by the provisions of Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporate Law, which may prohibit certain business 
combinations with stockholders owning 15% or more of our outstanding voting stock. These and other provisions in our amended and restated 
certificate of incorporation, amended and restated bylaws and Delaware law could make it more difficult for stockholders or potential acquirers 
to obtain control of our board of directors or initiate actions that are opposed by the then-current board of directors, including to delay or impede 
a merger, tender offer or proxy contest involving our company. Any delay or prevention of a change of control transaction or changes in our 
board of directors could cause the market price of our common stock to decline.  

We have never paid cash dividends on our common stock and we do not anticipate paying dividends in the foreseeable future.  

        We have paid no cash dividends on our common stock to date, and we currently intend to retain our future earnings, if any, to fund the 
development and growth of our business. In addition, the terms of any future debt or credit facility may preclude or limit our ability to pay any 
dividends. As a result, capital appreciation, if any, of our common stock will be your sole source of potential gain for the foreseeable future.  
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ITEM 2.    PROPERTIES  

        We own no real property and have no plans to acquire any real property in the future. As of March 9, 2010, our corporate headquarters is 
located at 450 Sentry Parkway East in Blue Bell, Pennsylvania. Our corporate office in Blue Bell is leased space for 7,050 square feet and 
expires on April 30, 2010. On May 1, 2010, the office will relocate to 1787 Sentry Park West in Blue Bell, Pennsylvania. This new lease was 
signed on December 19, 2009 and runs through April 30, 2016. The annual rent for the approximately 6,442 square feet property will be 
$122,000 for the first year, $126,000 for the second year, $129,000 for the third year, $132,000 for the fourth year, $135,000 for the fifth year 
and $139,000 for the sixth year. At the end of the lease term, we have the option of renewing this lease for an additional three-year lease term at 
an annual rate equal to the fair market rental value of the property, as defined in the lease agreement.  

        The corporate office in San Diego is located at 11494 Sorrento Valley Road in San Diego, California. This lease originally ran through 
February 28, 2010 and was renewed and amended on July 17, 2009. Beginning on March 1, 2010, the remaining leased space is approximately 
11,300 square feet and the lease will run through August 31, 2013. The annual rent based on the new lease terms is $160,000 in the first year, 
$196,000 in the second year, $223,000 for third year and $122,000 in the fourth year. At the end of the lease term, we have the option of 
renewing this lease for an additional five-year lease term at an annual rate equal to the fair market rental value of the property, as defined in the 
lease agreement.  

        In November 2007, our wholly owned subsidiary VGX Pharmaceuticals signed an amended facility lease for offices located at 2700 
Research Forest Drive, The Woodlands, Montgomery County, Texas, for our research operations and our majority owned subsidiary VGX 
Animal Health, Inc. The leased space is for 13,185 square feet and expires on October 31, 2017. The annual rent for the leased space will be 
approximately $244,000 for the first year, $247,000 for the second year, $251,000 for the third year, $254,000 for the fourth year, $257,000 for 
the fifth year, $260,000 for the sixth year, $264,000 for the seventh year, $267,000 for the eighth year, $270,000 for the ninth year, and $274,000 
for the tenth year. At the end of the lease term we have the option of renewing this lease for two additional terms of five years each at an amount 
equal to ninety-five percent of the market rental rate. In June 2008, a sublease agreement was executed between VGX Pharmaceuticals and our 
affiliated entity VGX International, Inc., for approximately 11,537 square feet of the total leased space through the end of the lease term. The 
affiliated entity will make monthly rent payments to VGX Pharmaceuticals of approximately 87.5% of the total lease expense.  

        We believe our current facilities will be adequate to meet our operating needs for the foreseeable future. Should we need additional space, 
we believe we will be able to secure additional space at commercially reasonable rates.  

ITEM 3.    LEGAL PROCEEDINGS  

        Not applicable.  

ITEM 4.    Reserved.  
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PART II  

ITEM 5.    MARKET FOR COMPANY'S COMMON EQUITY, RELA TED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER 
REPURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES  

Market Information  

        Our common stock is listed and traded on the NYSE Amex under the symbol "INO." The following table sets forth the quarterly high and 
low per share closing prices of our common stock for the two most recent fiscal years.  

        As of March 3, 2010, we had approximately 240 common stockholders of record. This figure does not include beneficial owners who hold 
shares in nominee name. The closing price per share of our common stock on March 3, 2010 was $1.45, as reported on the NYSE Amex.  

Dividends  

        The payment of any dividends on our common stock is within the discretion of our board of directors. We have not paid cash dividends on 
our common stock and the board of directors does not expect to declare cash dividends on the common stock in the foreseeable future.  
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     Year Ended December 31,   
     2009   2008   
Period:   High   Low   High   Low   
First Quarter    $ 0.56   $ 0.28   $ 1.45   $ 0.83   
Second Quarter    $ 0.95   $ 0.31   $ 1.30   $ 0.78   
Third Quarter    $ 3.18   $ 0.66   $ 1.13   $ 0.60   
Fourth Quarter    $ 1.69   $ 1.04   $ 0.80   $ 0.16   
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Performance Graph  

        The graph below matches Inovio Biomedical Corporation's cumulative 5-year total shareholder return on common stock with the 
cumulative total returns of the NYSE Amex Composite index and the S & P SuperCap Biotechnology index. The graph assumes that the value of 
the investment in our common stock and in each of the indexes (including reinvestment of dividends) was $100 on December 31, 2004 and 
tracks it through December 31, 2009.  

 
COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*  

Among Inovio Biomedical Corporation, The NYSE Amex Composite Index  
And The S&P SuperCap Biotechnology Index  

  

*  $100 invested on 12/31/04 in stock or index, including reinvestment of dividends.  
Fiscal year ending December 31.  

Copyright © 2010 S&P, a division of The McGraw-Hill Companies Inc. All rights reserved.  

         The stock price performance included in this graph is not necessarily indicative of future stock price performance.  
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     12/04   12/05   12/06   12/07   12/08   12/09        
Inovio Biomedical 

Corporation      100.00     57.61     83.50     23.35     13.20     28.93         
NYSE Amex Composite      100.00     125.80     150.40     178.95     108.56     147.27         
S&P SuperCap 

Biotechnology      100.00     119.44     120.73     113.99     124.45     117.67         
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ITEM 6.    SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA  

        The following table sets forth our selected consolidated financial data for the periods indicated, derived from consolidated financial 
statements prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.  

     

Year Ended  
December 31,  

2009   

Year Ended  
December 31,  

2008   

Year Ended  
December 31,  

2007   

Year Ended  
December 31,  

2006   

Year Ended  
December 31,  

2005   
Operations Data:                                 
License fee and 

milestone 
payments    $ 4,929,309   $ 791,401   $ 2,793,478   $ 1,337,105   $ 2,563,283   

Revenue under 
collaborative 
research & 
development 
arrangements      125,996     1,077,967     1,854,303     962,207     1,492,145   

Grants & 
miscellaneous 
revenue      4,064,806     228,264     159,948     1,168,866     1,411,825   

                        

Total revenues      9,120,111     2,097,632     4,807,729     3,468,178     5,467,253   
Loss from 

operations      (13,957,755 )   (13,658,464 )   (15,898,420 )   (13,346,194 )   (15,506,970 ) 
Interest & other 

income 
(expense)      (1,256,555 )   692,842     4,693,977     1,002,252     210,118   

Loss from 
investment in 
affiliated entity     (9,244,614 )   —    —    —    —  

Net loss      (24,458,924 )   (12,965,622 )   (11,204,443 )   (12,343,942 )   (15,296,852 ) 
Net loss 

attributable to 
non-controlling 
interest      47,439     —    —    —    —  

Imputed 
dividends on 
common stock      —    —    —    —    (8,329,112 ) 

Imputed & 
declared 
dividends on 
preferred stock      —    —    (23,335 )   (2,005,664 )   (2,736,658 ) 

    
  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

Net loss 
attributable to 
Inovio 
Biomedical 
Corporation    $ (24,411,485 ) $ (12,965,622 ) $ (11,227,778 ) $ (14,349,606 ) $ (26,362,622 ) 

    

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

Per common 
share—basic & 
diluted:                                  

Net loss    $ (0.33 ) $ (0.30 ) $ (0.27 ) $ (0.40 ) $ (0.81 ) 
Imputed 

dividends 
common stock      —    —    —    —    (0.44 ) 

Imputed & 
declared 
dividends 
preferred stock      —    —    —    (0.06 )   (0.14 ) 

    
  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

Net loss 
attributable to 
common 
stockholders    $ (0.33 ) $ (0.30 ) $ (0.27 ) $ (0.46 ) $ (1.39 ) 

    

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

Balance Sheet 
Data:                                  

Cash and cash 
equivalents    $ 30,296,215   $ 14,115,281   $ 10,250,929   $ 8,321,606   $ 17,166,567   



46  

Short-term 
investments      10,397,530     —    16,999,600     14,700,000     —  

Long-term 
investments      —    9,169,471     —    —    —  

Total assets      80,628,917     38,987,028     39,775,021     35,949,615     28,978,954   
Current liabilities     19,350,038     14,709,582     3,354,499     6,859,722     4,002,280   
Accumulated 

deficit      (177,224,433 )   (152,812,948 )   (139,847,326 )   (128,619,548 )   (114,269,942 ) 
Total 

stockholders 
equity      61,184,947     19,106,147     31,034,754     18,151,864     23,470,748   
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ITEM 7.    MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS  

         This report contains forward-looking statements. These statements relate to future events or our future financial performance. In some 
cases, you can identify forward-looking statements by terminology such as "may," "will," "should," "expect," "plan," "anticipate," "believe," 
"estimate," "predict," "potential" or "continue," the negative of such terms or other comparable terminology. These statements are only 
predictions. Actual events or results may differ materially.  

         Although we believe that the expectations reflected in the forward-looking statements are reasonable, we cannot guarantee future results, 
levels of activity, performance or achievements. Moreover, neither we, nor any other person, assume responsibility for the accuracy and 
completeness of the forward-looking statements. We are under no obligation to update any of the forward-looking statements after the filing of 
this Annual Report to conform such statements to actual results or to changes in our expectations.  

         The following discussion of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial 
statements and the related notes and other financial information appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report. Readers are also urged to carefully 
review and consider the various disclosures made by us which attempt to advise interested parties of the factors which affect our business, 
including without limitation the disclosures made in Item 1A of Part I of this Annual Report under the Caption "Risk Factors."  

         Risk factors that could cause actual results to differ from those contained in the forward-looking statements include but are not limited to: 
our history of losses; our lack of products that have received regulatory approval; uncertainties inherent in clinical trials and product 
development programs, including but not limited to the fact that pre-clinical and clinical results may not be indicative of results achievable in 
other trials or for other indications, that results from one study may not necessarily be reflected or supported by the results of other similar 
studies, that results from an animal study may not be indicative of results achievable in human studies, that clinical testing is expensive and can 
take many years to complete, that the outcome of any clinical trial is uncertain and failure can occur at any time during the clinical trial 
process, and that our electroporation technology and DNA vaccines may fail to show the desired safety and efficacy traits in clinical trials; the 
availability of funding; the ability to manufacture vaccine candidates; the availability or potential availability of alternative therapies or 
treatments for the conditions targeted by us or our collaborators, including alternatives that may be more efficacious or cost-effective than any 
therapy or treatment that we and our collaborators hope to develop; whether our proprietary rights are enforceable or defensible or infringe or 
allegedly infringe on rights of others or can withstand claims of invalidity; and the impact of government healthcare proposals.  

Overview  

        Inovio Biomedical Corporation (the "Company" or "Inovio") is engaged in the discovery, development, and delivery of a new generation of 
vaccines, called DNA vaccines, focused on cancers and infectious diseases. Our SynCon™ technology enables the design of "universal" DNA-
based vaccines capable of providing cross-protection against new, unmatched strains of pathogens such as influenza. Our electroporation DNA 
delivery technology uses brief, controlled electrical pulses to increase cellular DNA vaccine uptake. Initial human data has shown this method 
can safely and significantly increase gene expression and immune responses. Our clinical programs include human papillomavirus 
("HPV")/cervical cancer (therapeutic), avian influenza (preventative) and human immunodeficiency virus ("HIV") vaccines. We are advancing 
preclinical research for a universal seasonal/pandemic influenza vaccine. Our partners and collaborators include University of Pennsylvania, 
National Microbiology Laboratory of the Public Health Agency of Canada, NIAID (NIH), Merck, Tripep, University of Southampton, and HIV 
Vaccines Trial Network.  
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        On June 1, 2009, we completed our acquisition of VGX Pharmaceuticals, Inc. ("VGX") whereby VGX became a wholly-owned subsidiary 
of Inovio (the "Merger"). We believe the Merger advances our ability to play a leadership role in the discovery, development, and delivery of 
DNA vaccines.  

Recent Developments  

        On March 24, 2010, we entered into a Collaboration and License Agreement (the "Agreement") with VGX International ("VGX Int'l"). 
Under the Agreement, we granted VGX Int'l an exclusive license to Inovio's SynCon TM universal influenza vaccine delivered with 
electroporation to be developed in certain countries in Asia (the "Product").  

        As consideration for the license granted to VGX Int'l, we will receive a research and development initiation fee, as well as research support, 
annual license maintenance fees and royalties on net product sales. In addition, contingent upon achievement of clinical and regulatory 
milestones, we will receive development payments over the term of the Agreement. The Agreement also provides Inovio with exclusive rights to 
supply devices for clinical and commercial purposes (including single use components) to VGX Int'l for use in the Product.  

        The term of the Agreement commenced upon execution and will extend on a country by country basis until the last to expire of all Royalty 
Periods for the territory (as such term is defined in the Agreement) for any Product in that country, unless the Agreement is terminated earlier in 
accordance with its provisions as a result of breach, by mutual agreement, or by VGX Int'l right to terminate without cause upon prior written 
notice.  

        In January 2010, we announced that the Company expanded its existing license agreement with the University of Pennsylvania, adding 
exclusive worldwide licenses for technology and intellectual property for novel DNA vaccines against pandemic influenza, Chikungunya, and 
foot-and-mouth disease. The amendment also encompasses new chemokine and cytokine molecular adjuvant technologies. The technology was 
developed in the University of Pennsylvania laboratory of Professor David B. Weiner, a pioneer in the field of DNA vaccines, and chairman of 
Inovio's scientific advisory board. Under the terms of the original license agreement completed in 2007, the Company obtained exclusive 
worldwide rights to develop multiple DNA plasmids and constructs with the potential to treat and/or prevent HIV, HCV, HPV and influenza and 
included molecular adjuvants. These prior and most recent agreements and amendments provide for royalty payments, based on future sales, to 
the University of Pennsylvania.  

        On July 13, 2009, we received written notice from Wyeth Pharmaceuticals ("Wyeth") of the termination without cause of the Collaboration 
and License Agreement, dated as of November 2, 2006 (the "Agreement"). The termination is effective ninety (90) days from our receipt of the 
written notice of termination. Under the Agreement, we had granted Wyeth a worldwide non-exclusive license to use our electroporation 
technology for delivery of therapeutic DNA vaccines against certain targets.  

        Revenue under the Agreement had been a material portion of our revenue from collaborative research and development arrangements in 
past periods. We believe that termination of the Agreement enables us to further develop our clinical programs on an exclusive basis.  

        On July 29, 2009, we entered into a securities purchase agreement with certain institutional investors relating to the sale and issuance of 
(a) 11,111,110 shares of common stock and (b) warrants to purchase a total of 2,777,776 shares of common stock with an exercise price of $3.50 
per share, for an aggregate purchase price of approximately $30 million. The warrants were exercisable beginning six months after issuance and 
expire six months from the date they are first exercisable. The shares of common stock and warrants were sold in units, consisting of one share 
of common stock and a warrant to purchase 0.25 of a share of common stock, at a purchase price of $2.70 per unit. The offering closed on 
July 31, 2009. We received proceeds from the transaction of approximately $28.4 million, after deducting offering expenses.  
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        As of December 31, 2009, we had an accumulated deficit of $177.2 million. We expect to continue to incur substantial operating losses in 
the future due to our commitment to our research and development programs, the funding of preclinical studies, clinical trials and regulatory 
activities and the costs of general and administrative activities.  

Critical Accounting Policies  

        The SEC defines critical accounting policies as those that are, in management's view, important to the portrayal of our financial condition 
and results of operations and require management's judgment. Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is 
based on our audited consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting 
principles ("U.S. GAAP"). The preparation of these financial statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported 
amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses. We base our estimates on experience and on various assumptions that we believe are 
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities 
that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from those estimates. Our critical accounting policies include:  

        Revenue Recognition.     License fees are comprised of initial fees and milestone payments derived from collaborative licensing 
arrangements. We continue to recognize non-refundable milestone payments upon the achievement of specified milestones upon which we have 
earned the milestone payment, provided the milestone payment is substantive in nature and the achievement of the milestone was not reasonably 
assured at the inception of the agreement. We defer payments for milestone events which are reasonably assured and recognize them ratably over 
the minimum remaining period of our performance obligations. Payments for milestones which are not reasonably assured are treated as the 
culmination of a separate earnings process and are recognized as revenue when the milestones are achieved.  

        We have adopted a strategy of co-developing or licensing our gene delivery technology for specific genes or specific medical indications. 
Accordingly, we have entered into collaborative research and development agreements and have received funding for pre-clinical research and 
clinical trials. Payments under these agreements, which are non-refundable, are recorded as revenue as the related research expenditures are 
incurred pursuant to the terms of the agreements and provided collectability is reasonably assured.  

        We receive non-refundable grants under available government programs. Government grants towards current expenditures are recorded as 
revenue when there is reasonable assurance that we have complied with all conditions necessary to receive the grants, collectability is reasonably 
assured, and as the expenditures are incurred.  

        Research and development expenses.     Since our inception, virtually all of our activities have consisted of research and development 
efforts related to developing our electroporation technologies and DNA vaccines. Research and development expenses consist of expenses 
incurred in performing research and development activities including salaries and benefits, facilities and other overhead expenses, clinical trials, 
contract services and other outside expenses. Research and development expenses are charged to operations as they are incurred.  

        Valuation of Goodwill and Intangible Assets.     Goodwill represents the excess of acquisition cost over the fair value of the net assets of 
acquired businesses. Intangible assets are amortized over their estimated useful lives ranging from 5 to 18 years. Acquired intangible assets are 
still being developed for the future economic viability contemplated at the time of acquisition. We are concurrently conducting Phase I and pre-
clinical trials using the acquired intangibles, and we have entered into certain significant licensing agreements for use of these acquired 
intangibles.  
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        Historically we have recorded patents at cost and amortized these costs using the straight-line method over the expected useful lives of the 
patents or 17 years, whichever is less. Patent cost consists of the consideration paid for patents and related legal costs. Effective June 1, 2009, in 
connection with our acquisition of VGX Pharmaceuticals, all new patent costs will be expensed as incurred. Patent cost currently capitalized will 
continue to be amortized over the expected life of the patent. The effect of this change was immaterial to prior periods. License costs are 
recorded based on the fair value of consideration paid and amortized using the straight-line method over the shorter of the expected useful life of 
the underlying patents or the term of the related license agreement. As of December 31, 2009, our intangible assets resulting from the acquisition 
of VGX and Inovio AS, and additional intangibles including previously capitalized patent costs and license costs, net of accumulated 
amortization, totaled $13.0 million.  

        The determination of the value of such intangible assets requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect our 
consolidated financial statements. We assess potential impairments to intangible assets when there is evidence that events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recovered. Our judgments regarding the existence of impairment 
indicators and future cash flows related to intangible assets are based on operational performance of our acquired businesses, market conditions 
and other factors. If impairment is indicated, we reduce the carrying value of the intangible asset to fair value. While our current and historical 
operating and cash flow losses are potential indicators of impairment, we believe the future cash flows to be received from our intangible assets 
will exceed the intangible assets' carrying value, and accordingly, we have not recognized any impairment losses through December 31, 2009.  

        Although there are inherent uncertainties in this assessment process, the estimates and assumptions we use are consistent with our internal 
planning. If these estimates or their related assumptions change in the future, we may be required to record an impairment charge on all or a 
portion of our goodwill and intangible assets. Furthermore, we cannot predict the occurrence of future impairment-triggering events nor the 
impact such events might have on our reported asset values. Future events could cause us to conclude that impairment indicators exist and that 
goodwill or other intangible assets associated with our acquired businesses are impaired. Any resulting impairment loss could have an adverse 
impact on our results of operations.  

        Purchase Price Allocation.     The purchase price allocation for acquisitions requires extensive use of accounting estimates and judgments 
to allocate the purchase price to the identifiable tangible and intangible assets acquired, including in-process research and development, and 
liabilities assumed based on their respective fair values. Additionally, we must determine whether an acquired entity is considered to be a 
business or a set of net assets, because a portion of the purchase price can only be allocated to goodwill in a business combination.  

        Stock-based Compensation.     Stock-based compensation cost is estimated at the grant date based on the fair-value of the award and is 
recognized as an expense ratably over the requisite service period of the award. Determining the appropriate fair-value model and calculating the 
fair value of stock-based awards at the grant date requires considerable judgment, including estimating stock price volatility, expected option life 
and forfeiture rates. We develop our estimates based on historical data. If factors change and we employ different assumptions in future periods, 
the compensation expense that we record may differ significantly from what we have recorded in the current period. A small change in the 
estimates used may have a relatively large change in the estimated valuation. We use the Black-Scholes pricing model to value stock option 
awards. We recognize compensation expense using the straight-line amortization method.  

        Auction Rate Securities and Auction Rate Securities Rights.     We account for Auction Rate Securities ("ARS") under the authoritative 
guidance for certain investments in debt and equity securities and fair value measurements. We account for ARS Rights using the fair value 
option for financial assets and  
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financial liabilities. Our investments in ARS and our ARS Rights are recorded at their estimated fair value as there is currently no liquid market 
which indicates value. We have used a discounted cash flow model to determine the estimated fair value of our investment in ARS and our ARS 
Rights as of December 31, 2009. The assumptions used in preparing the discounted cash flow model include estimates for interest rates, timing 
and amount of cash flows and expected holding period of the ARS and ARS Rights. Changes in the estimated fair value of the ARS and ARS 
Rights are reflected in the consolidated statement of operations as "Other income/(expense), net."  

        Registered Common Stock Warrants.     We account for registered common stock warrants pursuant to the authoritative guidance on 
accounting for derivative financial instruments indexed to, and potentially settled in, a company's own stock, on the understanding that in 
compliance with applicable securities laws, the registered warrants require the issuance of registered securities upon exercise and do not 
sufficiently preclude an implied right to net cash settlement. We classify registered warrants on the consolidated balance sheet as a current 
liability which is revalued at each balance sheet date subsequent to the initial issuance. Determining the appropriate fair-value model and 
calculating the fair value of registered warrants requires considerable judgment, including estimating stock price volatility and expected warrant 
life. We develop our estimates based on historical data. A small change in the estimates used may have a relatively large change in the estimated 
valuation. We use the Black-Scholes pricing model to value the registered warrants. Changes in the fair market value of the warrants are 
reflected in the consolidated statement of operations as "Other income/(expense), net."  

Recent Accounting Pronouncements  

        Information regarding recent accounting pronouncements is contained in Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, included 
elsewhere in this report.  
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Results of Operations  

Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2009 and 2008  

        The audited consolidated financial data for the years ended December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008 is presented in the following table 
and the results of these two periods are used in the discussion thereafter.  

Revenue  

        Our revenue consists of license fees, milestone payments, and amounts received from collaborative research and development arrangements 
and grants.  

        Our total revenue increased $7.0 million or 335% for the year ended December 31, 2009, as compared to the year ended December 31, 2008 
due to increases in license fee revenues and increase in grants and miscellaneous revenue, offset by a decrease in revenues under collaborative 
research and development arrangements.  

        The $4.1 million increase in license fees and milestone payments for the year ended December 31, 2009 as compared to 2008 was primarily 
due to the acceleration of $4.1 million of deferred revenues recognized as a result of the cancellation of the Wyeth collaboration and licensing 
agreement in July 2009. Revenue from other license agreements remained consistent during the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008.  

        The $952,000 decrease in revenue under collaborative research and development arrangements during the year ended December 31, 2009 as 
compared to 2008 was due to a decrease in Merck collaborative research billings of $506,000, as well as no billings to Wyeth in 2009 from our 
collaborative agreement related to the commercialization of the Elgen device. Revenues from collaborative research and development 
arrangements are expected to continue to decline, as Wyeth terminated its collaboration and licensing agreement as of July 2009 and under our 
research and  
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December 31,  

2009   
December 31,  

2008   

Increase/  
(Decrease)  

$   

Increase/  
(Decrease)  

%   
Revenues:                            
License fee and milestone payments    $ 4,929,309   $ 791,401   $ 4,137,908     523 % 
Revenue under collaborative 

research and development 
arrangements      125,996     1,077,967     (951,971 )   (88 ) 

Grants and miscellaneous revenue      4,064,806     228,264     3,836,542     1,681   
                    

Total revenues      9,120,111     2,097,632     7,022,479     335   
Operating expenses:                            
Research and development      9,408,457     5,750,494     3,657,963     64   
General and administrative      13,669,409     10,005,602     3,663,807     37   
                    

Total operating expenses      23,077,866     15,756,096     7,321,770     47   
    

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

Loss from operations      (13,957,755 )   (13,658,464 )   (299,291 )   (2 ) 
Other income/(expense), net      (1,258,848 )   49,006     (1,307,854 )   (2,669 ) 
Interest income, net      2,293     643,836     (641,543 )   (100 ) 
Loss from investment in affiliated 

entity      (9,244,614 )   —    (9,244,614 )   (100 ) 
                    

Net loss      (24,458,924 )   (12,965,622 )   (11,493,302 )   (89 ) 
                    

Net loss attributable to non-
controlling interest      47,439     —    47,439     100   

                    

Net loss attributable to Inovio 
Biomedical Corporation    $ (24,411,485 ) $ (12,965,622 ) $ (11,445,863 )   (88 )% 
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collaboration agreement with Merck, we have provided the majority of the required device development for use in their clinical trials and we 
believe that development activities will be limited until trial results are obtained.  

        The $3.8 million increase in grant and miscellaneous revenue for the year ended December 31, 2009 as compared to 2008 was primarily 
due to revenues recognized from our contract with the National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases ("NIAID") and the PATH Malaria 
Vaccine Initiative ("MVI") of $3.0 million and $440,000, respectively, since June 1, 2009, and higher revenues recognized from the Department 
of Defense ("U.S. Army") grant of $373,000. The NIAID contract is for five years with two one-year options (period of performance is 
September 30, 2008 - September 29, 2015 including the two options). The value for the five years is $21.3 million with option years six and 
seven valued at $1.2 million and $1.1 million, respectively, for a total potential value of $23.6 million, and will fund research and development 
for HIV DNA-based vaccines delivered via our proprietary electroporation system. PATH is an international nonprofit organization funded by 
private donors. We have a research program and agreement with the PATH MVI to evaluate in a preclinical feasibility study our SynCon™ 
DNA vaccine development platform to target antigens from Plasmodium species and deliver them intradermally using the CELLECTRA® 
electroporation device. The agreement with MVI is for $685,000 and will run through February 2010. The U.S. Army grant has a total value of 
$933,000, will fund research and development of DNA-based vaccines delivered via our proprietary electroporation system and will run through 
May 2010. This project is focused on identifying DNA vaccine candidates with the potential to provide rapid, robust immunity to protect against 
bio-warfare and bioterror attacks. During the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008, we recognized revenue of $57,000 and $135,000, 
respectively, attributable to the operations of our Norwegian subsidiary, Inovio AS, which amounted to approximately 1% and 6% of our total 
revenue. Inovio AS' revenue primarily consists of amounts received from grants and licensing revenue. Inovio AS was dissolved in December 
2009. Operating activities for Inovio AS are now conducted in the United States.  

Research and Development Expenses  

        The $3.7 million increase in research and development expenses for the year ended December 31, 2009 as compared to the year ended 
December 31, 2008, was primarily due to higher costs related to work performed for the NIAID contract as well as higher other outside services 
and contract labor expenses related to research and development projects. The increase was partially offset by a decrease in research and 
development expenses incurred by our Norwegian subsidiaries as these entities were winding down operations during 2009, as well as a decrease 
in outside lab testing and lab and engineering supply purchases. Research and development expenses attributable to Inovio AS were $311,000 
and $751,000 for the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively.  

        Our research and development activities reflect our efforts to advance our products through the various stages of product development. The 
expenditures that will be necessary to execute our development plans are subject to numerous uncertainties, which may affect our research and 
development expenditures and capital resources. Even if earlier results are positive, we may obtain different results in later stages of 
development, which could impact our development expenditures for a particular product. Although we spend a considerable amount of time 
planning our development activities, we may be required to alter our plan based on new circumstances or events. Any deviation from our plan 
may require us to incur additional expenditures or accelerate or delay the timing of our development spending.  
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General and Administrative Expenses  

        General and administrative expenses include business development expenses and the amortization of intangible assets. The $3.7 million 
increase in general and administrative expenses for the year ended December 31, 2009, as compared to the year ended December 31, 2008, was 
primarily due to higher legal and related fees associated with the Merger and other corporate matters. We expect these legal fees to decrease in 
future periods. Upon closing of the Merger, we also incurred costs that would have not been incurred in the prior year, such as Merger related 
compensation to key employees, higher amortization expense as a result of the intangible assets that were acquired from VGX, and higher 
employee stock based compensation due to the accelerated vesting of all Inovio stock options. The increase was also attributed to higher 
accounting, audit and valuation fees related to the Merger and the combined company. These increases were partially offset by a decrease in 
outside consulting services related to partnering our SECTA therapy program and other corporate advisory services. Additionally, as a result of 
the dissolution of our Norwegian subsidiaries, general and administrative expenses were offset by the reversal of an $887,000 deferred tax 
liability previously recorded in connection with the original acquisition of the Norwegian entity. General and administrative costs attributable to 
Inovio AS were $341,000 and $376,000 for the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively.  

Stock-based Compensation.  

        Stock-based compensation cost is measured at the grant date, based on the fair value of the award reduced by estimated forfeitures, and is 
recognized as expense over the employee's requisite service period. Total compensation cost for our stock plans for the years ended 
December 31, 2009 and 2008 was $1.8 million and $1.0 million, of which $595,000 and $286,000 was included in research and development 
expenses and $1.2 million and $746,000 was included in general and administrative expenses, respectively. At December 31, 2009, there was 
$1.4 million of total unrecognized compensation cost, related to unvested stock options, which we expect to recognize over a weighted-average 
period of 2.5 years, as compared to $752,000 for the year ended December 31, 2008. Total stock-based compensation for options granted to non-
employees for the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008 was $339,000 and $58,000, respectively.  

Other Income (Expense), net  

        We recorded other income (expense), net, for the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008 of $(1.3 million) and $49,000, respectively. The 
increase in other income (expense), net, is primarily due to the revaluation of registered common stock warrants issued by us in October 2006, 
August 2007 and July 2009. We revalue the warrants at each balance sheet date to fair value. If unexercised, the warrants will expire at various 
dates between August 2010 and July 2014.  

Interest Income (Expense), net  

        Interest income (expense), net, for the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008 was $2,000 and $644,000, respectively. The decrease in 
interest income (expense), net, for the year ended December 31, 2009 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2008, was primarily due to a 
lower average cash and investments balance and lower average interest rate during the year, as well as an increase in interest expense related to 
the convertible debt obtained in connection with the Merger. This debt was converted to common stock in August 2009.  

Gain (Loss) from investment in affiliated entity  

        Gain (loss) is a result of the change in the investment fair market value as of December 31, 2009.  
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Income Taxes  

        Since inception, we have incurred operating losses and accordingly have not recorded a provision for income taxes for any of the periods 
presented. As of December 31, 2009, we had net operating loss carry forwards for federal, California and Pennsylvania income tax purposes of 
approximately $106.2 million, $67.5 million and $33.9 million, respectively. We also had federal and California research and development tax 
credits of approximately $2.6 million and $1.6 million, respectively. If not utilized, the net operating losses and credits will begin to expire in 
2013. Utilization of net operating losses and credits are subject to a substantial annual limitation due to ownership change limitations provided 
by the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.  

Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2008 and 2007  

        The audited consolidated financial data for the years ended December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007 is presented in the following table 
and the results of these two periods are used in the discussion thereafter.  

Revenue  

        Our revenue consists of license fees, milestone payments, and amounts received from collaborative research and development arrangements 
and grants.  

        Our total revenue decreased $2.7 million or 56% for the year ended December 31, 2008, as compared to the year ended December 31, 2007 
due to decreases in milestone payments and revenue under collaborative research and development arrangements, offset partially by an increase 
in grants and other revenue.  

        The $2.0 million decrease in license fees and milestone payments for the year ended December 31, 2008, as compared to fiscal 2007 was 
primarily due to the recognition of a $2.0 million milestone payment during the year ended December 31, 2007, resulting from the achievement 
of a clinical  
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December 31,  

2008   
December 31,  

2007   

Increase/  
(Decrease)  

$   

Increase/  
(Decrease)  

%   
Revenues:                            
License fee and milestone payments    $ 791,401   $ 2,793,478   $ (2,002,077 )   (72 )% 
Revenue under collaborative research 

and development arrangements      1,077,967     1,854,303     (776,336 )   (42 ) 
Grants and miscellaneous revenue      228,264     159,948     68,316     43   
                    

Total revenues      2,097,632     4,807,729     (2,710,097 )   (56 ) 
Operating expenses:                            
Research and development      5,750,494     9,625,947     (3,875,453 )   (40 ) 
General and administrative      10,005,602     11,080,202     (1,074,600 )   (10 ) 
    

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

Total operating expenses      15,756,096     20,706,149     (4,950,053 )   (24 ) 
                    

Loss from operations      (13,658,464 )   (15,898,420 )   (2,239,956 )   (14 ) 
Other income, net      49,006     3,421,580     (3,372,574 )   (99 ) 
Interest income, net      643,836     1,272,397     (628,561 )   (49 ) 
                    

Net loss      (12,965,622 )   (11,204,443 )   (1,761,179 )   (16 ) 
                    

Imputed and declared dividends on 
preferred stock      —    (23,335 )   23,335     100   

                    

Net loss attributable to common 
stockholders    $ (12,965,622 ) $ (11,227,778 ) $ (1,737,844 )   (15 )% 
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milestone by Merck for the filing of an investigational new drug application for the second Merck product in a major market. Under our 
agreement with Merck, we may receive additional future milestone payments linked to the successful development of a product. Revenue from 
other license agreements remained consistent during the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007.  

        The $776,000 decrease in revenue under collaborative research and development arrangements during the year ended December 31, 2008, 
as compared to the year ended December 31, 2007, was due to an $368,000 decrease in Wyeth billings based on our collaborative agreement 
related to the commercialization of the Elgen device, and $408,000 in lower Merck collaborative research billings during 2008 as compared to 
2007. Billings from research and development work performed pursuant to the Wyeth and Merck agreements were recorded as revenue as the 
related research expenditures incurred.  

        The $68,000 increase in grant and miscellaneous revenue was due to more revenue recognized from U.S. Army grants during fiscal 2008 as 
compared to fiscal 2007. On September 26, 2008, we received a new contract for $933,000 from the Department of Defense (U.S. Army) to 
continue research and development of DNA-based vaccines delivered via our proprietary electroporation system. The contract, titled "Design 
and Engineering of the Elgen Gene Delivery System for Screening and Validation of Vaccine Candidates of Military Relevance," will run 
through May 2010. This project is focused on identifying DNA vaccine candidates with the potential to provide rapid, robust immunity to protect 
against bio-warfare and bioterror attacks.  

        During the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007, we recognized revenue of $135,000 and $159,000, respectively, attributable to the 
operations of our Norwegian subsidiary, Inovio AS, which amounted to approximately 6% and 3% of our total revenue. Inovio AS' revenue 
primarily consists of amounts received from grants and licensing revenue.  

Research and Development Expenses  

        The $3.9 million decrease in research and development expenses for the year ended December 31, 2008, as compared to fiscal 2007, was 
primarily due to a decrease in clinical trial expenses associated with patient enrollment, clinical site costs, data collection and monitoring costs 
related to the discontinued SECTA clinical trials. Additional decreases are associated with reduced use of consulting and advisory services, 
offset by higher labor and other development costs associated with expansion of in-house engineering and research expertise. Research and 
development expenses attributable to Inovio AS were $751,000 and $697,000 for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively.  

General and Administrative Expenses  

        General and administrative expenses include business development expenses and the amortization of intangible assets. The $1.1 million 
decrease in general and administrative expenses for the year ended December 31, 2008, as compared to fiscal 2007, was primarily due to a 
decrease in outside consulting and advisory services related to partnering our SECTA therapy program as well as a decrease in personnel costs 
and employee stock-based compensation expense, offset by increased legal fees related to the execution of the definitive merger agreement with 
VGX as well as other corporate matters. General and administrative costs attributable to Inovio AS were $376,000 and $309,000 for the years 
ended December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively.  

Stock-based Compensation.  

        Stock-based compensation cost is measured at the grant date, based on the fair value of the award reduced by estimated forfeitures, and is 
recognized as expense over the employee's requisite service period. Total compensation cost for our stock plans for the years ended 
December 31, 2008 and 2007 was $1.0 million and $1.6 million, of which $286,000 and $354,000 was included in research and  
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development expenses and $746,000 and $1.2 million was included in general and administrative expenses, respectively. At December 31, 2008, 
there was $752,000 of total unrecognized compensation cost, related to unvested stock options, which we expect to recognize over a weighted-
average period of one year, as compared to $1.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2007. Total stock-based compensation for options 
granted to non-employees for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 was $58,000 and $119,000, respectively.  

Other Income/(Expense)  

        We recorded other income (expense) for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 of $49,000 and $3.4 million, respectively. The 
decrease in other income (expense) is primarily due to the revaluation of registered common stock warrants issued by us in October 2006 and 
August 2007. We revalue the warrants at each balance sheet date to fair value. If unexercised, the warrants will expire in October 2011 and 
August 2012, respectively.  

Interest Income/(Expense)  

        Interest income (expense) for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 was $644,000 and $1.3 million, respectively. The decrease in 
interest and other income for fiscal 2008, as compared to fiscal 2007, was primarily due to a lower cash and investments balance and lower 
average interest rate.  

Imputed and Declared Dividends on Preferred Stock  

        The holders of our Series C Preferred Stock were entitled to receive an annual dividend at a rate of 6%, in shares of common stock or cash, 
payable quarterly, through May 20, 2007. As part of this dividend, we paid cash of $23,000 during fiscal 2007 to holders of our Series C 
Preferred Stock. No dividends were paid to holders of our Series C Preferred Stock during the year ended December 31, 2008.  

Income Taxes  

        Since inception, we have incurred operating losses and accordingly have not recorded a provision for income taxes for any of the periods 
presented. As of December 31, 2008, we had net operating loss carry forwards for federal and state income tax purposes of approximately 
$59.4 million and $58.0 million, respectively. We also had federal and state research and development tax credits of approximately $1.2 million 
and $1.5 million, respectively. If not utilized, the net operating losses and credits will begin to expire in 2013. Utilization of net operating losses 
and credits are subject to a substantial annual limitation due to ownership change limitations provided by the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as 
amended.  

Liquidity and Capital Resources  

        Historically, our primary uses of cash have been to finance research and development activities including clinical trial activities in the 
oncology, DNA vaccines and other immunotherapy areas of our business. Since inception, we have satisfied our cash requirements principally 
from proceeds from the sale of equity securities, such as the financing discussed in more detail below.  

Working Capital and Liquidity  

        As of December 31, 2009, we had working capital of $25.2 million, as compared to $554,000 as of December 31, 2008. The increase in 
working capital during the year ended December 31, 2009 was primarily due to our recent financing. On July 29, 2009, we entered into a 
securities purchase agreement with certain institutional investors relating to the sale and issuance of (a) 11,111,110 shares of common stock and 
(b) warrants to purchase a total of 2,777,776 shares of common stock with an  
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exercise price of $3.50 per share, for an aggregate purchase price of approximately $30.0 million. The warrants were exercisable beginning six 
months after issuance and expire six months from the date they are first exercisable. The shares of common stock and warrants were sold in 
units, consisting of one share of common stock and a warrant to purchase 0.25 of a share of common stock, at a purchase price of $2.70 per unit. 
The offering closed on July 31, 2009. We received proceeds from the funding of approximately $28.4 million, after deducting offering expenses. 

        The change in working capital is also due to ARS investment securities and the related ARS Rights being reclassified from long-term assets 
to current assets due to the time frame in which they can be readily convertible to cash, offset by expenditures related to our research and 
development activities, as well as various general and administrative expenses related to legal, consultants, accounting and audit, and corporate 
development. Based on management's projections and analysis, we believe that our cash and cash equivalents are sufficient to meet our planned 
working capital requirements through the second half of 2011.  

        Our ARS are municipal debt obligations with an underlying long-term maturity. Due to conditions in the global credit markets these 
securities, representing a par value of $13.6 million, are currently not liquid.  

        In December 2008, we, via our wholly-owned subsidiary Genetronics, which holds the ARS, accepted an offer of ARS Rights from UBS. 
The ARS Rights permit us to require UBS to purchase our ARS at par value at any time during the period of June 30, 2010 through July 2, 2012. 
If we do not exercise our ARS Rights, the ARS will continue to accrue interest as determined by the terms of the ARS. If the ARS Rights are not 
exercised before July 2, 2012 they will expire and UBS will have no further obligation to buy our ARS. UBS has the discretion to purchase or 
sell our ARS at any time without prior notice so long as we receive a payment at par upon any sale or disposition. UBS will only exercise its 
discretion to purchase or sell our ARS for the purpose of restructurings, dispositions or other solutions that will provide us with par value for our 
ARS. As a condition to accepting the offer of ARS Rights, we released UBS from all claims except claims for consequential damages relating to 
its marketing and sales of ARS. We also agreed not to serve as a class representative or receive benefits under any class action settlement or 
investor fund.  

        In conjunction with the acceptance of the ARS Rights, we also amended our existing loan agreement with UBS Bank USA, increasing the 
existing credit line up to $12.1 million, with the ARS pledged as collateral. The loan is treated as a "no net cost loan", as it bears interest at a rate 
equal to the average rate of interest paid to Genetronics on the pledged ARS, and the net interest cost to Genetronics is zero. We fully drew down 
on the line of credit in December 2008.  

        Historically, the fair value of ARS approximated par value. While we continue to earn interest on our ARS at the maximum contractual 
rates, these investments are not currently trading and therefore do not currently have a readily determinable market value. Accordingly, the 
estimated fair value of the ARS no longer approximates par value. We have used a discounted cash flow model to determine the estimated fair 
value of our investment in ARS and our ARS Rights as of December 31, 2009. The assumptions used in preparing the discounted cash flow 
model include estimates for interest rates, timing and amount of cash flows and expected holding period of the ARS and ARS Rights.  

        As of December 31, 2009, we had an accumulated deficit of $177.2 million. We have operated at a loss since 1994, and we expect this to 
continue for some time. The amount of the accumulated deficit will continue to increase, as it will be expensive to continue research and 
development efforts. If these activities are successful and if we receive approval from the FDA to market DNA vaccines and equipment, then 
even more funding will be required to market and sell the approved vaccine products and equipment. The outcome of the above matters cannot 
be predicted at this time. We are evaluating potential collaborations as an additional way to fund operations. We will continue to rely on outside 
sources of financing to meet our capital needs beyond mid-2011.  
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements  

        We do not have any off-balance sheet arrangements that have or are reasonably likely to have a current or future effect on our financial 
condition, changes in financial condition, revenue, expenses, and results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures or capital resources.  

Contractual Obligations  

        On December 19, 2008, we amended our existing loan agreement with UBS Bank USA, increasing the existing credit line up to 
$12.1 million, with our Auction Rate Securities pledged as collateral. We fully drew down on the line of credit on December 23, 2008. Advances 
under the Line of Credit bear interest at LIBOR plus 1.00% (the "Spread Over LIBOR"). UBS may change the Spread Over LIBOR at its 
discretion when the Collateral consisting of ARS may be sold, exchanged or otherwise conveyed by us for gross proceeds that are, in the 
aggregate, not less than the par value of such securities. The loan is treated as a "no net cost loan", as it bears interest at a rate equal to the 
average rate of interest paid to us on the pledged ARS, and the net interest cost to us is zero.  

        As of December 31, 2009, we did not have any other material long-term debt or other known contractual obligations, except for the 
operating leases for our facilities, which expire in 2013 through 2017, and operating leases for copiers, which expire in 2011.  

        We are contractually obligated to make the following operating lease payments as of December 31, 2009:  

ITEM 7A.    QUALITATIVE AND QUANTITATIVE DISCLOSURE S ABOUT MARKET RISK  

Interest Rate Risk  

        Market risk represents the risk of loss that may impact our consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows due to adverse 
changes in financial and commodity market prices and rates. We are exposed to market risk primarily in the area of changes in United States of 
America interest rates and conditions in the credit markets, and the recent fluctuations in interest rates and availability of funding in the credit 
markets primarily impacts the performance of our investments. We do not have any material foreign currency or other derivative financial 
instruments. Under our current policies, we do not use interest rate derivative instruments to manage exposure to interest rate changes. We 
attempt to increase the safety and preservation of our invested principal funds by limiting default risk, market risk and reinvestment risk. We 
mitigate default risk by investing in investment grade securities.  

Fair Value Measurements  

        All of our investment securities are classified as trading securities and are reported on the consolidated balance sheet at market value. Our 
investment securities consist of auction rate securities ("ARS") issued primarily by municipalities, with a par value of approximately 
$13.6 million. As a result of the negative conditions in the global credit markets, our ARS are currently not liquid, and if we do not exercise our 
ARS Rights (discussed in the following paragraph) we could be required to hold them until they are redeemed by the issuer or to maturity. In the 
event we need to access the funds that are in an illiquid state, we will not be able to do so without a loss of principal, until the securities are 
redeemed by the issuer or they mature.  

        In December 2008, we, via our wholly-owned subsidiary Genetronics, which holds the ARS, accepted an offer of ARS Rights from our 
investment advisor, UBS Financial Services, Inc., a  
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     Total   
Less than  

1 year   1 - 3 years   3 - 5 years   
More than  

5 years   
Operating lease obligations    $ 3,720,148   $ 631,433   $ 1,189,364   $ 949,376   $ 949,975   
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subsidiary of UBS AG, or UBS. The ARS Rights permit us to require UBS to purchase our ARS at par value at any time during the period of 
June 30, 2010 through July 2, 2012. If we do not exercise our ARS Rights, the ARS will continue to accrue interest as determined by the terms 
of the ARS. If the ARS Rights are not exercised before July 2, 2012 they will expire and UBS will have no further obligation to buy our ARS. 
UBS has the discretion to purchase or sell our ARS at any time without prior notice so long as we receive a payment at par upon any sale or 
disposition. UBS will only exercise its discretion to purchase or sell our ARS for the purpose of restructurings, dispositions or other solutions 
that will provide us with par value for our ARS. As a condition to accepting the offer of ARS Rights, we released UBS from all claims except 
claims for consequential damages relating to its marketing and sales of ARS. We also agreed not to serve as a class representative or receive 
benefits under any class action settlement or investor fund.  

        In conjunction with the acceptance of the ARS Rights, we also amended our existing loan agreement with UBS Bank USA, increasing the 
existing credit line up to $12.1 million, with the ARS pledged as collateral. The loan is treated as a "no net cost loan", as bears interest at a rate 
equal to the average rate of interest paid to us on the pledged ARS, and our net interest cost is zero. We fully drew down on the line of credit in 
December 2008.  

Foreign Currency Risk  

        We have operated primarily in the United States of America and most transactions during the year ended December 31, 2009, have been 
made in U.S. dollars. Accordingly, we have not had any material exposure to foreign currency rate fluctuations, with the exception of the 
valuation of our equity investment in VGX Int'l. We do not have any foreign currency hedging instruments in place.  

        We have conducted clinical trials in Europe in conjunction with several Clinical Research Organizations ("CRO's"), where we have clinical 
sites being monitored by Clinical Research Associates ("CRA's"). While invoices relating to these clinical trials are generally denominated in 
U.S. dollars, our financial results could be affected by factors such as inflation in foreign currencies, in relation to the U.S. dollar, in markets 
where these vendors have assisted us in conducting these clinical trials.  

        Certain transactions related to our Company and our subsidiary Inovio Asia Pte. Ltd. ("IAPL"), are denominated primarily in foreign 
currencies, including Euros, British Pounds, Canadian Dollars, and Singapore Dollars. Our equity investment in VGX Int'l is denominated in 
South Korean Won. As a result, our financial results could be affected by factors such as changes in foreign currency exchange rates or weak 
economic conditions in foreign markets where Inovio conducts business, including the impact of the existing crisis in the global financial 
markets in such countries and the impact on both the U.S. dollar and the noted foreign currencies.  

        We do not use derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes. We do not engage in exchange rate hedging or hold or issue 
foreign exchange contracts for trading purposes. Currently, we do not expect the impact of fluctuations in the relative fair value of other 
currencies to be material in 2010.  

ITEM 8.    FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY D ATA  

        The information required by this Item 8 is incorporated by reference to our Consolidated Financial Statements and the Report of 
Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm beginning at page F-1 of this report.  

ITEM 9.    CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUN TANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE  

        None.  
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ITEM 9A.    CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES  

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures  

        As of December 31, 2009, an evaluation was carried out by the company, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief 
Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act 
of 1934). Based upon that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that these disclosure controls and 
procedures were effective as of the end of the period covered by this report.  

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting  

Management's Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting  

        Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as defined in Rules 13a-
15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Our internal control over financial reporting is a process designed under the 
supervision of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial 
reporting and the preparation of our financial statements for external purposes in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.  

        As of December 31, 2009, management, with the participation of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, assessed the 
effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based on the criteria for effective internal control over financial reporting 
established in "Internal Control—Integrated Framework," issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations ("COSO") of the Treadway 
Commission. Our assessment did not include evaluating the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting of our recently acquired 
subsidiary, VGX Pharmaceuticals, Inc., which is included in our 2009 consolidated financial statements and constituted: $19.9 million total 
assets as of December 31, 2009 and $3.5 million and $14.7 million of revenues and net loss, respectively, for the year then ended. We did not 
assess the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting at this newly acquired subsidiary due to the complexity associated with 
assessing internal controls during the integration efforts and limited company resources, thus making the completion of the process in 2009 
impractical. Based on the assessment, management determined that we maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of 
December 31, 2009.  

Attestation Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm  

        This annual report does not include an attestation report of our independent registered public accounting firm regarding internal control over 
financial reporting. Management's report was not subject to attestation by our independent registered public accounting firm pursuant to 
temporary rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission that permit us to provide only management's report in this annual report.  

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting  

        There have not been any changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934) that occurred during the fourth quarter of our fiscal year ended December 31, 2009, that have materially 
affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.  

ITEM 9B.    OTHER INFORMATION  

        On March 24, 2010, we entered into a Collaboration and License Agreement (the "Agreement") with VGX International ("VGX Int'l"). 
Under the Agreement, we granted VGX Int'l an exclusive  
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license to Inovio's SynCon™ universal influenza vaccine delivered with electroporation to be developed in certain countries in Asia (the 
"Product").  

        As consideration for the license granted to VGX Int'l, we will receive a research and development initiation fee, as well as research support, 
annual license maintenance fees and royalties on net Product sales. In addition, contingent upon achievement of clinical and regulatory 
milestones, we will receive development payments over the term of the Agreement. The Agreement also provides Inovio with exclusive rights to 
supply devices for clinical and commercial purposes (including single use components) to VGX Int'l for use in the Product.  

        The term of the Agreement commenced upon execution and will extend on a country by country basis until the last to expire of all Royalty 
Periods for the territory (as such term is defined in the Agreement) for any Product in that country, unless the Agreement is terminated earlier in 
accordance with its provisions as a result of breach, by mutual agreement, or by VGX Int'l right to terminate without cause upon prior written 
notice.  

 
PART III  

ITEM 10.    DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPO RATE GOVERNANCE  

        The information required by this Item 10 is hereby incorporated by reference from our definitive proxy statement, to be filed pursuant to 
Regulation 14A within 120 days after the end of our 2009 fiscal year.  

ITEM 11.    EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION  

        The information required by this Item 11 is hereby incorporated by reference from our definitive proxy statement, to be filed pursuant to 
Regulation 14A within 120 days after the end of our 2009 fiscal year.  

ITEM 12.    SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIA L OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED 
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS  

        The information required by this Item 12 is hereby incorporated by reference from our definitive proxy statement, to be filed pursuant to 
Regulation 14A within 120 days after the end of our 2009 fiscal year.  

ITEM 13.    CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANS ACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE  

        Director independence and other information required by this Item 13 is hereby incorporated by reference from our definitive proxy 
statement, to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A within 120 days after the end of our 2009 fiscal year.  

ITEM 14.    PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES  

        The information required by this Item 14 is hereby incorporated by reference from our definitive proxy statement, to be filed pursuant to 
Regulation 14A within 120 days after the end of our 2009 fiscal year.  
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PART IV  

ITEM 15.    EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES   

1.  Financial Statements  

        Consolidated financial statements required to be filed hereunder are indexed on Page F-2 hereof.  

2.  Financial Statement Schedules  

        Schedules not listed herein have been omitted because the information required to be set forth therein is not applicable or is included in the 
Financial Statements or notes thereto.  

3.  Exhibits  

        The following exhibits are filed as part of this annual report on Form 10-K:  

Exhibit 
Number   Description of Document 

  2.1 # Amended and Restated Agreement and Plan of Merger By and Among Inovio Biomedical 
Corporation, Inovio Acquisition, LLC, and VGX Pharmaceuticals, Inc. dated December 5, 
2008 (included as Annex A to the registrant's Registration Statement on Form S-4). (File 
No. 333-156035), filed on January 23, 2009). 

       
  2.2   Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated Merger Agreement by and among Inovio 

Biomedical Corporation, Inovio Acquisition, LLC, and VGX Pharmaceuticals, Inc. dated 
March 31, 2009 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 of the registrant's Current Report 
on Form 8-K filed on March 31, 2009). 

       
  3.1 (a) Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (incorporated by reference to 

Exhibit 3.1 of the registrant's Registration Statement on Form S-3 (File No. 333-108752) 
filed on September 12, 2003). 

       
    (b) Certificate of Amendment to Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation as filed 

with the Delaware Secretary of State on September 10, 2004 (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 3.1 of the registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed September 16, 2004). 

       
    (c) Certificate of Amendment to the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation as filed 

with the Delaware Secretary of State on March 31, 2005 (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 3.1 of the registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on April 4, 2005). 

       
  3.2 (a) Certificate of Designations, Rights and Preferences of Series C Convertible Preferred Stock 

of Registrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.3 of the registrant's Registration 
Statement on Form S-3 filed on June 21, 2004). 

       
    (b) Certificate of Decrease of Shares of Series C Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock of 

Registrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.4 of the registrant's Registration 
Statement on Form S-3 filed on June 21, 2004). 

       
  3.3   Amended and Restated Bylaws of Inovio Biomedical Corporation (incorporated by 

reference to Exhibit 3.6 to the registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on August 18, 
2009). 

       
  4.3 † Warrant to Purchase Common Stock, dated September 15, 2000 by and between the 

Registrant and the University of South Florida Research Foundation (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.6 of the registrant's Form 10-Q filed on November 9, 2000). 

       
  4.4 † Warrant to Purchase Common Stock, dated September 15, 2000 by and between the 

Registrant and Dr. Richard Gilbert (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 of the 
registrant's Form 10-Q filed on November 9, 2000). 
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Exhibit 
Number   Description of Document 

  4.5 † Warrant to Purchase Common Stock, dated September 15, 2000 by and between the 
Registrant and Dr. Richard Heller (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 of the 
registrant's Form 10-Q filed on November 9, 2000). 

       
  4.6 † Warrant to Purchase Common Stock, dated September 15, 2000 by and between the 

Registrant and Dr. Mark Jaroszeski (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 of the 
registrant's Form 10-Q filed on November 9, 2000). 

       
  4.12   Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant dated as of September 15, 2006 by and between 

the registrant and each of the purchasers listed on Schedule 1 to the Securities Purchase 
Agreement (Exhibit 10.23 herein) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 of the 
registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on September 20, 2006). 

       
  4.13   Registration Rights Agreement dated as of September 15, 2006 by and among registrant and 

certain investors indicated on a schedule thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 
of the registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on November 9, 2006). 

       
  4.14   Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant to be used by and between the registrant and 

each of the purchasers listed on Schedule 1 to the Securities Purchase and Exchange 
Agreement (Exhibit 10.25 herein) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.24 of the 
registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 16, 2007). 

       
  4.16 + Form of Restricted Stock Award Grants under the 2007 Omnibus Stock Incentive Plan 

(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to the Registrant's Registration Statement on 
Form S-8 filed on May 14, 2007). 

       
  4.17 + Form of Incentive and Non-Qualified Stock Option Grants under the 2007 Omnibus Stock 

Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 to the Registrant's Registration 
Statement on Form S-8 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 14, 
2007). 

       
  4.18   Form of Common Stock Greenshoe Warrant issued by Inovio Biomedical Corporation 

(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K 
filed on July 30, 2009). 

       
  10.1   Lease Agreement by and between the registrant and 1787 Sentry Park West LLC dated 

December 10, 2009. 
       
  10.2 † License Agreement dated September 20, 2000 by and between the registrant and the 

University of South Florida Research Foundation, Inc. (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.5 of the registrant's Form 10-Q filed on November 9, 2000). 

       
  10.3 † Non-Exclusive License and Research Collaboration Agreement dated as of May 21, 2004 

by and among the registrant and Merck & Co., Inc. and Genetronics, Inc., a subsidiary of 
the registrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Quarterly Report on 
Form 10-Q filed on August 13, 2004). 

       
  10.4   Form of Warrant to Purchase Common Stock (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 of 

the registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed August 6, 2007). 
       
  10.5 + Form of Employment Agreement by and between the registrant and Peter Kies, effective 

only upon closing of the Merger (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.24 as filed with 
the registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-156035) on December 10, 
2008). 
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Exhibit 
Number   Description of Document 

  10.6   Voting Trust Agreement dated June 1, 2009 by and among Inovio Biomedical Corporation, 
the stockholders listed on Schedule I thereto, Simon Benito, Tee Khiang Ng and Dr. Morton 
Collins (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant's Current Report on 
Form 8-K filed on June 1, 2009). 

       
  10.7   Form of Placement Agent Agreement by and between Inovio Biomedical Corporation and 

Rodman & Renshaw LLC dated July 29, 2009 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to 
the registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on July 30, 2009). 

       
  10.8   Securities Purchase Agreement dated July 29, 2009 by and among Inovio Biomedical 

Corporation and the purchasers identified on the signature pages thereto (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on July 30, 
2009). 

       
  10.9   Form of Indemnification Agreement for Directors and Officers of Inovio Biomedical 

Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant's Quarterly Report on 
Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2009, filed on August 19, 2009). 

       
  10.10 + Amended and Restated Employment Agreement dated October 6, 2009 by and between 

Inovio Biomedical Corporation and Dr. Avtar Dhillon (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 6, 2009). 

       
  10.11 # Amended and Restated 2007 Omnibus Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to 

Exhibit 10.2 to the registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended 
September 30, 2009, filed on November 13, 2009). 

       
  10.12 † License Agreement dated June 26, 2000 by and among Baylor College of Medicine, 

Valentis, Inc. and Applied Veterinary Systems, Inc., as filed with the registrant's registration 
statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-156035) on April 27, 2009). 

       
  10.13 † License Agreement dated January 25, 2001 by and between Baylor College of Medicine and 

Applied Veterinary Systems, Inc. as assigned to VGX Pharmaceuticals, Inc., as amended by 
First Amendment dated April 17, 2002, Second Amendment dated May 29, 2002, Third 
amendment dated March 5, 2002, Fourth Amendment dated April 14, 2004 and Fifth 
Amendment dated February 15, 2007 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.27 as filed 
with the registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-156035) on April 27, 
2009). 

       
  10.14 † License Agreement dated November 5, 2001 by and between The Trustees of the University 

of Pennsylvania and VGX Pharmaceuticals, Inc., as amended by First Amendment dated 
August 15, 2005(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.29 as filed with the registrant's 
registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-156035) on April 27, 2009). 

       
  10.15   Agreement of Lease dated January 21, 2005 by and between 450 Sentry Parkway Associates 

and VGX Pharmaceuticals, Inc.; Addendum confirmed lease term dated June 16, 2005
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.30 as filed with the registrant's registration 
statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-156035) on April 27, 2009). 

       
  10.16 † R&D Alliance Agreement dated December 19, 2005 by and between Ganial 

Immunotherapeutics, Inc. and VGX Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.31 as filed with the registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-
156035) on April 27, 2009). 
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Exhibit 
Number   Description of Document 

  10.17 † Asset Purchase Agreement dated February 21, 2007 by and among Ronald O. Bergan, Mary 
Alice Bergan, and VGX Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.32 as 
filed with the registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-156035) on 
April 27, 2009). 

       
  10.18 † License Agreement dated May 9, 2007 by and between Baylor University and VGX 

Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.34 as filed with the 
registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-156035) on April 27, 2009). 

       
  10.19 † R&D Collaboration and License Agreement dated June 27, 2007 by and between VGX 

International, Inc. and VGX Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.35 as filed with the registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-
156035) on April 27, 2009). 

       
  10.20 † Non-Exclusive License Agreement dated September 1, 2007 by and between VGX Animal 

Health, Inc. and VGX Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.36 as 
filed with the registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-156035) on 
April 27, 2009). 

       
  10.21 † License Agreement dated September 1, 2007 by and between VGX Animal Health, Inc. and 

VGX Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.37 as filed with the 
registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-156035) on April 27, 2009). 

       
  10.22   Assignment of Contingent Payments Agreement dated October 20, 2007 by and among 

Ronald O. Bergan, Mary Alice Bergan, VGX Animal Health, Inc., and VGX 
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.38 as filed with the 
registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-156035) on April 27, 2009). 

       
  10.23 † R&D Collaboration and License Agreement dated December 18, 2006 by and between VGX 

International, Inc. and VGX Pharmaceuticals, Inc., as amended by First Amendment dated 
October 31, 2007 and as amended by Second Amendment dated August 4, 2008 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.39 as filed with the registrant's registration 
statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-156035) on April 27, 2009). 

       
  10.24 † Sales and Marketing Agreement dated February 28, 2008 by and between VGX 

International and VGX Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.42 as 
filed with the registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-156035) on 
April 27, 2009). 

       
  10.25   Employment Agreement dated March 31, 2008 by and between J. Joseph Kim, Ph.D. and 

VGX Pharmaceuticals, Inc., as amended by First Amendment of Employment Agreement 
dated March 31, 2008 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.43 as filed with the 
registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-156035) on April 27, 2009). 

       
  10.26 † CELLECTRA ™ Device License Agreement dated April 16, 2008 by and between VGX 

International and VGX Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.44 as 
filed with the registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-156035) on 
April 27, 2009). 

       
  10.27   Asset Purchase Agreement dated June 10, 2008 by and among VGXI, Inc. and VGX 

Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.48 as filed with the 
registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-156035) on April 27, 2009). 

       
  10.28   Sublease Agreement dated June 10, 2008 by and between VGXI, Inc. and VGX 

Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.49 as filed with the 
registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-156035) on April 27, 2009). 
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Exhibit 
Number   Description of Document 

  10.29 † Patent License Agreement dated April 27, 2007 by and between The Trustees of the 
University of Pennsylvania and VGX Pharmaceuticals, Inc., as amended by First 
Amendment dated June 12, 2008(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.50 as filed with 
the registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-156035) on April 27, 
2009). 

       
  10.30 + 2001 Equity Compensation Plan for VGX Pharmaceuticals, Inc., as amended (incorporated 

by reference to Exhibit 10.62 as filed with the registrant's registration statement on Form S-
4 (File No. 333-156035) on April 27, 2009). 

       
  10.31 + 2007 Equity Compensation Plan for VGX Animal Health, Inc. (incorporated by reference to 

Exhibit 10.63 as filed with the registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-
156035) on April 27, 2009). 

       
  10.32   Memorandum of NIH Research Grant Agreement by and between National Institute of 

Allergy and Infectious Diseases and VGX Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (incorporated by reference 
to Exhibit 10.66 as filed with the registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File 
No. 333-156035) on April 27, 2009). 

       
  10.33   Form of Warrant to Purchase Common Stock issued by VGX Pharmaceuticals, Inc. since 

2003 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.67 as filed with the registrant's registration 
statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-156035) on April 27, 2009). 

       
  10.34   Form of Warrant Purchase Agreement for Warrants to Purchase Common Stock issued by 

VGX Pharmaceuticals, Inc. since 2003 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.68 as filed 
with the registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-156035) on April 27, 
2009). 

       
  21.1   Subsidiaries of the registrant. 
       
  23.1   Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm. 
       
  24.1   Power of Attorney (included on signature page). 
       
  31.1   Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant Securities Exchange Act Rule 13a-14

(a). 
       
  31.2   Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant Securities Exchange Act Rule 13a-14

(a). 
       
  32.1   Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the 

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 

#  The registrant hereby agrees to furnish the staff, on a confidential basis, a supplemental copy of any omitted schedule upon 
the staff's request.  
 

+  Designates management contract, compensatory plan or arrangement.  
 

†  We have applied with the Secretary of the Securities and Exchange Commission for confidential treatment of certain 
information pursuant to Rule 24b-2 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. We have filed separately with our application 
a copy of the exhibit including all confidential portions, which may be made available for public inspection pending the 
Securities and Exchange Commission's review of the application in accordance with Rule 24b-2.  
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SIGNATURES  

        Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be 
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized on March 26, 2010.  

 
POWER OF ATTORNEY  

        KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints J. Joseph Kim 
and Peter Kies, and each of them severally, his or her true and lawful attorney-in-fact with power of substitution and resubstitution to sign in his 
or her name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to do any and all things and execute any and all instruments that such attorney may deem 
necessary or advisable under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and any rules, regulations and requirements of the U.S. Securities and 
Exchange Commission in connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K and any and all amendments hereto, as fully for all intents and 
purposes as he or she might or could do in person, and hereby ratifies and confirms all said attorneys-in-fact and agents, each acting alone, and 
his or her substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.  

        Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf 
of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.  
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    Inovio Biomedical Corporation 
 
  

 
  
 
By: 

 
  

 
/s/ J. JOSEPH KIM  

J. Joseph Kim  
President, Chief Executive Officer and 

Director 

Signature   Title   Date 

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

/s/ J. JOSEPH KIM  

J. Joseph Kim 
  

President, Chief Executive Officer and 
Director  
(Principal Executive Officer) 

  March 26, 2010 

 
/s/ AVTAR DHILLON  

Avtar Dhillon 

 
  

 
Executive Chairman 

 
  

 
March 26, 2010 

 
/s/ PETER KIES  

Peter Kies 

 
  

 
Chief Financial Officer  
(Principal Accounting Officer and  
Principal Financial Officer) 

 
  

 
March 26, 2010 

 
/s/ SIMON X. BENITO  

Simon X. Benito 

 
  

 
Director 

 
  

 
March 26, 2010 
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Signature   Title   Date 

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

/s/ TEE KHIANG NG  

Tee Khiang Ng 
  Director   March 26, 2010 
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm  

The Board of Directors and Stockholders  
Inovio Biomedical Corporation  

        We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Inovio Biomedical Corporation as of December 31, 2009 and 2008 and 
the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders' equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended 
December 31, 2009. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion 
on these financial statements based on our audits.  

        We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those 
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material 
misstatement. We were not engaged to perform an audit of the Company's internal control over financial reporting. Our audits included 
consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but 
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we 
express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial 
statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.  

        In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of Inovio 
Biomedical Corporation at December 31, 2009 and 2008, and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three 
years in the period ended December 31, 2009, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.  

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP  

San Diego, California  
March 26, 2010  

F-2  



Table of Contents  

 
Inovio Biomedical Corporation  

 
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.  
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     December 31,   
     2009   2008   

ASSETS                
Current assets:                
Cash and cash equivalents    $ 30,296,215   $ 14,115,281   
Short-term investments      10,397,530     —  
Auction rate security rights      3,145,156     —  
Accounts receivable      259,207     671,187   
Accounts receivable from affiliated entity      58,853     —  
Prepaid expenses and other current assets      409,845     477,285   
            

Total current assets      44,566,806     15,263,753   
Long-term investments      —    9,169,471   
Auction rate security rights      —    4,281,494   
Fixed assets, net      343,457     353,807   
Intangible assets, net      12,968,934     5,850,540   
Goodwill      10,113,371     3,900,713   
Investment in affiliated entity      12,330,802     —  
Other assets      305,547     167,250   
    

  
  

  
  

Total assets    $ 80,628,917   $ 38,987,028   
    

  

  

  

  

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY                
Current liabilities:                
Accounts payable and accrued expenses    $ 3,445,750   $ 1,367,300   
Accounts payable and accrued expenses due to affiliated entity      445,091     —  
Accrued clinical trial expenses      299,261     399,919   
Line of credit      12,114,760     12,109,423   
Common stock warrants      2,774,850     224,582   
Deferred revenue      270,326     523,544   
Deferred rent      —    84,814   
            

Total current liabilities      19,350,038     14,709,582   
Deferred revenue, net of current portion      82,594     4,269,151   
Deferred rent, net of current portion      11,338     14,898   
Deferred tax liabilities      —    887,250   
            

Total liabilities      19,443,970     19,880,881   
            

Commitments and contingencies                
Inovio Biomedical Corporation stockholders' equity:                
Preferred stock—par value $0.001; Authorized shares: 10,000,000, 

issued and outstanding: 26 and 71 at December 31, 2009 and 
December 31, 2008, respectively      —    —  

Common stock—par value $0.001; Authorized shares: 300,000,000, 
issued and outstanding: 102,746,058 and 102,746,058 at 
December 31, 2009 and 44,116,800 and 44,023,050 at 
December 31, 2008, respectively      102,746     44,022   

Additional paid-in capital      237,577,970     171,868,914   
Accumulated deficit      (177,224,433 )   (152,812,948 ) 
Accumulated other comprehensive income      105,796     6,159   
            

Total Inovio Biomedical Corporation stockholders' equity      60,562,079     19,106,147   
Non-controlling interest      622,868     —  
            

Total stockholders' equity      61,184,947     19,106,147   
            

Total liabilities and stockholders' equity    $ 80,628,917   $ 38,987,028   
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Inovio Biomedical Corporation  

 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.  
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     For the Years ended December 31,   
     2009   2008   2007   
Revenues:                      
License fee and milestone payments    $ 4,929,309   $ 791,401   $ 2,793,478   
Revenue under collaborative research and 

development arrangements      125,996     1,077,967     1,854,303   
Grants and miscellaneous revenue      4,064,806     228,264     159,948   
                

Total revenues      9,120,111     2,097,632     4,807,729   
                

Operating expenses:                      
Research and development      9,408,457     5,750,494     9,625,947   
General and administrative      13,669,409     10,005,602     11,080,202   
                

Total operating expenses      23,077,866     15,756,096     20,706,149   
                

Loss from operations      (13,957,755 )   (13,658,464 )   (15,898,420 ) 

Other income (expense):                      
Other income/(expense), net      (1,258,848 )   49,006     3,421,580   
Interest income, net      2,293     643,836     1,272,397   
Loss from investment in affiliated entity      (9,244,614 )   —    —  
                

Net loss      (24,458,924 )   (12,965,622 )   (11,204,443 ) 

Net loss attributable to non-controlling interest      47,439     —    —  
Imputed and declared dividends on preferred stock     —    —    (23,335 ) 
                

Net loss attributable to Inovio Biomedical 
Corporation    $ (24,411,485 ) $ (12,965,622 ) $ (11,227,778 ) 

    

  

  

  

  

  

  

Loss per common share—basic and diluted:                      
Net loss per share attributable to Inovio 

Biomedical Corporation stockholders    $ (0.33 ) $ (0.30 ) $ (0.27 ) 
    

  

  

  

  

  

  

Weighted average number of common shares 
outstanding—basic and diluted      74,714,138     43,914,004     41,493,412   
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Inovio Biomedical Corporation  

 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY  

   
  Preferred stock   Common stock 

                                
                  

  

Accumulated  
other  

comprehensive 
 

(loss) income 

            

     
Number  
of shares   Amount   

Number  
of shares   Amount   

Additional  
paid-in  
capital   

Receivables 
from  

stockholders   

Accumulated 
 

deficit   

Non-  
controlling 

 
interest   

Total  
stockholders' 

 
equity   

Balance at 
December 31, 
2006      1,028,069   $ 1,028     35,639,521   $ 35,639   $ 146,783,730   $ (86,030 ) $ (128,619,548 ) $ 37,045     —  $ 18,151,864   

Exercise of 
stock options 
for cash      —    —    94,563     94     218,407     —    —    —    —    218,501   

Exercise of 
warrants for 
cash      —    —    3,082     3     7,394     —    —    —    —    7,397   

Cashless 
exercise of 
warrants      —    —    38,097     38     (38 )   —    —    —    —    —  

Conversions of 
preferred 
stock to 
common 
stock      (914,687 )   (915 )   960,238     961     (46 )   —    —    —    —    —  

Conversions of 
ordinary 
shares to 
common 
stock      —    —    2,201,644     2,202     5,347,793     —    —    —    —    5,349,995   

Cash receipt 
towards 
stockholder 
notes 
receivable      —    —    —    —    —    36,030     —    —    —    36,030   

Issuance of 
common 
stock for 
consulting 
services      —    —    263,750     264     610,762     —    —    —    —    611,026   

Issuance of 
common 
stock for 
cash, net of 
issuance 
costs of 
$110,313      —    —    4,595,094     4,595     16,059,829     —    —    —    —    16,064,424   

Stock-based 
compensation     —    —    18,750     19     1,702,790     —    —    —    —    1,702,809   

Comprehensive 
loss:                                                                

  

Net loss 
attributable 
to common 
stockholders     —    —    —    —    —    —    (11,227,778 )   —    —    (11,227,778 ) 

  

Unrealized 
gain on 
investments      —    —    —    —    —    —    —    9,945     —    9,945   

  

Foreign 
currency 
translation 
gain      —    —    —    —    —    —    —    110,541     —    110,541   

                                                              

Total 
comprehensive 
loss      —    —    —    —    —    —    —    —    —    (11,107,292 ) 

                                            

Balance at 
December 31, 
2007      113,382   $ 113     43,814,739   $ 43,815   $ 170,730,621   $ (50,000 ) $ (139,847,326 ) $ 157,531     —  $ 31,034,754   

Exercise of 
stock options 
for cash      —    —    1,250     1     1,087     —    —    —    —    1,088   

Conversions of 
preferred 
stock to 
common 
stock      (113,311 )   (113 )   113,311     113     —    —    —    —    —    —  

Reserve for 
stockholder 
note 
receivable      —    —    —    —    —    50,000     —    —    —    50,000   

Issuance of 
common 
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stock for 
consulting 
services      —    —    56,250     55     46,520     —    —    —    —    46,575   

Stock-based 
compensation     —    —    37,500     38     1,090,686     —    —    —    —    1,090,724   

Comprehensive 
loss:                                                                

  

Net loss 
attributable 
to common 
stockholders     —    —    —    —    —    —    (12,965,622 )   —    —    (12,965,622 ) 

  

Unrealized 
loss on 
investments      —    —    —    —    —    —    —    (9,945 )   —    (9,945 ) 

  

Foreign 
currency 
translation 
loss      —    —    —    —    —    —    —    (141,427 )   —    (141,427 ) 

                                                              

Total 
comprehensive 
loss      —    —    —    —    —    —    —    —    —    (13,116,994 ) 

                                            

Balance at 
December 31, 
2008      71     —    44,023,050   $ 44,022   $ 171,868,914     —  $ (152,812,948 ) $ 6,159     —  $ 19,106,147   
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Inovio Biomedical Corporation  

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (Co ntinued)  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.  

   
  Preferred stock   Common stock 

                                
                  

  

Accumulated  
other  

comprehensive 
 

(loss) income 

            

     

Number 
 

of 
shares   Amount   

Number  
of shares   Amount   

Additional  
paid-in  
capital   

Receivables 
from  

stockholders   

Accumulated 
 

deficit   

Non-  
controlling 

 
interest   

Total  
stockholders' 

 
equity   

Balance at 
December 31, 
2008      71     —    44,023,050   $ 44,022   $ 171,868,914     —  $ (152,812,948 ) $ 6,159     —  $ 19,106,147   

Issuance of 
common 
stock to 
VGX 
Pharmaceutical 
Shareholders      —    —    41,492,757     41,493     26,098,943     —    —    —    —    26,140,436   

Stock options 
and warrants 
assumed in 
connection 
with merger      —    —    —    —    5,137,038     —    —    —    —    5,137,038   

Non-
controlling 
interest 
assumed in 
connection 
with merger      —    —    —    —    —    —    —    —    670,307     670,307   

Issuance of 
common 
stock and 
warrants for 
cash, net of 
financing 
costs of 
$1.6 million      —    —    11,111,110     11,111     28,395,245     —    —    —    —    28,406,356   

Fair value of 
common 
stock 
warrants 
issued in 
connection 
with equity 
financing      —    —    —    —    (1,263,384 )   —    —    —    —    (1,263,384 ) 

Exercise of 
stock options 
for cash      —    —    794,043     795     357,945     —    —    —    —    358,740   

Cashless 
exercise of 
stock options     —    —    519,491     519     (519 )   —    —    —    —    —  

Conversions of 
preferred 
stock to 
common 
stock      (45 )   —    66,176     66     (66 )   —    —    —    —    —  

Conversion of 
convertible 
debt to 
common 
stock      —    —    4,600,681     4,601     4,826,114     —    —    —    —    4,830,715   

Stock-based 
compensation     —    —    138,750     139     2,157,740     —    —    —    —    2,157,879   

Comprehensive 
loss:                                                                

  

Net loss 
attributable 
to common 
stockholders     —    —    —    —    —    —    (24,411,485 )   —    (47,439 )   (24,458,924 ) 

  

Foreign 
currency 
translation 
gain      —    —    —    —    —    —    —    99,637     —    99,637   

                                                              

Total 
comprehensive 
loss      —    —    —    —    —    —    —    —    —    (24,359,287 ) 

                                            

Balance at 
December 31, 
2009      26     —    102,746,058   $ 102,746   $ 237,577,970     —  $ (177,224,433 ) $ 105,796   $ 622,868   $ 61,184,947   
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Inovio Biomedical Corporation  

 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.  
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     For the Years ended December 31,   
     2009   2008   2007   
Cash flows from operating activities:                      
Net loss    $ (24,458,924 ) $ (12,965,622 ) $ (11,204,443 ) 
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:                      
  Depreciation      237,222     195,285     185,683   
  Amortization of intangible assets      1,439,756     797,742     831,958   
  Change in value of common stock warrants      1,286,884     (142,489 )   (3,173,621 ) 
  Gain on long-term investments      1,136,338     —    —  
  Loss on auction rate security rights      (1,228,059 )   —    —  
  Unrealized loss on trading securities      —    4,380,529     —  
  Recognition of auction rate securities rights      —    (4,281,494 )   —  
  Stock-based compensation      2,157,879     1,090,724     1,702,809   
  Compensation for services paid in common stock      —    46,575     611,026   
  Interest converted into common stock      430,715     —    —  
  Interest expense accrued on line of credit      166,178     —    —  
  Reserve for inventory purchased from related parties      177,969     —    —  
  Amortization of deferred tax liabilities      (887,250 )   (63,000 )   (63,000 ) 
  Deferred rent      (131,020 )   (61,946 )   (66,832 ) 
  Impairment of long term investments      —    114,750     —  
  Loss on disposal of fixed assets      26,404     9,792     —  
  Loss from investment in affiliated entity      9,244,614     —    —  
  Gain from long-term investment in affiliated entity      (5,502 )   —    —  
  Realization of loss carryforwards      —    —    389,881   
  Accretion of discount on available-for-sale securities      —    (60,345 )   (86,670 ) 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:                      
  Accounts receivable      288,155     464,825     (726,884 ) 
  Accounts receivable from affiliated entity      1,103,925     —    —  
  Prepaid expenses and other current assets      242,325     19,518     507,230   
  Other assets      (18,400 )   —    —  
  Accounts payable and accrued expenses      (1,043,838 )   (583,841 )   (321,080 ) 
  Accounts payable due to affiliated entity      428,353     —    —  
  Deferred revenue      (4,673,916 )   (87,521 )   (99,806 ) 
    

  
  

  
  

  
  

Net cash used in operating activities      (14,080,192 )   (11,126,518 )   (11,513,749 ) 
                

Cash flows from investing activities:                      
Purchases of long-term investments      —    (4,500,000 )   (18,602,985 ) 
Proceeds from long-term investments      —    8,000,000     16,400,000   
Purchases of capital assets      (48,368 )   (121,946 )   (141,635 ) 
Net cash provided by acquisition      1,611,280     —    —  
Additions to intangible assets and other assets      (116,567 )   (461,852 )   (504,095 ) 
                

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities      1,446,345     2,916,202     (2,848,715 ) 
                

Cash flows from financing activities:                      
Proceeds from issuance of common stock, net of issuance costs      28,406,356     —    16,064,424   
Proceeds from stock option exercises      358,740     1,088     218,501   
Proceeds from warrant exercises      —    —    7,397   
Proceeds from line of credit      —    12,220,494     —  
Repayment of line of credit      (160,841 )   (111,071 )   —  
Reserve for stockholder note receivable      —    50,000     —  
Repayment of stockholder note receivable      —    —    36,030   
Payment of preferred stock cash dividend      —    —    (23,335 ) 
                

Net cash provided by financing activities      28,604,255     12,160,511     16,303,017   
                

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents      210,526     (85,843 )   (11,230 ) 
                

Increase in cash and cash equivalents      16,180,934     3,864,352     1,929,323   
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period      14,115,281     10,250,929     8,321,606   
                

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period    $ 30,296,215   $ 14,115,281   $ 10,250,929   
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INOVIO BIOMEDICAL CORPORATION  

 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

1. The Company  

        Inovio Biomedical Corporation (the "Company" or "Inovio") is engaged in the discovery, development, and delivery of a new generation of 
vaccines, called DNA vaccines, focused on cancers and infectious diseases. The Company's SynCon™ technology enables the design of 
"universal" DNA-based vaccines capable of providing cross-protection against new, unmatched strains of pathogens such as influenza. The 
Company's electroporation DNA delivery technology uses brief, controlled electrical pulses to increase cellular DNA vaccine uptake. Initial 
human data has shown this method can safely and significantly increase gene expression and immune responses. The Company's clinical 
programs include human papillomavirus ("HPV")/cervical cancer (therapeutic) and human immunodeficiency virus ("HIV") vaccines. The 
Company has filed an Investigational New Drug application ("IND") with the Food and Drug Administration ("FDA") for an avian influenza 
vaccine and is advancing preclinical research for a universal seasonal/pandemic influenza vaccine. The Company's partners and collaborators 
include University of Pennsylvania, National Microbiology Laboratory of Public Health Agency of Canada, NIAID (NIH), Merck, Tripep, 
University of Southampton, and HIV Vaccines Trial Network.  

        All of the Company's potential human products are in research and development phases. No revenues have been generated from the sale of 
any such products, nor are any such revenues expected for at least the next several years. The Company earns revenue from license fees and 
milestone payments, collaborative research and development agreements, grants and government contracts. The Company's product candidates 
will require significant additional research and development efforts, including extensive preclinical and clinical testing. All product candidates 
that the Company advances to clinical testing will require regulatory approval prior to commercial use, and will require significant costs for 
commercialization.  

2. VGX Pharmaceuticals Business Acquisition  

        On June 1, 2009 (the "Acquisition Date") the Company completed the acquisition of VGX Pharmaceuticals, Inc. ("VGX"), a privately-held 
company, pursuant to the terms of an Amended and Restated Agreement and Plan of Merger dated December 5, 2008, as further amended on 
March 31, 2009 (the "Merger Agreement") by and among Inovio, Inovio's wholly-owned subsidiary Inovio Acquisition, LLC and VGX (the 
"Merger").  

        Upon the closing of the Merger, based on an exchange ratio of 0.9812 (the "Merger Exchange Ratio"), and on terms and conditions as set 
forth in the Merger Agreement,  

•  all of the issued and outstanding shares of common stock of VGX were canceled and converted into the right to receive shares of 
common stock of Inovio,  
 

•  all outstanding options to purchase shares of VGX common stock became exercisable for shares of Inovio's common stock,  
 

•  all outstanding warrants to purchase shares of VGX common stock became exercisable for shares of Inovio's common stock, and  
 

•  all outstanding convertible debt of VGX became debt convertible into Inovio's common stock on existing terms.  

        As of the Acquisition Date, an aggregate of 41,492,757 shares of Inovio's common stock were issued to the former stockholders of VGX, 
and an additional 18,794,187 shares of Inovio's common  
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INOVIO BIOMEDICAL CORPORATION  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)  

2. VGX Pharmaceuticals Business Acquisition (Continued)  

 
stock were reserved for issuance upon exercise of the assumed options and warrants and conversion of the principal of and maximum interest 
payable on the VGX convertible debt. Immediately following the Acquisition Date the continuing holders of Inovio securities owned 
approximately 51.59% of Inovio's issued and outstanding common stock and the former holders of VGX securities owned approximately 
48.41% of Inovio's issued and outstanding common stock.  

        Upon the closing of the Merger, Inovio Acquisition, LLC succeeded to all of VGX's business, properties and assets and assumed its 
obligations (other than the outstanding options and warrants to purchase shares of VGX common stock that became exercisable to purchase 
shares of Inovio common stock), changed its name to VGX Pharmaceuticals, LLC, and remains a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, 
utilizing a single, integrated management team with Inovio.  

        Prior to the date of the Merger Agreement, Inovio's sole relationship with VGX was as a party to a licensing agreement with VGX, entered 
into in the ordinary course of business, and as a holder of 25,000 shares of VGX common stock acquired in relation to such agreement. The 
shares of VGX common stock held by Inovio were cancelled upon closing of the Merger.  

        After a review of relevant factors and in accordance with the guidance regarding business combinations, Inovio was determined to be the 
accounting acquirer. The Merger was accounted for using the purchase method of accounting for business combinations under U.S. GAAP. 
Accordingly, the historical consolidated financial statements of Inovio were carried forward at their historical cost and the purchase price 
allocated to VGX's identifiable assets and liabilities was based on their estimated fair values at the Acquisition Date.  

        The final determination of the purchase price allocation was based on the fair values of major classes of assets acquired, including 
identifiable intangibles, and the fair value of liabilities assumed as of the Acquisition Date. The excess purchase price of the acquired entity over 
the fair value of assets and liabilities was recognized by the Company as goodwill on the accompanying consolidated balance sheet.  

        As a result of the Merger, Inovio acquired VGX's developed technology, which consists of VGX's CELLECTRA® technology and GHRH 
technology.  

        The purchase price allocation for acquisitions requires extensive use of accounting estimates and judgments to allocate the purchase price to 
the identifiable tangible and intangible assets acquired, including in-process research and development, and liabilities assumed based on their 
respective fair values. Additionally, the Company must determine whether an acquired entity is considered to be a business or a set of net assets, 
because a portion of the purchase price can only be allocated to goodwill in a business combination.  

        Management estimated the fair value of the VGX developed technology using reasonable assumptions based on historical experience. The 
valuation methodology used to estimate the value of the technologies was the excess earnings method. This method reflects the present value of 
the operating cash flows generated by the technologies after taking into account the cost to realize the revenue, and an appropriate discount rate 
to reflect the time value and risk associated with the assets. First, yearly revenues for each technology were forecasted for a projected period of 
time of 10 years. Related cost of sales and operating expenses were then deducted from the revenue stream. Next, in order to value the 
technology, the value and required rate of return for other assets that contribute to the generation of the revenue earned by that particular 
technology asset were determined. The  
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INOVIO BIOMEDICAL CORPORATION  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)  

2. VGX Pharmaceuticals Business Acquisition (Continued)  

 
required returns on these other assets (the other asset classes identified were: net working capital, fixed assets, and assembled workforce) were 
"charged to" (or rather deducted from) the future net operating income to determine the returns specifically earned by the technology. Then, a 
discount rate was applied that considered the reasonable expectation of the risk profile of the proprietary technology in order to bring the future 
income to a present value. In the case of CELLECTRA® technology, a discount rate of 45% was used for the core technology and 60% for the 
milestone and royalty; for the GHRH technology, a 45% discount rate was utilized.  

        There was no purchase price amount allocated to acquired in-process research and development.  

        The percentage of non-controlling ownership interest consists of 12% in VGX AH and 88% ownership by the Company. The estimated fair 
value utilized is based on the last round of financing by VGX AH in late 2007, in which that entity issued shares of its common stock to a third 
party. There have been no subsequent financing rounds. Inovio has updated the valuation model to reflect current assumptions and due to the fact 
that there have been no additional milestone events, such as additional marketing approval, significant licensing agreements, material adverse 
events, or large sales contracts that would have materially changed any of the key assumptions used in the last valuation of VGX AH, Inovio 
believes that the valuation used in the last round of financing continues to reflect current fair value.  

        The Company's investment in an affiliated entity represents the Company's ownership interest in VGX International, Inc. ("VGX Int'l") and 
is measured at fair value. The fair market value of the Company's interest in VGX Int'l was determined using the closing price of VGX Int'l I's 
shares of common stock as listed on the Korean Stock Exchange as of June 1, 2009.  

        The total purchase price of the acquisition is estimated as follows:  

        The fair value of the Inovio shares used in determining the purchase price was $0.63 per share based on the closing price of Inovio common 
stock on June 1, 2009.  

        The purchase price has been allocated to each major class of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their fair values as 
of June 1, 2009. The allocation to identifiable assets and liabilities is summarized below:  
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Value of Inovio shares issued    $ 26,156,188   
Value of vested warrants and options assumed      5,137,038   
        

  $ 31,293,226   
    

  

  

     Fair Value   
Identifiable assets acquired    $ 25,012,941   
Intangible assets (developed technology)      8,441,583   
Goodwill      6,212,658   
Assumed liabilities      (7,703,649 ) 
Assumed noncontrolling interest      (670,307 ) 
        

Total    $ 31,293,226   
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)  

2. VGX Pharmaceuticals Business Acquisition (Continued)  

        The excess of the purchase price over the fair value of net assets acquired resulted in goodwill of approximately $6.2 million.  

        The following unaudited pro forma financial information combines the results of operations of Inovio and VGX assuming the Merger was 
consummated on January 1, 2008. The pro forma results are not necessarily indicative of what would have occurred if the Merger had been in 
effect for the periods presented. In addition, they are not intended to be a projection of future results and do not reflect any synergies that might 
be achieved from combined operations.  

3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies  

Basis of Presentation  

        Inovio incurred a net loss from operations of $24.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2009. Inovio had working capital of 
$25.2 million and an accumulated deficit of $177.2 million as of December 31, 2009. The Company's ability to continue its operations is 
dependent upon its ability to obtain additional capital in the future and achieve profitable operations. On July 31, 2009, Inovio closed a 
$30.0 million offering of its shares of common stock and warrants to purchase shares of common stock. The Company received net proceeds 
from the transaction of approximately $28.4 million, after deducting offering expenses. The Company expects to continue to rely on outside 
sources of financing to meet its capital needs and the Company may never achieve positive cash flow. These consolidated financial statements 
do not include any adjustments to the specific amounts and classifications of assets and liabilities, which might be necessary should Inovio be 
unable to continue in business. Inovio's consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2009 have been prepared on 
a going concern basis, which contemplates the realization of assets and the settlement of liabilities and commitments in the normal course of 
business for the foreseeable future. The Company has evaluated subsequent events after the balance sheet date through the date it issued these 
financial statements.  

Consolidation  

        The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Inovio Biomedical Corporation and its domestic and foreign 
subsidiaries. All intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.  

Reorganization  

        In April 2009, the Company's Board of Directors implemented a reduction in force which impacted our Norwegian operations. In 
connection with this decision, operations previously performed in Norway ceased as of July 31, 2009, and are continuing in the United States. As 
of December 31,  
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Year Ended  
December 31,  

2009   

Year Ended  
December 31,  

2008   
Revenue    $ 11,182,062   $ 5,213,204   
Net loss attributable to common 

stockholders    $ (29,835,182 ) $ (28,274,069 ) 
Net loss per common share    $ (0.32 ) $ (0.33 ) 
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3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)  

 
2009 both of our wholly-owned Norwegian subsidiaries, Inovio AS and Inovio Tec AS, have been dissolved.  

Foreign currencies  

        The Company translates the financial statements of its non-U.S. operations using the end-of-period exchange rates for assets and liabilities 
and the average exchange rates for each reporting period for results of operations. Net gains and losses resulting from the translation of foreign 
financial statements and the effect of exchange rates on intercompany receivables and payables of a long-term investment nature are recorded as 
a separate component of stockholders' equity under the caption "Accumulated other comprehensive income". These adjustments will affect net 
income upon the sale or liquidation of the underlying investment.  

Use of estimates  

        The preparation of consolidated financial statements in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles requires us to make 
estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related disclosure of contingent assets 
and liabilities. Inovio bases its estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily 
apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions. On an ongoing basis, 
Inovio reviews its estimates to ensure that these estimates appropriately reflect changes in the business or as new information becomes available. 

Cash and cash equivalents  

        Equivalents are considered by the Company to be highly liquid investments purchased with original maturities of three months or less and 
are stated at cost, which approximates market value. At December 31, 2009 cash equivalents included $24.1 million held in money market funds. 
At December 31, 2008, there were no cash equivalents held in money market funds.  

Accounts receivable  

        Accounts receivable are recorded at invoiced amounts and do not bear interest. Inovio performs ongoing credit evaluations of our 
customers' financial condition. Credit is extended to customers as deemed necessary and generally does not require collateral. Management 
believes that the risk of loss is significantly reduced due to the quality and financial position of our customers. No allowance for doubtful 
accounts was deemed necessary at December 31, 2009 and 2008.  

Auction Rate Securities and Auction Rate Securities Rights.  

        Inovio's short-term investments consist of auction rate securities ("ARS") which are on deposit with a major financial institution and are 
stated at fair market value. All of Inovio's investments are classified as municipal debt securities as of December 31, 2009 and 2008, and are 
ARS which have contractual maturities in excess of ten years and reset to par on a monthly basis. See Note 4 for further discussion of the 
Company's investments  
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)  

3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)  

        Auction Rate Security Rights ("ARS Rights") consist of the right to sell ARS held by the Company back to the financial institution which 
sold them to the Company, at par, at its sole discretion, any time during the period from June 30, 2010 through July 2, 2012, and gives the 
financial institution the right to purchase these ARS or sell them on the Company's behalf at par anytime through July 2, 2012. See Note 4 for 
further discussion of the Company's ARS Rights.  

        The Company accounts for Auction Rate Securities ("ARS") under the authoritative guidance for certain investments in debt and equity 
securities and fair value measurements. The Company accounts for ARS Rights using the fair value option for financial assets and financial 
liabilities. Investments in ARS and our ARS Rights are recorded at their estimated fair value as there is currently no liquid market which 
indicates value. The Company has used a discounted cash flow model to determine the estimated fair value of its investment in ARS and our 
ARS Rights as of December 31, 2009. The assumptions used in preparing the discounted cash flow model include estimates for interest rates, 
timing and amount of cash flows and expected holding period of the ARS and ARS Rights. Changes in the estimated fair value of the ARS and 
ARS Rights are reflected in the consolidated statement of operations as "Other income/(expense), net."  

Fixed assets  

        Property and equipment are stated at cost and depreciated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful life of the assets, 
generally three to five years. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of the remaining term of the related leases or the estimated 
economic useful lives of the improvements. Repairs and maintenance are expensed as incurred.  

Long-lived assets  

        All long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment in value when changes in circumstances dictate, based upon undiscounted future 
operating cash flows, and appropriate losses are recognized and reflected in current earnings, to the extent the carrying amount of an asset 
exceeds its estimated fair value determined by the use of appraisals, discounted cash flow analyses or comparable fair values of similar assets.  

Valuation of Goodwill and Intangible Assets  

        Goodwill represents the excess of acquisition cost over the fair value of the net assets of acquired businesses. Intangible assets are 
amortized over their estimated useful lives ranging from 5 to 18 years. Acquired intangible assets are still being developed for the future 
economic viability contemplated at the time of acquisition. The Company is concurrently conducting Phase I and pre-clinical trials using the 
acquired intangibles, and has entered into certain significant licensing agreements for use of these acquired intangibles.  

        Historically the Company has recorded patents at cost and amortized these costs using the straight-line method over the expected useful 
lives of the patents or 17 years, whichever is less. Patent cost consists of the consideration paid for patents and related legal costs. Effective 
June 1, 2009, in connection with the acquisition of VGX, all new patent costs will be expensed as incurred. Patent cost currently capitalized will 
continue to be amortized over the expected life of the patent. The effect of this change was immaterial to prior periods. License costs are 
recorded based on the fair value of consideration paid and amortized using the straight-line method over the shorter of the expected useful  
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life of the underlying patents or the term of the related license agreement. As of December 31, 2009, the Company's intangible assets resulting 
from the acquisition of VGX and Inovio AS, and additional intangibles including previously capitalized patent costs and license costs, net of 
accumulated amortization, totaled $13.0 million.  

        The determination of the value of such intangible assets requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the Company's 
consolidated financial statements. The Company assesses potential impairments to intangible assets when there is evidence that events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recovered. The Company's judgments regarding the existence 
of impairment indicators and future cash flows related to intangible assets are based on operational performance of our acquired businesses, 
market conditions and other factors. If impairment is indicated, the Company will reduce the carrying value of the intangible asset to fair value. 
While current and historical operating and cash flow losses are potential indicators of impairment, the Company believes the future cash flows to 
be received from its intangible assets will exceed the intangible assets' carrying value, and accordingly, the Company has not recognized any 
impairment losses through December 31, 2009.  

        Goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives are not amortized but instead are measured for impairment annually, or when events 
indicate that impairment exists. The Company's accounting policy with respect to reviewing goodwill for impairment is a two step process. The 
first step of the impairment test compares the fair value of our reporting unit with its carrying value including allocated goodwill. If the carrying 
value of the Company's reporting unit exceeds its fair value, then the second step of the impairment test is performed to measure the impairment 
loss, if any. The Company tests goodwill for impairment at the entity level which is considered our reporting unit. The Company's estimate of 
fair value is determined using both the Discounted Cash Flow method of the Income Approach and the Guideline Public Company method of the 
Market Approach. The Discounted Cash Flow method estimates future cash flows of our business for a certain discrete period and then discounts 
them to their present value. The Guideline Public Company method computes value indicators ("multiples") from the operating data of the 
selected publicly traded guideline companies. After these multiples were evaluated, appropriate value indicators were selected and applied to the 
operating statistics of the reporting unit to arrive at indications of value. Specifically, the Company relied upon the application of Total Invested 
Capital based valuation multiples for each guideline company. In applying the Income and Market Approaches, premiums and discounts were 
determined and applied to estimate the fair values of the reporting unit. To arrive at the indicated value of equity under each approach, the 
Company then assigned a relative weighting to the resulting values from each approach to determine whether the carrying value of the reporting 
unit exceeds its fair value, thus requiring step 2 of the impairment test.  

        The Company conducts the impairment test annually on November 30th for each fiscal year for which goodwill is evaluated for 
impairment. The Company is also aware of the requirement to evaluate goodwill for impairment at other times should circumstances arise. To 
date, the Company has concluded that the fair value of the reporting unit significantly exceeded the carrying value and therefore, step 2 of the 
impairment test has never been performed.  

        Although there are inherent uncertainties in this assessment process, the estimates and assumptions the Company is using are consistent 
with its internal planning. If these estimates or their related assumptions change in the future, the Company may be required to record an 
impairment  
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charge on all or a portion of our goodwill and intangible assets. Furthermore, the Company cannot predict the occurrence of future impairment-
triggering events nor the impact such events might have on its reported asset values. Future events could cause the Company to conclude that 
impairment indicators exist and that goodwill or other intangible assets associated with its acquired businesses are impaired. Any resulting 
impairment loss could have an adverse impact on the Company's results of operations. See Note 8 for further discussion of the Company's 
goodwill and intangible assets.  

Income taxes  

        The Company recognizes deferred tax assets and liabilities for temporary differences between the financial reporting basis and the tax basis 
of the Company's assets and liabilities along with net operating loss and tax credit carryovers. The Company records a valuation allowance 
against its deferred tax assets to reduce the net carrying value to an amount that it believes is more likely than not to be realized. When the 
Company establishes or reduces the valuation allowance against its deferred tax assets, its provision for income taxes will increase or decrease, 
respectively, in the period such determination is made.  

        Valuation allowances against the Company's deferred tax assets were $49.7 million and $34.7 million at December 31, 2009 and 
December 31, 2008, respectively. Changes in the valuation allowances, when they are recognized in the provision for income taxes, are included 
as a component of the estimated annual effective tax rate.  

Revenue recognition  

        License fees are comprised of initial fees and milestone payments derived from collaborative licensing arrangements. Inovio continues to 
recognize non-refundable milestone payments upon the achievement of specified milestones, provided the milestone payment is substantive in 
nature and the achievement of the milestone was not reasonably assured at the inception of the agreement. Inovio defers payments for milestone 
events which are reasonably assured and recognizes them ratably over the minimum remaining period of the performance obligations. Payments 
for milestones which are not reasonably assured are treated as the culmination of a separate earnings process and are recognized as revenue when 
the milestones are achieved.  

        Inovio has adopted a strategy of co-developing or licensing its gene delivery technology for specific genes or specific medical indications. 
Accordingly, Inovio has entered into collaborative research and development agreements and has received funding for pre-clinical research and 
clinical trials. Payments under these agreements, which are non-refundable, are recorded as revenue as the related research expenditures are 
incurred pursuant to the terms of the agreements and provided collectibility is reasonably assured.  

        Inovio receives non-refundable grants under available government programs. Inovio records government grants applicable towards current 
expenditures as revenue when there is reasonable assurance that the Company has complied with all conditions necessary to receive the grants, 
collectibility is reasonably assured, and the related expenditures have been incurred.  
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3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)  

Research and development expenses  

        Since Inovio's inception, virtually all of the Company's activities have consisted of research and development efforts related to developing 
electroporation technologies. Research and development expenses consist of expenses incurred in performing research and development 
activities including salaries and benefits, facilities and other overhead expenses, clinical trials, contract services and other outside expenses. 
Research and development expenses are charged to operations as they are incurred. Inovio reviews and accrues clinical trials expense based on 
work performed, which relies on estimates of total costs incurred based on patient enrollment, completion of studies and other events.  

Net loss per share  

        Basic net loss per share is computed by dividing the net loss for the year by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding 
during the year. Diluted loss per share is calculated in accordance with the treasury stock method and reflects the potential dilution that would 
occur if securities or other contracts to issue common stock were exercised or converted to common stock. Since the effect of the assumed 
exercise of common stock options and other convertible securities was anti-dilutive for all periods presented, basic and diluted loss per share are 
the same.  

        The following table summarizes potential common shares that were excluded from historical basic and diluted net loss per share calculation 
because of their anti-dilutive effect:  

Leases  

        Leases are classified as either capital or operating leases. Leases which transfer substantially all of the benefits and risks incidental to the 
ownership of assets are accounted for as if there was an acquisition of an asset and incurrence of an obligation at the inception of the lease. All 
other leases are accounted for as operating leases. Inovio's San Diego, CA headquarters and Blue Bell, PA facility leases, which have escalating 
payments, are both expensed on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. These leases represent the primary expense and commitment as 
indicated in Note 12 "Commitments" below. Other leases exist for office machinery, such as copiers, wherein lease expense is recorded as 
incurred.  

Stock-based compensation  

        The Company recognizes compensation expense for all share-based awards made to employees and directors. Inovio estimates the fair 
value of stock options granted using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The Black-Scholes option pricing model was developed for use in 
estimating the fair  

F-16  

Common stock equivalents   

As of  
December 31,  

2009   

As of  
December 31,  

2008   

As of  
December 31,  

2007   
Options to purchase 

common stock      13,142,039     4,616,714     3,465,462   
Warrants to purchase 

common stock      14,161,360     6,890,448     8,892,000   
Convertible preferred 

stock      38,233     104,409     217,720   
Non-vested restricted 

common stock      —    138,750     101,250   
    

  
  

  
  

  
  

  Total      27,341,632     11,750,321     12,676,432   
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value of traded options, which have no vesting restrictions and are fully transferable. In addition, option valuation models require the input of 
highly subjective assumptions, including the expected stock price volatility and expected option life. Inovio amortizes the fair value of the 
awards on a straight-line basis. All options grants are amortized over the requisite service period of the awards. Expected volatility is based on 
historical volatility. The expected life of options granted is based on historical expected life. The risk-free interest rate is based on the U.S. 
Treasury yield in effect at the time of grant. The forfeiture rate is based on historical data and Inovio records stock-based compensation expense 
only for those awards that are expected to vest. The dividend yield is based on the fact that no dividends have been paid on common stock 
historically, and none are currently expected to be paid.  

        Assumptions used in the Black-Scholes model are presented below:  

Other Accumulated Comprehensive Loss  

        Components of comprehensive loss are reported in the consolidated financial statements in the period in which they are recognized. The 
components of comprehensive loss for us include net loss, unrealized gains and losses on investments and foreign currency translation 
adjustments. The components of accumulated other comprehensive loss are indicated on the Consolidated Statements of Stockholder's Equity.  

Pending Adoption of Recent Accounting Pronouncements  

        Revenue Recognition —In September 2009, the FASB ratified the final consensus reached by the Emerging Issues Task Force ("EITF") 
that revised the authoritative guidance for revenue arrangements with multiple deliverables. The guidance addresses how to determine whether 
an arrangement involving multiple deliverables contains more than one unit of accounting and how the arrangement consideration should be 
allocated among the separate units of accounting. The guidance will be effective for the Company's fiscal year beginning January 1, 2011 with 
early adoption permitted. The guidance may be applied retrospectively or prospectively for new or materially modified agreements. The 
Company is currently evaluating early prospective adoption and determining the effects, if any, the adoption of the guidance will have on its 
consolidated financial statements.  
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     Year Ended December 31, 
     2009   2008   2007 

Risk-free 
interest rate   1.37% - 1.88%   1.38% - 3.18%   4.07% - 4.67% 

Expected 
volatility    96% - 132%   69% - 91%   93% - 98% 

Expected life 
in years    4   4   6 

Dividend 
yield    —   —   — 
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Adoption of Recent Accounting Pronouncements  

        Collaborative Arrangements Related to the Development and Commercialization of Intellectual Property —In November 2007, new 
guidance was issued on accounting for collaborative arrangements related to the development and commercialization of intellectual property. 
Companies may enter into arrangements with other companies to jointly develop, manufacture, distribute, and market a product. Often the 
activities associated with these arrangements are conducted by the collaborators without the creation of a separate legal entity (that is, the 
arrangement is operated as a "virtual joint venture"). The arrangements generally provide that the collaborators will share, based on contractually 
defined calculations, the profits or losses from the associated activities. Periodically, the collaborators share financial information related to 
product revenues generated (if any) and costs incurred that may trigger a sharing payment for the combined profits or losses. The consensus 
requires collaborators in such an arrangement to present the result of activities for which they act as the principal on a gross basis and report any 
payments received from (made to) other collaborators based on other applicable GAAP or, in the absence of other applicable GAAP, based on 
analogy to authoritative accounting literature or a reasonable, rational, and consistently applied accounting policy election. This guidance is 
effective for collaborative arrangements in place at the beginning of the annual period beginning after December 15, 2008. The adoption of this 
guidance did not have a material impact on the Company's consolidated financial statements.  

        Business Combinations —In December 2007, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued new guidance on business 
combinations which establishes principles and requirements for how an acquirer in a business combination recognizes and measures the assets 
acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination, including the treatment of contingent consideration, pre-acquisition contingencies, 
transaction costs, in-process research and development and restructuring costs. In addition, under the guidance, changes in an acquired entity's 
deferred tax assets and uncertain tax positions after the measurement period will impact income tax expense. This statement was effective for the 
Company with respect to business combination transactions for which the acquisition date is after December 31, 2008. Effective January 1, 
2009, the Company implemented this guidance. The Company expects this guidance will have an impact on the consolidated financial 
statements but the nature and magnitude of the specific effects will depend upon the nature, terms and size of the acquisitions consummated after 
January 1, 2009.  

        Noncontrolling Interests —In December 2007, the FASB issued new guidance which requires that noncontrolling (minority) interests be 
reported as a component of equity, that net income attributable to the parent and to the noncontrolling interest be separately identified in the 
income statement, that changes in a parent's ownership interest while the parent retains its controlling interest be accounted for as equity 
transactions, and that any retained noncontrolling equity investment upon the deconsolidation of a subsidiary be initially measured at fair value. 
This statement is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 31, 2008, and shall be applied prospectively. However, the presentation and 
disclosure requirements are required to be applied retrospectively for all periods presented. The retrospective presentation and disclosure 
requirements of this statement will be applied to any prior periods presented in financial statements for the fiscal year ending December 31, 
2009, and later periods during which we have a consolidated subsidiary with a noncontrolling interest. The adoption of SFAS No. 160 did not 
have a material impact on the Company's consolidated financial statements.  
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        Interim Fair Value Disclosures —In April 2009, the FASB issued new guidance which extends the disclosure requirements regarding the 
fair value of financial instruments to interim financial statements of publicly traded companies. This guidance does not change the accounting 
treatment for these financial instruments and is effective for interim and annual periods ending after June 15, 2009. The adoption of this 
guidance did not have a material impact on the Company's consolidated financial statements.  

        Accounting Standards Codification —In June 2009, the FASB issued Topic 105—Generally Accepted Accounting Principles Amendments 
Based on Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 168—The FASB Accounting Standards Codification and the Hierarchy of Generally 
Accepted Accounting Principles (Accounting Standards Update (ASU) No. 2009-01) , which updates the FASB Accounting Standards 
Codification (ASC or Codification) to state that the Codification is to be the single source of authoritative GAAP. All other accounting literature 
not included in the Codification is to be considered non-authoritative. The updates to the Codification contained in ASU No. 2009-01 were 
effective for interim and annual periods ending after September 15, 2009. Inovio implemented the guidance set forth by ASU No. 2009-01, 
recognizing the Codification as the single source of authoritative GAAP, on July 1, 2009. The adoption of this topic did not have a material 
impact on the Company's consolidated financial statements.  

        Subsequent Events —In February 2010, FASB issued ASU 2010-09 Subsequent Event (Topic 855) Amendments to Certain Recognition 
and Disclosure Requirements. ASU 2010-09 removes the requirement for an SEC filer to disclose a date in both issued and revised financial 
statements. Revised financial statements include financial statements revised as a result of either correction of an error or retrospective 
application of GAAP. All of the amendments in ASU 2010-09 are effective upon issuance of the final ASU, except for the use of the issued date 
for conduit debt obligors. That amendment is effective for interim or annual periods ending after June 15, 2010. The Company adopted ASU 
2010-09 and has evaluated subsequent events after the balance sheet date through the date it issued these financial statements.  

4. Marketable Securities and Fair Value Measurements  

        The guidance regarding fair value measurements establishes a three-tier fair value hierarchy which prioritizes the inputs used in measuring 
fair value. These tiers include: Level 1, defined as observable inputs such as quoted prices in active markets; Level 2, defined as inputs other 
than quoted prices in active markets that are either directly or indirectly observable; and Level 3, defined as unobservable inputs in which little 
or no market data exists, therefore requiring an entity to develop its own assumptions.  
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        The Company's financial assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis at December 31, 2009 are as follows:  

        Level 1 assets include the Company's investment in VGX Int'l for which the fair value is based on the market value of 8,075,775 common 
shares on December 31, 2009 listed on the Korean Stock Exchange.  

        The Company has determined that no items meet the criteria for definition within the Level 2 hierarchy. Level 3 assets held as of 
December 31, 2009 include municipal debt obligations known as auction rate securities ("ARS"). Due to conditions in the global credit markets, 
these securities, representing a par value of $13.6 million, are currently not liquid.  

        In December 2008, the Company, via its wholly-owned subsidiary Genetronics, Inc. ("Genetronics"), which holds the ARS, accepted an 
offer of ARS Rights from UBS. The ARS Rights permit the Company to require UBS to purchase the Company's ARS at par value at any time 
during the period of June 30, 2010 through July 2, 2012. If the Company does not exercise its ARS Rights, the ARS will continue to accrue 
interest as determined by the terms of the ARS. If the ARS Rights are not exercised before July 2, 2012 they will expire and UBS will have no 
further obligation to buy the Company's ARS. UBS has the discretion to purchase or sell the Company's ARS at any time without prior notice so 
long as the Company receives a payment at par upon any sale or disposition. UBS will only exercise its discretion to purchase or sell the 
Company's ARS for the purpose of restructurings, dispositions or other solutions that will provide the Company with par value for its ARS. As a 
condition to accepting the offer of ARS Rights, the Company released UBS from all claims except claims for consequential damages relating to 
its marketing and sales of ARS. The Company also agreed not to serve as a class representative or receive benefits under any class action 
settlement or investor fund.  

        While the Company continues to earn interest on its ARS at the maximum contractual rates, these investments are not currently trading and 
therefore do not currently have a readily determinable market value. Accordingly, the estimated fair value of the ARS no longer approximates 
par value. The Company has used a discounted cash flow model to determine the estimated fair value of its investment in ARS and its ARS 
Rights as of December 31, 2009. The assumptions used in preparing the discounted cash flow model include estimates for interest rates, timing 
and amount of cash flows and expected holding period of the ARS and ARS Rights.  

        As of December 31, 2009, these ARS investment securities and the ARS Rights are reclassified from long-term assets to current assets due 
to the time frame in which they can be readily convertible to cash.  
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     Fair Value Measurements at December 31, 2009   

     Total   

Using Quoted Prices  
in Active Markets  
for Identical Assets  

(Level 1)   

Using Significant  
Unobservable  

Inputs  
(Level 3)   

Short-term 
investments   $ 10,397,530   $ —  $ 10,397,530   

Auction 
rate 
securities 
rights      3,145,156     —    3,145,156   

Investment 
in 
affiliated 
entity      12,330,802     12,330,802     —  

    
  
  

  
  

  
  

Total 
Assets    $ 25,873,488   $ 12,330,802   $ 13,542,686   
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)  

4. Marketable Securities and Fair Value Measurements (Continued)  

        The Company elected to measure the ARS Rights at fair value to mitigate volatility in reported earnings due to their linkage to the ARS. 
The ARS Rights will continue to be measured at fair value utilizing Level 3 inputs until the earlier of their maturity or exercise.  

        The following table presents a summary of changes in fair value of the Company's assets measured on a recurring basis using Level 3 inputs 
for the year ended December 31, 2009:  

5. Line of Credit  

        On August 26, 2008, the Company received notice from UBS Bank USA ("UBS") that the Company's application had been approved for a 
$5.0 million uncommitted demand revolving line of credit ("Line of Credit") secured by ARS held by the Company in an account with UBS 
Financial Services, Inc. (the "Collateral Account"), to provide additional working capital. On December 19, 2008, the Company amended its 
existing loan agreement with UBS Bank USA, increasing the existing credit line up to $12.1 million, with the ARS pledged as collateral. The 
Company fully drew down on the line of credit on December 23, 2008. Advances under the Line of Credit bear interest at LIBOR plus 1.00% 
(the "Spread Over LIBOR"). UBS may change the Spread Over LIBOR at its discretion when the Collateral consisting of ARS may be sold, 
exchanged or otherwise conveyed by the Company for gross proceeds that are, in the aggregate, not less than the par value of such securities. 
The loan is treated as a "no net cost loan", as it bears interest at a rate equal to the average rate of interest paid to the Company on the pledged 
ARS, and the net interest cost to the Company will be zero.  
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Year Ended  

December 31, 2009   
Balance at January 1, 2009    $ 13,450,965   
  Change in value of auction rate security      1,228,059   

  

Change in value of auction rate security 
rights      (1,136,338 ) 

        

Balance at December 31, 2009    $ 13,542,686   
    

  

  

Total gain included in Other income/(expense) 
in the consolidated statement of operations 
relating to assets held at December 31, 2009    $ 91,721   
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)  

6. Major Customers and Concentration of Credit Risk  

        During the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, the Company recognized revenue from various license fees and milestone 
payments, collaborative research and development agreements and grants and government contracts. As of December 31, 2009, $211,000 or 
81% of our total consolidated accounts receivable balance of $259,000 was attributable to the US Army. As of December 31, 2008, $397,000 or 
59%, and $221,000 or 33%, of our total accounts receivable balance of $671,000, was attributable to Merck and Wyeth, respectively.  

        There is minimal credit risk with these customers based upon collection history, their size and financial condition. Accordingly, the 
Company does not consider it necessary to record a reserve for uncollectible accounts receivable.  

7. Fixed Assets  

        Fixed assets at December 31, 2009 and 2008 consist of the following:  

        Depreciation expense for the years ending December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 was $237,000, $195,000 and $186,000, respectively. The 
Company determined that the carrying value of these long-lived assets was not impaired for the periods presented.  
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Customer   2009   
% of Total  
Revenue   2008   

% of Total  
Revenue   2007   

% of Total  
Revenue   

Wyeth    $ 4,496,153     49 % $ 846,693     40 % $ 1,118,023     23 % 
National Institute 

of Allergy and 
Infectious 
Diseases 
("NIAID")      2,985,595     33     —    —    —    —  

PATH Malaria 
Vaccine 
Initiative 
("MVI")      439,894     5     —    —    —    —  

U.S Army grant      466,181     5     92,954     4     21,423     —  
Merck      125,996     1     631,549     30     3,268,884     68   
All other      606,292     7     526,436     26     399,399     9   
                            

Total Revenue    $ 9,120,111     100 % $ 2,097,632     100 % $ 4,807,729     100 % 
    

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

     Cost   

Accumulated  
depreciation  

and  
amortization   

Net book  
value   

As of December 31, 
2009                      

Machinery, equipment 
and office furniture    $ 1,778,990   $ (1,499,153 ) $ 279,837   

Leasehold 
improvements      341,133     (277,513 )   63,620   

                

  $ 2,120,123   $ (1,776,666 ) $ 343,457   
    

  

  

  

  

  

  

As of December 31, 
2008                      

Machinery, equipment 
and office furniture    $ 1,397,829   $ (1,205,536 ) $ 192,293   

Leasehold 
improvements      341,133     (179,619 )   161,514   

                

  $ 1,738,962   $ (1,385,155 ) $ 353,807   
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)  

8. Goodwill and Intangible Assets  

        The following sets forth the goodwill and intangible assets by major asset class:  

        Aggregate amortization expense on intangible assets was $1,440,000, $798,000 and $832,000 for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 
and 2007, respectively. Amortization expense related to intangible assets at December 31, 2009 for each of the next five fiscal years and beyond 
is expected to be incurred as follows:  

        In accordance with the guidance regarding goodwill and other non-amortizing intangible assets, the Company has completed its annual 
impairment tests and fair value analysis for goodwill and other non-amortizing intangible assets, respectively, held throughout the year. The 
Company conducts the impairment test annually on November 30 th . There were no impairments or impairment indicators present and no loss 
was recorded during the year ended December 31, 2009.  
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          December 31, 2009   December 31, 2008   

     

Useful 
 

Life  
(Yrs)   Gross   

Accumulated  
Amortization   

Net Book  
Value   Gross   

Accumulated  
Amortization   

Net Book  
Value   

Non-
Amortizing:                                            

  Goodwill(a)        $ 10,113,371   $ —  $ 10,113,371   $ 3,900,713   $ —  $ 3,900,713   
Amortizing:                                            

  Patents    
8 -
 17     5,802,528     (3,727,747 )   2,074,781     5,685,961     (3,255,231 )   2,430,730   

  Licenses    
8 -
 17     1,198,781     (965,907 )   232,874     1,198,781     (947,721 )   251,060   

  

CELLECTRA®
(b)    

5 -
 11     8,106,270     (705,573 )   7,400,697     —    —    —  

  GHRH(b)    11     335,314     (18,482 )   316,832     —    —    —  
  Other(c)    18     4,050,000     (1,106,250 )   2,943,750     4,050,000     (881,250 )   3,168,750   
                                

  

Total intangible 
assets          19,492,893     (6,523,959 )   12,968,934     10,934,742     (5,084,202 )   5,850,540   

                                

  

Total goodwill 
and 
intangible 
assets        $ 29,606,264   $ (6,523,959 ) $ 23,082,305   $ 14,835,455   $ (5,084,202 ) $ 9,751,253   

        

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

(a)  Goodwill was recorded from the Inovio AS acquisition in January 2005 and from the acquisition of VGX in June 2009 for 
$3.9 million and $6.2 million, respectively.  
 

(b)  CELLECTRA® and GHRH are developed technologies which were recorded from the acquisition of VGX.  
 

(c)  Other intangible assets represent the fair value of acquired contracts and intellectual property from the Inovio AS 
acquisition.  

2010    $ 1,908,631   
2011      1,858,955   
2012      1,810,608   
2013      1,759,976   
2014      932,157   
Thereafter      4,698,607   
        

  $ 12,968,934   
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)  

9. Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses  

        Accounts payable and accrued expenses at December 31, 2009 and 2008 consist of the following:  

10. Deferred Revenue  

        The Company defers revenue recognition of cash receipts from licensing and other agreements and recognizes them ratably over the 
minimum remaining period of our performance obligations. The combined current and long-term deferred revenue balance of $353,000 as of 
December 31, 2009 consists primarily of cash receipts from various licensing and other agreements.  

11. Stockholders' Equity  

Preferred Stock  

        The following is a summary of changes in the number of outstanding shares of our preferred stock for the years ended December 31, 2007, 
2008 and 2009:  

        During the year ended December 31, 2009, 45 shares of the Company's Series C preferred stock were converted into 66,176 shares of the 
Company's common stock.  

        The shares of the Company's outstanding Series C Preferred Stock have the following pertinent rights and privileges, as set forth in the 
Company's Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation and its Certificates of Designations, Rights and Preferences related to the various 
series of preferred stock.  
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As of  
December 31,  

2009   

As of  
December 31,  

2008   
Trade accounts payable    $ 1,568,297   $ 377,332   
Accrued compensation      1,130,968     372,015   
Other accrued expenses      1,490,837     1,017,872   
            

  $ 4,190,102   $ 1,767,219   
    

  

  

  

  

               

Outstanding  
as of  

December 31,   
     Authorized   Issued   2009   2008   
Series A Preferred 

Stock, par $0.001      1,000     817     —    —  
Series B Preferred 

Stock, par $0.001      1,000     750     —    —  
Series C Preferred 

Stock, par $0.001      1,091     1,091     26     71   
Series D Preferred 

Stock, par $0.001      1,966,292     1,966,292     —    —  

     Series C   Series D   
Shares Outstanding as of January 1, 2007      102     1,027,967   
Preferred Shares converted      (31 )   (914,656 ) 
Shares Outstanding as of December 31, 

2007      71     113,311   
Preferred Shares converted      —    (113,311 ) 
Shares Outstanding as of December 31, 

2008      71     —  
Preferred Shares converted      (45 )   —  
Shares Outstanding as of December 31, 

2009      26     —  
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)  

11. Stockholders' Equity (Continued)  

Rights on Liquidation  

        In the event of any voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company (a "liquidation event"), before any 
distribution of assets of the Company shall be made to or set apart for the holders of common stock, the holders of Series C Preferred Stock, pari 
passu, are entitled to receive payment of such assets of the Company in an amount equal to $10,000 per share of such series of preferred stock, 
plus any accumulated and unpaid dividends thereon (whether or not earned or declared).  

        If the assets of the Company available for distribution to stockholders exceed the aggregate amount of the liquidation preferences payable 
with respect to all shares of each series of preferred stock then outstanding, then, after the payment of such preferences is made or irrevocably set 
aside, the holders of the Company's common stock are entitled to receive a pro rata portion of such assets based on the aggregate number of 
shares of common stock held by each such holder. The holders of the Company's outstanding preferred stock shall participate in such a 
distribution on a pro-rata basis, computed based on the number of shares of common stock which would be held by such preferred holders if 
immediately prior to the liquidation event all of the outstanding shares of the preferred stock had been converted into shares of common stock at 
the then current conversion value applicable to each series.  

        A Change of Control of the Company (as defined in the Certificates of Designations, Rights and Preferences) is not a liquidation event 
triggering the preferences described above, and is instead addressed by separate terms in the Series C Certificates of Designations, Rights, and 
Preferences.  

        Although the liquidation preferences are in excess of the par value of $0.001 per share of the Company's preferred stock, these preferences 
are equal to or less than the stated value of such shares based on their original purchase price.  

Voting Rights  

        The holders of all series of the Company's preferred stock outstanding have full voting rights and powers equal to the voting rights and 
powers of holders of the Company's common stock and are entitled to notice of any stockholders' meeting in accordance with the Company's 
Bylaws. Holders of the Company's preferred stock are entitled to vote on any matter upon which holders of the Company's common stock have 
the right to vote, including, without limitation, the right to vote for the election of directors together with the holders of common stock as one 
class.  

Conversion Rights  

        The Series C Preferred Stock each provide the holder of such shares an optional conversion right and provide a mandatory conversion upon 
certain triggering events.  

        Right to Convert     The holder of any share or shares of Series C Preferred Stock has the right at any time, at such holder's option, to 
convert all or any lesser portion of such holder's shares of the Preferred Stock into such number of fully paid and non-assessable shares of 
Common Stock as is determined by dividing (i) the aggregate Liquidation Preference applicable to the particular series of preferred shares, plus 
accrued and unpaid dividends thereon by (ii) the applicable Conversion Value (as defined in the relevant series' Certificate of Designations, 
Rights and Preferences) then in effect for  
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11. Stockholders' Equity (Continued)  

 
such series of preferred shares. The Company is not obligated to issue any fractional shares or scrip representing fractional shares upon such 
conversion and instead shall pay the holder an amount in cash equal to such fraction multiplied by the current market price per share of the 
Company's common stock.  

        Mandatory Conversion     The Company has the option upon thirty (30) days prior written notice, to convert all of the outstanding shares of 
the Series C Preferred Stock into such number of fully paid and non-assessable shares of common stock as is determined by dividing (i) the 
aggregate Liquidation Preference of the shares of the relevant series of preferred stock to be converted plus accrued and unpaid dividends 
thereon by (ii) the applicable Conversion Value (as defined in the relevant series' Certificate of Designations, Rights and Preferences) then in 
effect, if at any time after twelve months following the Original Issue Date of each such series of preferred stock all of the following triggering 
events occur:  

          (i)  The registration statement covering all of the shares of common stock into which the particular series of preferred stock is 
convertible is effective (or all of the shares of common stock into which the preferred stock is convertible may be sold without restriction 
pursuant to Rule 144 under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended);  

         (ii)  the Daily Market Price (as defined in the applicable Certificates of Designations, Rights and Preferences) of the common stock 
crosses a specified pricing threshold for twenty of the thirty consecutive trading days prior to the date the Company provides notice of 
conversion to the holders; and  

        (iii)  the average daily trading volume (subject to adjustment for stock dividends, subdivisions and combinations) of the common 
stock for at least twenty of the thirty consecutive trading days prior to the date the Company provides notice of conversion to the holders 
exceeds 25,000 shares.  

        As of December 31, 2009, our outstanding shares of the Series C Preferred Stock were convertible into 38,233 shares of our common stock 
at a conversion price of $6.80 per share, and the applicable Daily Market Price of the common stock for triggering mandatory conversion 
equaled $18.00 per share.  

Imputed and Declared Dividends on Preferred Stock  

        The holders of our Series C Preferred Stock were entitled to receive an annual dividend at the rate of 6%, payable quarterly, through 
May 20, 2007. These dividends were payable in cash unless the closing price of our common shares for the 20 trading days immediately 
preceding the dividend payment date was equal to or greater than the conversion price of such shares, in which event the Company may have 
elected to pay the dividends to the holders in common stock. As part of this dividend, the Company paid cash of $23,000 during fiscal 2007 to 
holders of our Series C Preferred Stock. No dividends were paid to holders of our Series C Preferred Stock during the years ended December 31, 
2008 or 2009.  

Convertible Subordinated Promissory Notes  

        On June 1, 2009, the Company consummated the transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement. VGX had an aggregate of 
$4,400,000 in principal amount of convertible subordinated promissory notes, and an aggregate of $468,000 in accrued and unpaid interest on 
such notes, as of  

F-26  



Table of Contents  

 
INOVIO BIOMEDICAL CORPORATION  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)  

11. Stockholders' Equity (Continued)  

 
June 30, 2009. Pursuant to the Merger Agreement the notes were convertible at the selling stockholders' option into our common stock; the notes 
also automatically converted into the Company's common stock in the event that the Company's common stock traded at or above $2.10 per 
share for five consecutive trading days. The conversion price of the notes was $1.05 per share. As of August 4, 2009, the Company's common 
stock had traded at or above $2.10 per share for five consecutive trading days, and the notes were automatically converted into 4,600,681 shares 
of Inovio's common stock.  

Common Stock  

        In July 2009, the Company entered into a securities purchase agreement with certain institutional investors relating to the sale and issuance 
of (a) 11,111,110 shares of common stock and (b) warrants to purchase a total of 2,777,776 shares of common stock with an exercise price of 
$3.50 per share, for an aggregate purchase price of approximately $30 million. The warrants were exercisable beginning six months after 
issuance and expire six months from the date they are first exercisable. The shares of common stock and warrants were sold in units, consisting 
of one share of common stock and a warrant to purchase 0.25 of a share of common stock, at a purchase price of $2.70 per unit. The Company 
received net proceeds from the transaction of approximately $28.4 million, after deducting offering expenses. As of December 31, 2009, none of 
these warrants have been exercised.  

        Upon the closing of the Merger in June 2009, an aggregate of 41,492,757 shares of the Company's common stock were issued to the former 
stockholders of VGX, and an additional 18,794,187 shares of the Company's common stock were reserved for issuance upon exercise of the 
assumed options and warrants and conversion of the principal of and maximum interest payable on the VGX convertible debt. In August 2009 
the VGX convertible debt was automatically converted into 4,600,681 shares of the Company's common stock. VGX warrants assumed were 
ten-year warrants to purchase an aggregate of 4,923,406 shares of the Company's common stock with an exercise price ranging from $0.26 to 
$1.28 per share, exercisable at various dates from March 25, 2013 through April 28, 2016. As of December 31, 2009, none of these warrants 
have been exercised.  

        In August 2007, the Company entered into an agreement with an outside consulting advisor pursuant to which the Company issued 230,000 
registered shares of common stock and registered warrants to purchase 150,000 shares of common stock, as payment of a non-refundable 
retainer in connection with the engagement of its services. The warrants issued have an exercise price of $3.00 per share, and are exercisable 
through August 6, 2012. As of December 31, 2009, none of these warrants have been exercised.  

        In May 2007, the Company completed a registered equity financing, whereby it sold 4,595,094 shares of common stock resulting in gross 
aggregate cash proceeds of $16.2 million.  

        In March 2007, the Company entered into an agreement in which it agreed to issue a total of 90,000 restricted shares of common stock in 
equal quarterly installments in exchange for consulting services. As of December 31, 2009, the Company had issued all 90,000 restricted 
common shares.  

        In March 2007, the Company terminated its exclusive royalty-free license to IAPL allowing the Company's subsidiary to use certain of the 
Company's intellectual property, which had been issued in October 2006 prior to the ordinary share financing described below, in exchange for 
6,584,365 ordinary shares of IAPL. Upon termination the Company retained the IAPL ordinary shares received in the license transaction.  
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        In January 2007, the Company exchanged 2,201,644 restricted shares of common stock and warrants to purchase up to 770,573 restricted 
shares of common stock for 2,201,644 ordinary shares of its Singapore subsidiary Inovio Asia Pte. Ltd. (IAPL), pursuant to the terms of the 
Securities Purchase and Exchange Agreement under which the ordinary shares were originally issued by IAPL in October 2006 for $5.3 million. 
The warrants issued have an exercise price of $2.87 per share and are exercisable through October 13, 2011. As of December 31, 2009, none of 
these warrants have been exercised.  

        The Company accounts for registered common stock warrants issued in October 2006, August 2007 and July 2009 under the authoritative 
guidance on accounting for derivative financial instruments indexed to, and potentially settled in, a company's own stock, on the understanding 
that in compliance with applicable securities laws, the registered warrants require the issuance of registered securities upon exercise and do not 
sufficiently preclude an implied right to net cash settlement. The Company classifies registered warrants on the consolidated balance sheet as a 
current liability which is revalued at each balance sheet date subsequent to the initial issuance. Determining the appropriate fair-value model and 
calculating the fair value of registered warrants requires considerable judgment, including estimating stock price volatility and expected warrant 
life. The Company develops its estimates based on historical data. A small change in the estimates used may have a relatively large change in the 
estimated valuation. The Company uses the Black-Scholes pricing model to value the registered warrants. Changes in the fair market value of the 
warrants are reflected in the consolidated statement of operations as "Other income/(expense), net."  

Warrants  

        In addition to warrants granted as discussed above, the Company has issued the following additional warrants.  

        Participants in our October 2006 registered offering with foreign investors received five-year warrants to purchase an aggregate of 
1,593,821 shares of our common stock with an exercise price of $2.87 per share, exercisable through October 13, 2011. As of December 31, 
2009, none of these warrants have been exercised.  

        Participants in our December 2005 private placement were issued five-year warrants to purchase an aggregate of 3,462,451 shares of our 
common stock with an exercise price of $2.93 per share, exercisable through December 30, 2010. As of December 31, 2009, none of these 
warrants have been exercised.  

        Participants in our Series C Preferred Stock offering in May 2004 were issued five-year warrants to purchase 561,084 shares of our 
common stock at an exercise price of $8.80 per share, exercisable through May 10, 2009. The placement agents for the Series C Preferred Stock 
offering were also issued five-year warrants to purchase 152,519 shares of our common stock at an exercise price of $6.80 per share, exercisable 
through May 10, 2009. As of December 31, 2009, none of these warrants have been exercised.  

        On September 15, 2000, the Company entered into an exclusive license agreement with the University of South Florida Research 
Foundation, Inc. (USF), whereby USF granted us an exclusive, worldwide license to USF's rights in patents and patent applications generally 
related to needle electrodes ("License Agreement"). Pursuant to the License Agreement, the Company granted USF and its designees warrants to 
acquire 150,000 common shares for $9.00 per share until September 14, 2010.  
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Of the total warrants granted, 75,000 vested at the date of grant and the remainder will vest upon the achievement of certain milestones. The 
75,000 non-forfeitable vested warrants were valued at $554,000 using the Black-Scholes pricing model and were recorded as other assets with a 
credit to additional paid-in capital. The remaining 75,000 warrants are forfeitable and will be valued at the fair value on the date of vesting using 
the Black- Scholes pricing model. As of December 31, 2009, no warrants issued in connection with this licensing agreement had been exercised.  

        In December 2009, a warrant to purchase 50,000 shares of our common stock which was issued in connection with the leasing of our 
corporate headquarters, expired.  

        In July 2008, warrants to purchase 2,001,552 shares of our common stock which were issued in connection with our Series A and B 
Preferred Stock offerings, expired.  

Stock options  

        The Company has one active stock and cash-based incentive plan, the Amended and Restated 2007 Omnibus Incentive Plan (the "Incentive 
Plan"), pursuant to which the Company has granted stock options and restricted stock awards to executive officers, directors and employees. The 
plan was adopted on March 31, 2007, approved by the stockholders on May 4, 2007, approved by the stockholders as amended on May 2, 2008, 
and approved by the stockholders as amended and restated on August 25, 2009. The Incentive Plan reserves 3,750,000 shares of common stock 
for issuance as or upon exercise of incentive awards granted and to be granted at future dates. At December 31, 2009, the Company had 426,126 
shares of common stock available for future grant under the plan, and 240,000 shares of vested restricted stock and options to purchase 
2,913,661 shares of common stock outstanding under the plan. The awards granted and available for future grant under the Incentive Plan 
generally vest over three years and have a maximum contractual term of ten years. The Incentive Plan terminates by its terms on March 31, 
2017.  

        The Incentive Plan supersedes all of the Company's previous stock option plans, which include the 1997 Stock Option Plan, under which 
the Company had options to purchase 3,750 shares of common stock outstanding and the Amended 2000 Stock Option Plan, under which the 
Company had options to purchase 2,313,120 shares of common stock outstanding at December 31, 2009. The terms and conditions of the options 
outstanding under these plans remain unchanged.  

        Total compensation cost for our stock plans recognized in the consolidated statement of operations for the years ended December 31, 2009, 
2008 and 2007 was $1.8 million, $1.0 million, and $1.6 million, respectively, of which $595,000, $286,000 and $354,000 was included in 
research and development expenses and $1.2 million, $746,000 and $1.2 million was included in general and administrative expenses, 
respectively.  

        At December 31, 2009 and 2008, there was $1.4 million and $752,000 of total unrecognized compensation cost, respectively, related to 
unvested stock options, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.5 years and one year, respectively.  

        The fair value of options granted to non-employees at the measurement dates were estimated using the Black-Scholes pricing model. Total 
stock-based compensation for options granted to non-employees for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 was $339,000, $58,000, 
and $119,000, respectively. As of December 31, 2009 and 2008, 4,159,619 and 1,076,031 options remained outstanding, respectively.  
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        The following table summarizes total stock options outstanding at December 31, 2009:  

        At December 31, 2009, the aggregate intrinsic value of options outstanding was $1.5 million, the aggregate intrinsic value of options 
exercisable was $1.5 million, and the weighted average remaining contractual term of options exercisable was 6.1 years.  

        At December 31, 2008, the aggregate intrinsic value of options outstanding was $9,000, the aggregate intrinsic value of options exercisable 
was $2,000, and the weighted average remaining contractual term of options exercisable was 6.3 years.  

        Stock option activity under our stock option plans was as follows:  

        The weighted average exercise price was $3.01 for the 742,094 options which expired during the year ended December 31, 2009, $3.56 for 
the 233,185 options which expired during the year ended December 31, 2008 and $6.36 for the 118,250 options which expired during the year 
ended December 31, 2007.  
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     Options outstanding   Options exercisable   

Exercise price   
Options  

outstanding   

Weighted-average  
remaining  

contractual life  
(in years)   

Weighted average  
exercise price   

Options  
exercisable   

Weighted-average  
exercise price   

$0.00 - $1.00      1,796,870     5.6   $ 0.34     1,795,398   $ 0.34   
$1.01 - $2.00      9,242,959     7.3   $ 1.36     6,639,342   $ 1.33   
$2.01 - $4.00      1,722,961     5.0   $ 2.95     1,697,057   $ 2.96   
$4.01 - $6.00      310,499     4.0   $ 4.95     310,499   $ 4.95   
$6.01 - $8.00      65,000     3.4   $ 6.22     65,000   $ 6.22   
$8.01 - $22.00      3,750     0.1   $ 16.52     3,750   $ 16.52   
                              

    13,142,039     6.6   $ 1.54     10,511,046   $ 1.57   
    

  

              

  

        

     
Number of  

shares   
Weighted-average  

exercise price   
Balance, December 31, 2006      2,798,900   $ 3.22   
Granted      963,125     3.20   
Exercised      (94,563 )   2.31   
Cancelled      (202,000 )   4.57   
    

  
        

Balance, December 31, 2007      3,465,462     3.15   
Granted      1,474,500     0.86   
Exercised      (1,250 )   0.87   
Cancelled      (321,998 )   3.14   
              

Balance, December 31, 2008      4,616,714     2.42   
Stock options assumed in merger      9,082,681     1.04   
Granted      1,902,000     1.52   
Exercised      (1,428,475 )   0.57   
Cancelled      (1,030,881 )   2.58   
              

Balance, December 31, 2009      13,142,039   $ 1.54   
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INOVIO BIOMEDICAL CORPORATION  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)  

11. Stockholders' Equity (Continued)  

        The weighted average grant date fair value per share was $1.21 for options granted during the year ended December 31, 2009, $0.46 for 
options granted during the year ended December 31, 2008 and $2.51 for options granted during the year ended December 31, 2007.  

        The aggregate intrinsic value of options exercised was $1.6 million during the year ended December 31, 2009, $0 during the year ended 
December 31, 2008 and $95,000 during the year ended December 31, 2007.  

        The Company has no nonvested restricted shares as of December 31, 2009. A summary of the activity during the year is as follows:  

        As of December 31, 2009, there was no unrecognized compensation cost related to nonvested stock-based compensation arrangements.  

        VGX AH, has adopted a 2007 equity incentive plan for the issuance of options to employees and consultants. There were 145,000 options 
granted during the year ended December 31, 2009 with a weighted average exercise price of $0.75. At December 31, 2009, there were 1,800,167 
options outstanding, 1,070,750 options exercisable and 199,833 options available for future grants under the plan. There were no options 
exercised or cancelled during the year ending December 31, 2009.  

        Total compensation cost for the VGX AH stock plan that has been recognized in the consolidated statement of operations for the year ended 
December 31, 2009 was $85,000, of which $28,000 was included in research and development expenses and $57,000 was included in general 
and administrative expenses, respectively. At December 31, 2009 there was $100,000 of total unrecognized compensation cost related to 
unvested stock options, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of one year.  

        As of March 9, 2010, our corporate headquarters is located at 450 Sentry Parkway East in Blue Bell, Pennsylvania. Our corporate office in 
Blue Bell is leased space for 7,050 square feet and expires on April 30, 2010. On May 1, 2010, the office will relocate to 1787 Sentry Park West 
in Blue Bell, Pennsylvania. This new lease was signed on December 19, 2009 and runs through April 30, 2016. The annual rent for the 
approximately 6,442 square feet property will be $122,000 for the first year, $126,000 for the second year, $129,000 for the third year, $132,000 
for the fourth year, $135,000 for the fifth year and $139,000 for the sixth year. At the end of the lease term, we have the option of renewing this 
lease for an additional three-year lease term at an annual rate equal to the fair market rental value of the property, as defined in the lease 
agreement.  
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Number of  

shares   

Weighted-average  
grant-date  
fair value   

Nonvested at January 1, 2009      138,750   $ 2.55   
Granted      —    —  
Vested      (138,750 )   2.55   
              

Nonvested at December 31, 2009      —  $ —  
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INOVIO BIOMEDICAL CORPORATION  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)  

12. Commitments  

        The corporate office in San Diego is located at 11494 Sorrento Valley Road in San Diego, California. This lease originally ran through 
February 28, 2010 and was renewed and amended on July 17, 2009. Beginning on March 1, 2010, the remaining leased space is approximately 
11,300 square feet and the lease will run through August 31, 2013. The annual rent based on the new lease terms is $160,000 in the first year, 
$196,000 in the second year, $223,000 for third year and $122,000 in the fourth year. At the end of the lease term, we have the option of 
renewing this lease for an additional five-year lease term at an annual rate equal to the fair market rental value of the property, as defined in the 
lease agreement.  

        In November 2007, VGX signed an amended facility lease in The Woodlands, TX for offices of our majority owned subsidiary VGX 
Animal Health, Inc. The leased space is for 13,185 square feet and expires on October 31, 2017. The annual rent for the leased space will be 
approximately $244,000 for the first year, $247,000 for the second year, $251,000 for the third year, $254,000 for the fourth year, $257,000 for 
the fifth year, $260,000 for the sixth year, $264,000 for the seventh year, $267,000 for the eighth year, $270,000 for the ninth year, and $274,000 
for the tenth year. In June 2008, a sublease agreement was executed between VGX and our related party VGX Int'l, whereby 87.5% of the lease 
expenses will be reimbursed to VGX monthly through the end of the lease term.  

        Rent expense was $599,000, $422,000, and $490,000 for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively. This amount is 
net of sublease income of $346,000, 103,000 and $38,000, respectively. Future minimum lease payments under non-cancelable operating leases 
as of December 31, 2009 are as follows:  

        In the normal course of business, the Company is a party to a variety of agreements pursuant to which they may be obligated to indemnify 
the other party. It is not possible to predict the maximum potential amount of future payments under these types of agreements due to the 
conditional nature of our obligations and the unique facts and circumstances involved in each particular agreement. Historically, payments made 
by us under these types of agreements have not had a material effect on our business, consolidated results of operations or financial condition.  

13. Investment in Affiliated Entity  

        The Company's investment in an affiliated entity represents the Company's 19.65% ownership interest in the Korean-based company, VGX 
International, Inc. ("VGX Int'l"). This investment is measured at fair value on a recurring basis. The fair market value of the Company's interest 
in VGX Int'l was determined using the closing price of VGX Int'l's shares of common stock as listed on the Korean Stock Exchange as of 
December 31, 2009.  
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2010    $ 631,433   
2011      581,522   
2012      607,842   
2013      550,918   
2014      398,458   
Thereafter      949,975   
        

Total    $ 3,720,148   
    

  

  



Table of Contents  

 
INOVIO BIOMEDICAL CORPORATION  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)  

14. Income Taxes  

        In accordance with the guidance pursuant to accounting for income taxes, a deferred tax asset or liability is determined based on the 
difference between the financial statement and tax basis of assets and liabilities as measured by the enacted tax rates which will be in effect when 
these differences reverse. The Company provides a valuation allowance against net deferred tax assets unless, based upon the available evidence, 
it is more likely than not that the deferred tax asset will be realized.  

        The components of the (benefit) provision for income taxes are presented in the following table:  

        The reconciliation of income taxes attributable to operations computed at the statutory tax rates to income tax expense (recovery), using a 
35% statutory tax rate, is:  

        The income tax expense (recovery) has been recorded as a reduction to general and administrative expenses, as its effect is immaterial.  
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As of  
December 31,  

2009   

As of  
December 31,  

2008   

As of  
December 31,  

2007   
Current:                      
  Federal    $ (30,000 ) $ —  $ —  
  State      —    —    —  
  Foreign      —    —    —  
                

  $ (30,000 ) $ —  $ —  
    

  

  

  

  

  

  

Deferred:                      
  Federal    $ —  $ —  $ —  
  State      —    —    —  
  Foreign      (887,000 )   (63,000 )   327,000   
                

    (917,000 )   (63,000 ) $ 327,000   
    

  

  

  

  

  

  

     

Year ended  
December 31,  

2009   

Year ended  
December 31,  

2008   

Year ended  
December 31,  

2007   
Income (benefit) 

taxes at statutory 
rates    $ (8,859,000 ) $ (4,538,000 ) $ (3,786,000 ) 

State income tax, 
net of federal 
benefit      (1,287,000 )   (668,000 )   (742,000 ) 

Change in valuation 
allowance      6,134,000     5,328,000     (6,445,000 ) 

IRC Section 382 
limitation      —    —    12,749,000   

Fair value warrant      450,000     50,000     (1,192,000 ) 
Expiring tax 

attributes      881,000               
Unrecognized tax 

positions      585,000               
Other      1,179,000     (235,000 )   (257,000 ) 
    

  
  

  
  

  
  

  $ (917,000 ) $ (63,000 ) $ 327,000   
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INOVIO BIOMEDICAL CORPORATION  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)  

14. Income Taxes (Continued)  

        Significant components of the Company's deferred tax assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2009 and 2008 are shown below:  

        We have established a valuation allowance for all deferred tax assets including those for net operating loss ("NOL") and tax credit 
carryforwards. Such a valuation allowance is recorded when it is more likely than not that the deferred tax assets will not be realized.  

        The net deferred tax liability of $887,000 as of December 31, 2008, resulted from the acquisition of Inovio AS and reflects the net effect of 
temporary differences between the carrying amount of intangible assets for financial statement reporting purposes and the amount used for 
income tax purposes. The liability will be amortized over the life of the underlying intangible, which is 18 years and will be accounted for as an 
income tax recovery. During the fourth quarter of 2009, this intangible asset was transferred to the Company upon liquidation of the two 
Norwegian subsidiaries. For 2010 and beyond, the deferred tax liability from this intangible is applied to reduce the net deferred tax asset before 
valuation allowance as it is considered a source of taxable income in the Unites States.  

        As of December 31, 2009, the Company had federal, California and Pennsylvania tax net operating loss carry forwards of approximately 
$106.2 million, $67.5 million and $33.9 million, respectively. The federal loss carry forwards will begin to expire in 2019 unless previously 
utilized. The California loss carry forwards will begin to expire in 2013 and the Pennsylvania loss carry forwards will begin to expire in 2021.  

        In addition, we had federal and state research tax credit carryforwards of approximately $2.6 million and $1.6 million, respectively. The 
federal tax credit carryforwards will begin to expire in 2022. The California research tax credits do not expire.  

        Utilization of the NOL and tax credit carryforwards will be subject to a substantial annual limitation under Section 382 of the Internal 
Revenue Code of 1986, and similar state provisions due to ownership change limitations that have occurred previously or that could occur in the 
future. These ownership changes will limit the amount of NOL and tax credit carryforwards and other deferred tax  

F-34  

     

As of  
December 31,  

2009   

As of  
December 31,  

2008   
Deferred tax assets:                
  Capitalized research expense    $ 5,402,000   $ 3,566,000   
  Net operating loss carry 

forwards      42,405,000     24,891,000   
  Research and development and 

other tax credits      2,518,000     2,152,000   
  Other      3,056,000     4,049,000   
            

    53,381,000     34,658,000   
Valuation allowance      (49,260,000 )   (34,658,000 ) 
            

Total deferred tax assets      4,121,000     —  
            

Deferred tax liabilities:                
  Acquired intangibles    $ (2,899,000 )       
  Investment in affiliated entity      (1,222,000 )   (887,000 ) 
            

Net deferred tax liabilities      0     (887,000 ) 
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)  

14. Income Taxes (Continued)  

 
assets that can be utilized to offset future taxable income and tax, respectively. In general, an ownership change, as defined by Section 382, 
results from transactions increasing ownership of certain stockholders or public groups in the stock of the corporation by more than 
50 percentage points over a three-year period. An analysis was performed of ownership activity through December 31, 2008 which indicated that 
multiple ownership changes have occurred in previous years which created annual limitations on the Company's ability to utilize NOL and tax 
credit carryovers. Such limitations will result in approximately $12.7 million of tax benefits related to NOL and tax credit carryforwards that will 
expire unused. Accordingly, the related NOL and R&D credit carryforwards have been removed from deferred tax assets accompanied by a 
corresponding reduction of the valuation allowance. Due to the existence of the valuation allowance, limitations created by future ownership 
changes, if any, related to our operations in the U.S. will not impact our effective tax rate. The Company is in the process of updating the study 
for the Company and VGX, both of which likely experienced ownership changes under Section 382 as a result of the merger. Therefore, NOLs 
and R&D credit carryforwards will be subject to annual limitations. Upon completion of the study, deferred tax assets relating to NOL and R&D 
credit carryforwards for the Company and VGX may need to be removed from the table with a corresponding reduction of the valuation 
allowance. Any additional ownership changes, may further limit the ability to use the net operating losses and credits carryovers.  

        The following table summarizes the activity related to our unrecognized tax benefits:  

        The amount of unrecognized tax benefit that, if recognized and realized, that would affect the effective tax rate is $585,000 as of 
December 31, 2009. The Company has not recorded any interest and penalties on the unrecognized tax positions as the Company has continued 
to generate net operating losses after accounting for the unrecognized tax benefits. The Company does not anticipate that the total amount of 
unrecognized tax benefits will significantly increase or decrease within 12 months of the reporting date.  

        The Company and its subsidiaries are subject to U.S. federal income tax as well as income tax in multiple state and foreign jurisdictions. 
With few exceptions, the Company is no longer subject to U.S. federal income tax examinations for years before 2006; state and local income 
tax examinations before 2005; and foreign income tax examinations before 2006. However, to the extent allowed by law, the tax authorities may 
have the right to examine prior periods where net operating losses were generated and carried forward, and make adjustments up to the amount 
of the net operating loss carryforward amount. The Company is not currently under Internal Revenue Service ("IRS"), state or local tax 
examination.  
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     2009   2008   2007   
Balance at beginning of the year      —    —    —  
Increases related to current year tax 

positions      —    —    —  
Increases related to prior year tax 

positions    $ 629,000     —    —  
Expiration of the statue of limitations 

for the assessment of taxes      —    —    —  
Other      —    —    —  
                

Balance at end of the year    $ 629,000     —    —  
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)  

15. 401(k) Plan  

        In 1995, the Company's U.S. subsidiary adopted a 401(k) Profit Sharing Plan (the "Plan") covering substantially all of its employees. The 
defined contribution plan allows the employees to contribute a percentage of their compensation each year. The Company currently matches 
50% of its employees' contributions, up to 6% of their annual compensation. The Company's contributions are recorded as expense in the 
accompanying consolidated statements of operations and totaled $41,000, $58,000 and $55,000 for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 
and 2007, respectively.  

16. Segment Information  

        In the fourth quarter of 2009, the Company's wholly-owned Norwegian subsidiaries, Inovio AS and Inovio Tec AS were dissolved and 
operations transferred to the United States. Prior to the dissolution of these subsidiaries, the Company operated in one business segment in the 
United States and Europe. Revenues are attributable to the geographical area based on the location of the customer. During the year ending 
December 31, 2009, revenues in Europe and the United States totaled $57,000 and $9.1 million, respectively. During the year ending 
December 31, 2008 revenues in Europe and the United States totaled $285,000 and $1.8 million, respectively, and during the year ending 
December 31, 2007 revenues in Europe and the United States totaled $267,000 and $4.5 million, respectively. As of December 31, 2009 all long-
lived assets totaling $23.1 million exist within the United States. Prior to the dissolution of our Norwegian operations, long-lived assets within 
the United States consisted primarily of patents and other intellectual property and outside the United States consisted primarily of goodwill and 
intangible assets. As of December 31, 2008, long-lived assets in Europe and the United States totaled $7.1 million and $2.7 million, respectively, 
and as of December 31, 2007, long-lived assets in Europe and the United States totaled $7.7 million and $2.8 million, respectively.  

17. Related Party Transactions  

        The Company conducts transactions with its affiliated entity, VGX Int'l (See Note 13).  

        For the year ended December 31, 2009, the Company recognized revenue from VGX Int'l of $59,000 which consisted of milestone fees, 
device lease fees and consulting and other fees. Operating expenses related to VGX Int'l for the year ended December 31, 2009 include 
$1.7 million related to manufacturing and engineering services as well as $56,000 for regulatory and technical support and other consulting 
services received. At December 31, 2009 we had an accounts receivable balance of $59,000 from VGX Int'l and its subsidiaries.  

        For the year ended December 31, 2009, the Company received sublease income from VGX Int'l of $126,000 for the facility in The 
Woodlands, TX, which offset the Company's lease expense.  

        Dr. J. Joseph Kim, our CEO, Young Park, the Company's corporate secretary and Bryan Kim, the Company's vice president of Asian 
operations, currently constitute three of the four members of VGX Int'l's board of directors and receive customary compensation from VGX Int'l 
for their service in such capacity. Dr. Kim also served as chief executive officer of VGX Int'l prior to our acquisition of VGX 
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. in June 2009. Bryan Kim currently serves as the president and chief executive officer of VGX Int'l.  
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18. Supplemental Disclosures of Cash Flow Information  
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Year ended  
December 31,  

2009   

Year ended  
December 31,  

2008   

Year ended  
December 31,  

2007   
Supplemental schedule of financing activities:                      

Interest paid    $ 166,178   $ 31,170   $ —  

Supplemental schedule of non-cash activities:                      

Issuance of common stock and stock options and 
warrants assumed in connection with acquisition of 
VGX Pharmaceuticals,  Inc.     $ 31,293,226   $ —  $ —  

Conversion of long-term debt and accrued interest to 
common stock.     $ 4,830,715   $ —  $ —  

Conversions of preferred stock to common stock    $ 66   $ 113   $ 961   
Leasehold improvements financed by landlord    $ —  $ 35,211   $ 92,486   
Conversion of minority interest into common stock    $ —  $ —  $ 5,349,995   
Cashless exercise of warrants    $ —  $ —  $ 38   
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19. Quarterly Financial Information (Unaudited)  

        The following unaudited quarterly financial information reflects all normal recurring adjustments, which are, in the opinion of management, 
necessary for a fair statement of the results of the interim periods. The four quarters for per share figures may not add for the year because of the 
different number of shares outstanding during the year. The results of operations for any period are not necessarily indicative of the results to be 
expected for any future period. Summarized unaudited quarterly data for the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008, are as follows:  
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Quarter Ended  
December 31,  

2009   

Quarter Ended  
September 30,  

2009   

Quarter Ended  
June 30,  

2009   

Quarter Ended  
March 31,  

2009   
Consolidated Statement of 

Operations:                            
Revenue:                            
License fee and milestone 

payments    $ 297,598   $ 2,143,239   $ 2,275,374   $ 213,098   
Revenue under collaborative 

research and development 
arrangements      (63,664 )   32,885     102,317     54,458   

Grants and miscellaneous revenue      2,378,677     1,470,337     113,898     101,894   
                    

Total revenue      2,612,611     3,646,461     2,491,589     369,450   
Operating Expenses:                            
Research and development      3,851,400     3,412,130     1,181,194     963,733   
General and administrative      2,571,792     3,830,703     4,300,772     2,966,142   
                    

Total operating expenses      6,423,192     7,242,833     5,481,966     3,929,875   
    

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

Loss from operations      (3,810,581 )   (3,596,372 )   (2,990,377 )   (3,560,425 ) 
Interest income/(expense), net      25,196     (26,620 )   (29,931 )   33,648   
Other income/(expense), net      1,849,722     (2,903,174 )   (267,678 )   62,282   
(Loss)/gain from investment in 

affiliated entity      (5,440,217 )   3,564,283     (7,368,680 )   —  
                    

Net loss    $ (7,375,880 )   (2,961,883 )   (10,656,666 )   (3,464,495 ) 
Net loss attributable to non-

controlling interest      30,012     13,697     3,730     —  
                    

Net loss attributable to Inovio 
Biomedical Corporation    $ (7,345,868 ) $ (2,948,186 ) $ (10,652,936 ) $ (3,464,495 ) 

    

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

Loss per common share—basic 
and diluted:                            

Net loss attributable to Inovio 
Biomedical Corporation 
stockholders    $ (0.07 ) $ (0.03 ) $ (0.19 ) $ (0.08 ) 

    

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

Weighted average number of 
common shares—basic and 
diluted      102,417,873     93,909,945     57,303,620     44,035,480   
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19. Quarterly Financial Information (Unaudited) (Continued)  

   

20. Subsequent Events  

        On March 24, 2010, we entered into a Collaboration and License Agreement (the "Agreement") with VGX Int'l. Under the Agreement, 
Inovio granted VGX Int'l an exclusive license to Inovio's SynCon TM universal influenza vaccine delivered with electroporation to be developed 
in certain countries in Asia (the "Product").  

        As consideration for the license granted to VGX Int'l, the Company will receive a research and development initiation fee, as well as 
research support, annual license maintenance fees and royalties on net Product sales. In addition, contingent upon achievement of clinical and 
regulatory milestones, the Company will receive development payments over the term of the Agreement. The Agreement also provides the 
Company with exclusive rights to supply devices for clinical and commercial purposes (including single use components) to VGX Int'l for use in 
the Product.  

        The term of the Agreement commenced upon execution and will extend on a country by country basis until the last to expire of all Royalty 
Periods for the territory (as such term is defined in the Agreement) for any Product in that country, unless the Agreement is terminated earlier in 
accordance with its provisions as a result of breach, by mutual agreement, or by VGX Int'l's right to terminate without cause upon prior written 
notice.  
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Quarter Ended  
December 31,  

2008   

Quarter Ended  
September 30,  

2008   

Quarter Ended  
June 30,  

2008   

Quarter Ended  
March 31,  

2008   
Consolidated Statement of 

Operations:                            
Revenue:                            
License fee and milestone 

payments    $ 179,823   $ 214,825   $ 203,924   $ 192,829   
Revenue under collaborative 

research and development 
arrangements      (81,240 )   239,912     459,110     460,185   

Grants and miscellaneous revenue      228,264     —    —    —  
                    

Total revenue      326,847     454,737     663,034     653,014   
Operating Expenses:                            
Research and development      1,199,455     1,274,387     1,679,264     1,597,388   
General and administrative      2,588,989     1,928,928     3,086,180     2,401,505   
                    

Total operating expenses      3,788,444     3,203,315     4,765,444     3,998,893   
    

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

Loss from operations      (3,461,597 )   (2,748,578 )   (4,102,410 )   (3,345,879 ) 
Interest income, net      56,708     97,008     191,371     298,749   
Other income, net      (170,844 )   307,162     (112,733 )   25,421   
    

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

Net loss attributable to common 
stockholders    $ (3,575,733 ) $ (2,344,408 )   (4,023,772 )   (3,021,709 ) 

    

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

Amounts per common share—basic 
and diluted:                            

Net loss attributable to common 
stockholders    $ (0.08 ) $ (0.05 ) $ (0.09 ) $ (0.07 ) 

    

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

Weighted average number of 
common shares—basic and 
diluted      44,011,800     43,929,654     43,874,739     43,837,739   
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SHORT FORM  LEASE  
   
   

Between  
   

SENTRY PARK WEST L.L.C.,  
   

as Landlord,  
   
   

and  
   

INOVIO BIOMEDICAL CORPORATION,  
   

as Tenant  
   
   

Building:  
1787 Sentry Park West  

Blue Bell, PA  
   

 



   
THIS LEASE is made on the            day of                   , 2009 between SENTRY PARK WEST L.L.C., a Pennsylvania limited liability 

company, whose address is c/o Mack-Cali Realty Corporation, 343 Thornall Street, Edison, New Jersey 08837-2206 (who is referred to in this 
Lease as “ Landlord ”) and INOVIO BIOMEDICAL CORPORATION, a Delaware corporation, whose address is 11494 Sorrento Valley Road, 
San Diego, CA 92121 (who is referred to in this Lease as “ Tenant ”).    This Lease consists of the following Basic Lease Provisions and 
Definitions and the attached General Conditions and Exhibits.  The Basic Lease Provisions and Definitions are referred to in this Lease as the “ 
Basic Lease Provisions .”  
   

BASIC LEASE PROVISIONS  
   

1.              BASE PERIOD COSTS means the following:  
   
a)      Base Operating Costs: Operating Costs incurred during the Calendar Year.  
   
b)     Base Real Estate Taxes: Real Estate Taxes incurred during the Calendar Year.  
   
c)      Base Insurance Costs:  Insurance Costs incurred during the Calendar Year.  

   
2.              BUILDING means 1787 Sentry Park West L.L.C.  
   
3.              CALENDAR YEAR means the calendar year 2010.  
   
4.              COMMENCEMENT DATE means May 1, 2010, subject to Article 20 of this Lease.  
   
5.              DEMISED PREMISES OR PREMISES mean and are agreed and deemed to be 6,442 gross rentable square feet on the 

fourth (4 ) floor as shown on Exhibit A to this Lease, which includes an allocable share of the Common Facilities.  
   

6.              EXPIRATION DATE means 11:59 p.m. on the last day of the month in which the day prior to the seventh (7 ) year 
anniversary of the Commencement Date occurs.  

   
7.              FIXED BASIC RENT means the following:  

   

   
Provided that the Lease is in full force and effect and Tenant is not in default hereunder, Tenant shall have no obligation to pay the 

Monthly Installments of Fixed Basic Rent for the 2 , 6 , 10 , 14  and 18  full calendar months of the Term.  
   
8.              HVAC AFTER HOURS CHARGE is $20.00 per hour per unit for heat and air conditioning, subject to Section 17 (b) of the 

Lease. The HVAC After Hours Charge is subject to increase from time to time to reflect the increase in the cost of providing such after hours 
HVAC service.  

   
9.              NOTICE ADDRESSES shall mean the following:  

   
If to Tenant: at the Building  
   
If to Landlord by personal or overnight delivery:  
   
c/o Mack-Cali Realty Corporation  
343 Thornall Street  
Edison, New Jersey 08837-2206  
Attention: Executive Vice President and General Counsel  
   
If to Landlord by mail:  
   
c/o Mack-Cali Realty Corporation  
P.O. Box 7817  
Edison, New Jersey 08818-7817  
Attention: Executive Vice President and General Counsel  
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Months  
   Annual Rate  

   Monthly Installments  
   Annual Per Sq. Ft. Rate  

   
1-12  

   $ 122,398.00 
   $ 10,199.83 

   $ 19.00 
   

13-24  
   $ 125,619.00 

   $ 10,468.25 
   $ 19.50 

   
25-36  

   $ 128,840.00 
   $ 10,736.67 

   $ 20.00 
   

37-48  
   $ 132,061.00 

   $ 11,005.08 
   $ 20.50 

   
49-60  

   $ 135,282.00 
   $ 11,273.50 

   $ 21.00 
   

61-72  
   $ 138,503.00 

   $ 11,541.92 
   $ 21.50 

   

th 

th 

nd th th th th 



   
10.            PARKING SPACES means a total of twenty-six (26) unassigned parking spaces.  

   
11.            SECURITY DEPOSIT means TWENTY THOUSAND THREE HUNDRED NINETY-NINE AND 66/100 DOLLARS 

($20,399.66) in the form of cash.  
   
12.            TENANT ’S BROKER means Skyline Commercial Real Estate.  
   
13.            TENANT ’S PERCENTAGE means and is agreed and deemed to be 6.78%.  

   
DEFINITIONS  

   
1.              ADDITIONAL RENT means all money, other than the Fixed Basic Rent, payable by Tenant to Landlord under the Lease, 
including, but not limited to, the monies payable by Tenant to Landlord pursuant to Exhibits G and H of this Lease.  
   
2.              BUILDING HOLIDAYS means the holidays shown on Exhibit E and all days observed as holidays by the United States, 
State, or labor unions representing individuals servicing the Building in behalf of Landlord; if there be no such labor unions, such 
definition shall include holidays designated by Landlord for the benefit of such individuals.  
   
3.              BUILDING HOURS means Monday through Friday, 8:00 a.m. to 6:00 p.m., but excluding Building Holidays. 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, Tenant shall have access to the Building 24/7/365 via the Building’s after-hour access system, except in 
the case of an emergency.  
   
4.              COMMON FACILITIES means and includes the lobby; elevator(s); fire stairs; public hallways; public lavatories; all other 
general Building components, facilities and fixtures that service or are available to more than one tenant; air conditioning mechanical 
rooms; fan rooms; janitors’ closets; electrical and telephone closets serving more than one tenant; elevator shafts and machine rooms; 
flues; stacks;  pipe shafts and vertical ducts with their enclosing walls; and structural components of the Building.  

   
Whenever the word “includes” or “including” is used in this Lease, it means “includes but is not limited to” and “including but not 
limited to,” respectively.  

   
5.              EXHIBITS are the following:  

   

   
The Exhibits are attached at the back of this Lease and are a part of this Lease.  

   
6.              LEGAL REQUIREMENTS means all present and future laws and ordinances of federal, state, municipal and county 
governments, and rules, regulations, orders and directives of departments, subdivisions, bureaus, agencies or offices of such 
governments, or any other governmental, public or quasi-public authorities having jurisdiction over the Building, and the directions of 
any public officer pursuant to law.  
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Exhibit A  
   Location of Premises  

Exhibit B  
   Rules and Regulations  

Exhibit C  
   Workletter Agreement  

Exhibit D  
   Cleaning Services  

Exhibit E  
   Building Holidays  

Exhibit F  
   Commencement Date Agreement  

Exhibit G  
   Tax and Operating Cost Rider  

Exhibit H  
   Electricity Rider  



   
7.              PRIME means the so-called annual prime rate of interest established and quoted by The Wall Street Journal (or its successor), 
from time to time, but in no event greater than the highest lawful rate from time to time in effect.  
   
8.              PERMITTED USE means general office use consistent with a first class office building and for no other purpose.  
   
9.              REAL PROPERTY means the Building, the land upon which the Building stands, together with adjoining parking areas, 
sidewalks, driveways, landscaping and land.  
   
10.            STATE means the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania.  
   
11.            TERM means the period of time beginning on the Commencement Date and ending on the Expiration Date.  

   
   End of Basic Lease Provisions and Definitions   
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General Conditions  

   
1.                                       LEASE:  
   

Landlord has leased the Premises to Tenant for the Term.  
   

1.  LEASE:  1 
        
2.  FIXED BASIC RENT:  1 
        
3.  USE AND OCCUPANCY:  1 
        
4.  CARE AND REPAIR OF PREMISES:  1 
        
5.  ALTERATIONS, ADDITIONS OR IMPROVEMENTS:  1 
        
6.  ASSIGNMENT AND SUBLEASE:  2 
        
7.  COMPLIANCE WITH RULES AND REGULATIONS:  3 
        
8.  DAMAGES TO BUILDING:  3 
        
9.  EMINENT DOMAIN:  3 
        
10.  LANDLORD ’S REMEDIES ON DEFAULT:  3 
        
11.  DEFICIENCY:  4 
        
12.  SUBORDINATION:  4 
        
13.  SECURITY DEPOSIT:  4 
        
14.  RIGHT TO CURE TENANT ’S BREACH:  4 
        
15.  LIENS:  4 
        
16.  RIGHT TO INSPECT AND REPAIR:  4 
        
17.  SERVICES TO BE PROVIDED BY LANDLORD:  5 
        
18.  TENANT ’S ESTOPPEL:  5 
        
19.  HOLDOVER TENANCY:  5 
        
20.  LANDLORD ’S WORK; COMMENCEMENT:  5 
        
21.  OVERDUE RENT CHARGE/INTEREST:  6 
        
22.  INSURANCE:  6 
        
23.  INDEMNITY:  7 
        
24.  BROKER:  7 
        
25.  PERSONAL LIABILITY:  7 
        
26.  NOTICES:  7 
        
27.  AUTHORITY:  7 
        
28.  PARKING SPACES  7 
        
29.  RELOCATION:  7 
        
30.  MISCELLANEOUS:  7 



2.                                       FIXED BASIC RENT:  
   

Tenant will pay Landlord the Fixed Basic Rent. The Fixed Basic Rent payable for the entire Term will be the aggregate of the Annual 
Rate set forth in the Basic Lease Provisions and will be payable, in advance, on the first day of each calendar month during the Term at 
the Monthly Installments set forth in the Basic Lease Provisions, except that a proportionately lesser amount will be paid for the first 
month of the Term if the Term commences on a day other than the first day of the month.  Tenant will pay the first (1 ) full monthly 
installment of Fixed Basic Rent upon Tenant’s execution and delivery of this Lease.  Tenant will pay Fixed Basic Rent, and any 
Additional Rent, to Landlord at Landlord’s address set forth in the first paragraph of this Lease, or at such other place as Landlord may 
designate in writing, without demand and without counterclaim, deduction or set off.  
   

3.                                       USE AND OCCUPANCY:  
   

Tenant will use the Premises solely for the Permitted Use.  
   

Neither Tenant, nor anyone acting by or through Tenant, will generate, handle, dispose, store or discharge any hazardous substances or 
wastes as defined by Legal Requirements in, on or around the Premises, the Building or the Real Property in violation of any Legal 
Requirements (such actions collectively referred to as “ Prohibited Actions ”).  Tenant will defend, indemnify and hold Landlord 
harmless against any and all loss, cost, damage, liability or expense (including attorneys’ fees and disbursements) which Landlord may 
sustain as a result of any Prohibited Actions.  
   

4.                                       CARE AND REPAIR OF PREMISES:  
   

Tenant will not commit any act that damages the Premises or Building and will take good care of the Premises, and will comply with all 
Legal Requirements affecting the Premises or the Tenant’s use and/or occupancy of the Premises.  Landlord will, at Tenant’s expense, 
make all necessary repairs to the Premises.  Landlord will make all necessary repairs to the Common Facilities.  The cost of repairs to 
the Common Facilities will be included in Operating Costs, except where the repair has been made necessary by misuse or neglect by 
Tenant or Tenant’s agents, employees, contractors, invitees, visitors or licensees (collectively, “ Tenant’s Agents ”), in which event 
Landlord will nevertheless make the repair but Tenant will pay to Landlord, as Additional Rent, upon demand, the cost incurred by 
Landlord to complete such repairs.  All improvements made by Tenant prior to or after the commencement of the Term which are 
attached to the Premises will, at Landlord’s option, become the property of Landlord upon the expiration or sooner termination of this 
Lease.  At Tenant’s request, Landlord shall notify Tenant prior to any improvements made by Tenant whether Landlord will require 
such improvements to be removed upon the Expiration Date. Not later than the last day of the Term, Tenant will, at Tenant’s expense, 
remove from the Building all of Tenant’s personal property and those improvements made by Tenant which Landlord has not elected by 
notice to Tenant to retain as Landlord’s property, as well as all trade fixtures (other than built-in cabinet work), moveable partitions, 
workstation modules, telephone, computer, data and antenna wiring, cabling and related conduit and the like.  Tenant will repair all 
injury done by or in connection with the installation or removal of said property, improvements, wiring and the like; cap or terminate all 
telephone, computer and data connections at service entry panels in accordance with Legal Requirements; and surrender the Premises in 
as good condition as they were at the beginning of the Term, except for reasonable wear and damage by casualty or other cause not due 
to the misuse or neglect by Tenant and/or Tenant’s Agents.  All property of Tenant remaining on the Premises after the last day of the 
Term will be conclusively deemed abandoned and may be removed and discarded or stored at Tenant’s risk by Landlord, and Tenant 
will pay Landlord for the cost of such removal, discarding and/or storage. Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary, 
Tenant shall remove all installations that are “non-standard office improvements”. For purposes hereof, “ non-standard office 
improvements ” shall mean raised flooring, interior staircases, vaults, elevators, modifications to the Building’s utility and mechanical 
systems and unusual configuration for first class office space that were not part of the Work (including Change Orders) as provided in 
Paragraph 20 and Exhibit C. Tenant shall repair any damage to the Premises resulting from such removal.  
   
Tenant is responsible for all costs related to the repair and maintenance of any additional or supplemental HVAC systems, appliances 
and equipment serving exclusively the Premises or installed to meet Tenant’s specific requirements.  Tenant will purchase and maintain 
throughout the Term an annual full maintenance and service contract for this equipment and will forward a copy of each proposed 
contract to Landlord for its approval prior to signing it.  
   

5.                                       ALTERATIONS, ADDITIONS OR IMPROVEMENTS:  
   

Tenant will not, without first obtaining the written consent of Landlord, make any alterations, additions or improvements (collectively, 
“ alterations ”) in, to or about the Premises.  Unless the alterations affect the Common Facilities or Building Systems or would 
otherwise require a building permit, Landlord will not unreasonably withhold or delay its consent.  Building Systems include the life 
safety, plumbing, electrical, heating, ventilation and air conditioning systems in the Building.  Tenant may, upon prior notice to 
Landlord, perform minor cosmetic improvements, such as painting and wallpapering, without the prior consent of Landlord. As part of 
Landlord’s consent to Tenant’s alterations, upon Tenant’s request, Landlord shall state in writing whether Tenant will be required to 
remove such alterations upon the Expiration Date.  

   
If Tenant shall request the consent or approval of Landlord to the making of any alterations or to any other thing, and Landlord shall 
seek and pay a separate fee for the opinion of Landlord’s counsel, architect, engineer or other representative or agent as to the form or 
substance thereof, Tenant shall pay Landlord, as Additional Rent, within 30 days after demand, all reasonable costs and expenses of 
Landlord incurred in connection therewith, including, in case of any alterations, costs and expenses of Landlord in reviewing plans and 
specifications.  
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6.                                       ASSIGNMENT AND SUBLEASE :  
   

Tenant will not mortgage, pledge, assign or otherwise transfer this Lease or sublet all or any portion of the Premises in any manner 
except as specifically provided for in this Article 6:  
   

a)                                       If Tenant desires to assign this Lease or sublease all or part of the Premises, the terms and conditions of such 
assignment or sublease will be communicated by Tenant to Landlord in writing no less than thirty (30) days prior to the effective date of 
such sublease or assignment.  Prior to such effective date, Landlord will have the option, upon notice to Tenant, to terminate the Lease, 
(i) in the case of subletting, solely as to that portion of the Premises to be sublet, or (ii) in the case of an assignment, as to all of the 
Premises, and in such event, Tenant will be fully released from its obligations with respect to the terminated space (“ Recapture Space 
”) accruing from and after the effective date.  If Landlord terminates the Lease as to the Recapture Space, in no event will Landlord be 
liable for a brokerage commission in connection with the proposed assignment or sublet. If Landlord recaptures the Recapture Space, 
Tenant shall be responsible for fifty percent (50%) of the cost for all alterations required to separate the Recapture Space from the 
balance of the Premises, including, but not limited to, construction of demising walls and separation of utilities.  

   
b)                                      In the event that the Landlord elects not to terminate the Lease as to the Recapture Space, Tenant may assign this 

Lease or sublet the whole or any portion of the Premises, subject to Landlord’s prior written consent, which consent will not be 
unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed, subject to the following terms and conditions and provided the proposed occupancy is 
in keeping with that of a first-class office building:  

   
i)                                          Tenant will provide to Landlord the name, address, nature of the business and evidence of the financial 

condition of the proposed assignee or sublessee;  
   
ii)                                       The assignee will assume, by written instrument, all of the obligations of the Tenant under this Lease, and a 

copy of such assumption agreement will be furnished to Landlord within ten (10) days of its execution.  No further assignment of this 
Lease or subletting all or any part of the Premises will be permitted;  

   
iii)                                    Each sublease will provide that sublessee’s rights will be no greater than those of Tenant, and that the 

sublease is subject and subordinate to this Lease and to the matters to which this Lease is or will be subordinate, and that in the event of 
default by Tenant under this Lease, Landlord may, at its option, have such sublessee will attorn to Landlord provided, however, in such 
case Landlord will not (i) be liable for any previous act or omission of Tenant under such sublease or, (ii) be subject to any offset not 
expressly provided for in this Lease or by any previous prepayment of more than one month’s rent;  

   
iv)                                   The liability of Tenant and each assignee will be joint, several and primary for the observance of all the 

provisions, obligations and undertakings of this Lease, including the payment of Fixed Basic Rent and Additional Rent through the 
entire Term, as the same may be renewed, extended or otherwise modified;  

   
v)                                      Tenant will promptly pay to Landlord fifty percent (50%) of any consideration received for any assignment 

or fifty percent (50%) of the rent (fixed basic rent and additional rent) and any other consideration payable by the subtenant to Tenant 
under or in connection with a sublease, as and when received, in excess of the Fixed Basic Rent required to be paid by Tenant for the 
area sublet, which shall be adjusted to credit any reasonable, out-of-pocket, customary expenditures made by Tenant for purposes of 
obtaining the subtenant, including brokerage commissions and tenant improvement costs;  

   
vi)                                   The acceptance by Landlord of any rent from the assignee or from any subtenant or the failure of Landlord 

to insist upon strict performance of any of the terms, conditions and covenants of this Lease will release neither Tenant, nor any 
assignee assuming this Lease, from the Tenant’s obligations set forth in this Lease;  

   
vii)                                The proposed assignee or subtenant is not then an occupant of any part of the Building;  
   
viii)                             The proposed assignee or subtenant is not an entity or a person or an affiliate of an entity with whom 

Landlord is or has been, within the preceding twelve (12) month period, negotiating to lease space in the Building or any other building 
owned by Landlord or its affiliates within a five-mile radius of the Building;  

   
ix)                                     There will not be more than one (1) subtenant in the Premises;  
   
x)                                        Tenant will not advertise the subtenancy for less than Landlord’s then current market rent for the Premises;  
   
xi)                                     Tenant will pay Landlord a FIVE HUNDRED AND 00/100 DOLLAR ($500.00) administrative fee for 

each request for consent to any sublet or assignment simultaneously with Tenant’s request for consent to a specific sublet or 
assignment, provided that consent is not unreasonably denied; and  

   
xii)                                  The proposed assignee or subtenant will use the Premises for the Permitted Use only.  
   

c)                                       If Tenant is a corporation (other than a corporation whose stock is listed and traded on a nationally recognized stock 
exchange), the transfer (however accomplished, whether in a single transaction or in a series of related or unrelated transactions) of a 
majority of the issued and outstanding stock [or any other mechanism such as, by way of example, the issuance of additional stock, a 
stock voting agreement or change in class(es) of stock which results in a change of control of Tenant], and if Tenant is a partnership, 



joint venture or limited liability company (collectively “ Entity ”), the transfer (by one or more transfers) of an interest in the 
distributions of profits and losses of such Entity (or other mechanism, such as, by way of example, the creation of additional partnership 
or limited liability company interests) which results in a change of control of such Entity will be deemed an assignment of this Lease, 
subject to provisions of this Article.  
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Notwithstanding anything contained in this Lease to the contrary, Tenant may assign this Lease or sublet all or any portion of the 
Premises to (i) any corporation or other Entity directly or indirectly controlling or controlled by Tenant or under common control with 
Tenant, or (ii) any successor by merger, consolidation, corporate reorganization or acquisition of all or substantially all of the assets of 
Tenant even if Tenant is not the surviving entity (any transaction referred to in clauses (i) or (ii) hereof will be a “ Permitted Transfer 
”) provided that the net worth of any transferee of a Permitted Transfer will not be less than the greater of (A) the net worth of Tenant 
immediately preceding the Permitted Transfer or (B) the net worth of Tenant as of the date of the execution and delivery of this Lease 
by both parties.  Any other assignment or subleasing of Tenant’s interest under this Lease will be subject to Landlord’s approval, which 
approval will not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed.  
   

d)                                      Except as specifically set forth above, if any portion of the Premises or of Tenant’s interest in this Lease is acquired 
by any other person or entity, whether by assignment, mortgage, sublease, transfer, operation of law or act of the Tenant, or if Tenant 
pledges its interest in this Lease or in any security deposit required hereunder, Tenant will be in default.  

   
7.                                       COMPLIANCE WITH RULES AND REGULATIONS:  
   

Tenant will observe and comply with the rules and regulations set forth in Exhibit B and with such further reasonable rules and 
regulations as Landlord may prescribe from time to time.  
   

8.                                       DAMAGES TO BUILDING:  
   

If the Building is damaged by fire or any other cause to such extent that the cost of restoration, as reasonably estimated by Landlord, 
will equal or exceed twenty-five (25%) percent of the replacement value of the Building (exclusive of foundations) just prior to the 
occurrence of the damage, then Landlord may, no later than the sixtieth (60th) day following the damage, give Tenant a notice electing 
to terminate this Lease.  In such event, this Lease will terminate on the thirtieth (30th) day after the giving of such notice, and Tenant 
will surrender possession of the Premises on or before such date.  If this Lease is not terminated pursuant to this Article, Landlord will 
restore the Building and the Premises with reasonable promptness, subject to Force Majeure, as defined in Article 30 e)  below, and 
subject to the availability and adequacy of the insurance proceeds.  Landlord shall not be obligated to restore fixtures and improvements 
owned by Tenant.  
   
In any case in which use of the Premises is affected by any damage to the Building, there will be either an abatement or an equitable 
reduction in Fixed Basic Rent, depending on the period for which and the extent to which the Premises are not reasonably usable for 
general office use. The words “restoration” and “restore” as used in this Article will include repairs.  
   

9.                                       EMINENT DOMAIN:  
   

If Tenant’s use of the Premises is materially affected due to the taking by eminent domain of (a) the Premises or any part thereof; or 
(b) any other part of the Building; then, in either event, this Lease will terminate on the date when title vests pursuant to such taking.  
The Fixed Basic Rent, and any Additional Rent, will be apportioned as of such termination date and any Fixed Basic Rent or Additional 
Rent paid for any period beyond said date, will be repaid to Tenant.  Tenant will not be entitled to any part of the award for such taking 
or any payment in lieu thereof, but Tenant may file a separate claim for any taking of fixtures and improvements owned by Tenant 
which have not become the Landlord’s property, and for moving expenses, provided the same will, in no way, affect or diminish 
Landlord’s award.  In the event of a partial taking which does not effect a termination of this Lease but does deprive Tenant of the use 
of a portion of the Premises, there will be either an abatement or an equitable reduction in Fixed Basic Rent, depending on the period 
for which and the extent to which the Premises are not reasonably usable for general office use.  
   

10.                                LANDLORD’S REMEDIES ON DEFAULT:  
   

If Tenant defaults in the payment of Fixed Basic Rent or any Additional Rent or in the performance of any of the other covenants and 
conditions of this Lease or permits the Premises to become deserted, abandoned or vacated, Landlord shall give Tenant notice of such 
default, and if Tenant does not cure any Fixed Basic Rent or Additional Rent default within five (5) days or other default within thirty 
(30) days after the giving of such notice (or if such other default is of such nature that it cannot be completely cured within such period, 
if Tenant does not commence such curing within such thirty (30) days and thereafter proceed with reasonable diligence and in good 
faith to cure such default), then Landlord may terminate this Lease or Tenant’s right to possession upon not less than ten (10) additional 
days notice to Tenant, and on the date specified in such notice Tenant’s right to possession of the Premises will cease, but Tenant will 
remain liable as provided below in this Lease.  If this Lease or Tenant’s right to possession will have been so terminated by Landlord, 
Landlord may at any time thereafter recover possession of the Premises by any lawful means and remove Tenant or other occupants and 
their effects.  Landlord may, at Tenant’s expense, relet all or any part of the Premises and may make such alterations, decorations or 
other changes to the Premises as Landlord considers appropriate in connection with such reletting, without relieving Tenant of any 
liability under this Lease. Tenant shall pay to Landlord, on demand, such expenses as Landlord may incur, including, without limitation, 
court costs and reasonable attorney’s fees and disbursements, in enforcing the performance of any obligation of Tenant under this 
Lease.  
   
Tenant hereby waives all right of redemption to which Tenant or any person under Tenant might be entitled by any Legal Requirement.  
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11.                                DEFICIENCY:  
   

In any case where Tenant has defaulted and Landlord has recovered possession of the Premises or terminated this Lease or Tenant’s 
right to possession, Tenant’s obligation to pay Landlord all the Fixed Basic Rent and Additional Rent up to and including the Expiration 
Date will not be discharged or otherwise affected.  Landlord will have all rights and remedies available to Landlord at law and in equity 
by reason of Tenant’s default, and may periodically sue to collect the accrued obligations of the Tenant together with interest at Prime 
plus four percent per annum from the date owed to the date paid, but in no event greater than the maximum rate of interest permitted by 
law.  
   
Alternatively, in any case where Landlord has recovered possession of the Premises by reason of Tenant’s default, Landlord may at 
Landlord’s option, and at any time thereafter, and without notice or other action by Landlord, and without prejudice to any other rights 
or remedies it might have hereunder or at law or equity, become entitled to recover from Tenant, as damages for such breach, in 
addition to such other sums herein agreed to be paid by Tenant, to the date of re-entry, expiration and/or dispossess, an amount equal to 
the difference between the Fixed Basic Rent and Additional Rent reserved in this Lease from the date of such default to the date of 
Expiration Date of the original Term and the then fair and reasonable rental value of the Premises for the same period. Said damages 
shall become due and payable to Landlord immediately upon such breach of this Lease and without regard to whether this Lease be 
terminated or not, and if this Lease be terminated, without regard to the manner in which it is terminated. In the computation of such 
damages, the difference between an installment of Fixed Basic Rent and Additional Rent thereafter becoming due and the fair and 
reasonable rental value of the Premises for the period for which such installment was payable shall be discounted to the date of such 
default at the rate of not more than six percent (6%) per annum.  
   

12.                                SUBORDINATION:  
   

This Lease will, at the option of any holder of any underlying lease or holder of any first mortgage or first trust deed, be subject and 
subordinate to any such underlying lease and to any first mortgage or first trust deed which may now or hereafter affect the Real 
Property, and also to all renewals, modifications, consolidations and replacements of such underlying leases and first mortgage or first 
trust deed provided, that Lessor shall use commercially reasonable efforts to obtain a non-disturbance agreement from the holder of any 
such underlying lease, mortgage or trust deed. Any expenses charged by the mortgagee in connection with the obtaining of the aforesaid 
agreement shall be paid by Tenant.  Although no instrument or act on the part of Tenant will be necessary to effectuate such 
subordination, Tenant will, nevertheless, within ten (10) days prior written request by Landlord, execute and deliver such further 
instruments confirming such subordination of this Lease as may be desired by the holders of such first mortgage or first trust deed or by 
any of the lessors under such underlying leases.  If any underlying lease to which this Lease is subject terminates, Tenant will, on timely 
request, recognize and acknowledge the owner of the Real Property as Tenant’s landlord under this Lease.  
   
Landlord represents that there currently is no mortgage encumbering the Building.  

   
13.                                SECURITY DEPOSIT :  
   

Tenant will deposit with Landlord on the signing of this Lease by Tenant, the Security Deposit for the performance of Tenant’s 
obligations under this Lease, including the surrender of possession of the Premises to Landlord in the condition required under this 
Lease.  If Landlord applies all or any part of the Security Deposit to cure any default of Tenant, Tenant will, on demand, deposit with 
Landlord the amount so applied so that Landlord will have the full Security Deposit on hand at all times during the Term.  In the event 
of a bona fide sale of the Real Property, subject to this Lease, Landlord will transfer the Security Deposit to the purchaser, and Landlord 
will be considered released by Tenant from all liability for the return of the Security Deposit; and Tenant agrees to look solely to the 
new landlord for the return of the Security Deposit, and it is agreed that this will apply to every transfer or assignment made of the 
Security Deposit to a new landlord.  Provided Tenant is not in default, the Security Deposit (less any portions of it previously used, 
applied or retained by Landlord), will be returned to Tenant after the expiration or sooner termination of this Lease and delivery of the 
entire Premises to Landlord in accordance with the provisions of this Lease.  Tenant will not assign, pledge or otherwise encumber the 
Security Deposit, and Landlord will not be bound by any such assignment, pledge or encumbrance.  
   

14.                                RIGHT TO CURE TENANT’S BREACH:  
   

If Tenant breaches any covenant or condition of this Lease, Landlord may, on prior notice to Tenant (except that no notice need be 
given in case of emergency), cure such breach at the expense of Tenant, and the reasonable amount of all expenses, including attorney’s 
fees, incurred by Landlord in so doing (whether paid by Landlord or not) will be deemed payable on demand as Additional Rent.  
   

15.                                LIENS:  
   

Tenant will not permit any lien or other encumbrance to be filed as a result of any act or omission (or alleged act or omission) of 
Tenant. Tenant will, within ten (10) days after notice from Landlord, discharge or satisfy by bonding or otherwise any liens filed against 
Landlord or all or any portion of the Real Property as a result of any such act or omission, including any lien or encumbrance arising 
from contract or tort claims.  
   

16.                                RIGHT TO INSPECT AND REPAIR:  
   

Landlord or its designees may enter the Premises (but will not be obligated to do so) at any reasonable time on reasonable notice to 
Tenant (except that no notice need be given in case of emergency) for the purpose of: (i) inspection; (ii) performance of any work or the 
making of such repairs, replacements or additions in, to, on and about the Premises or the Building, as Landlord deems necessary or 
desirable; or (iii) showing the Premises to prospective purchasers, mortgages and tenants.  Tenant will provide Landlord or its designees 
free and unfettered access to any mechanical or utility rooms, conduits, risers or the like located within the Premises.  Landlord or any 
prospective tenant shall have the right, upon at least twenty-four (24) hours written notice, to enter the space to perform inspections, 
surveys, measurements or such other reasonable activities as may be necessary to prepare the Premises for occupancy by the succeeding 



tenant so long as such actions do not materially interfere with the conduct of Tenant’s business. Tenant will have no claims, including 
claims for interruption of Tenant’s business, or cause of action against Landlord by reason of entry for such purposes.  
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17.                                SERVICES TO BE PROVIDED BY LANDLORD:  
   

a)                                       Landlord will furnish to the Premises (i) electricity for normal lighting and ordinary office machines, (ii) during 
Building Hours, HVAC required for the reasonable use and occupancy of the Premises, and (iii) janitorial service (as set forth in 
Exhibit D), all in a manner comparable to that of similar buildings in the area. In addition, Landlord shall provide Common Facilities 
lighting at the Real Property during Building Hours and for such additional hours as, in Landlord’s judgment, is necessary or desirable 
to insure proper operation of the Real Property.  
   

b)                                      Tenant will be entitled to make use of HVAC beyond the Building Hours, at Tenant’s sole cost and expense.  Tenant 
will pay Landlord the HVAC After Hours Charge (as defined in the Basic Lease Provisions) for HVAC beyond the Building Hours.  

   
18.                                TENANT’S ESTOPPEL :  
   

Tenant will, from time to time, on not less than ten (10) business days prior written request by Landlord, execute, acknowledge and 
deliver to Landlord an estoppel certificate containing such information as Landlord may reasonably request.  
   

19.                                HOLDOVER TENANCY:  
   

Tenant agrees that it must surrender possession of the Premises to Landlord on the Expiration Date or earlier termination of the Term.  
Tenant agrees to indemnify and hold Landlord harmless from and against all liabilities, obligations, damages, penalties, claims, costs, 
charges and expenses, including attorneys’ fees, resulting from any delay by Tenant in so surrendering the Premises, including any 
claims made by any succeeding tenant based on such delay. Tenant agrees that if possession of the Premises is not surrendered to 
Landlord on the Expiration Date or earlier termination of the Term, then Tenant agrees to pay Landlord as liquidated damages for each 
month and for any portion of a month during which Tenant holds over in the Premises after the Expiration Date or earlier termination of 
the Term, a sum equal to 200% of the average Fixed Basic Rent and Additional Rent which was payable per month under this Lease 
during the last three months of the Term.  Such liquidated damages shall not limit Tenant’s indemnification obligation with respect to 
claims made by any succeeding tenant based on Tenant’s failure or refusal to surrender the Premises to Landlord on the Expiration Date 
or sooner termination of the Term.  Nothing contained herein shall be deemed to authorize Tenant to remain in occupancy of the 
Premises after the Expiration Date or sooner termination of the Term.  
   

20.                                LANDLORD’S WORK; COMMENCEMENT:  
   

a) Landlord agrees that, prior to the Commencement Date, Landlord will perform and complete work in the Premises in 
accordance with Exhibit C of this Lease so as to provide a turnkey fit-out of the Premises (the “ Work ”).  

   
b) In addition to the requirements of Exhibit C with respect to “substantial completion”, a satisfactory inspection of the Work 

by the applicable governmental authority allowing the Premises to be legally occupied for the Permitted Use and allowing Tenant to 
commence business operations, which may be later evidenced by a (temporary or final) Certificate of Occupancy (although the date of 
issuance may be other than the Commencement Date), will constitute sufficient evidence to demonstrate that Landlord has performed 
the Work and the Term has commenced, subject to the Punch List.  

   
c) Notwithstanding anything contained in this Lease to the contrary, if Tenant (or anyone having rights under or through 

Tenant) shall occupy all or any part of the Premises and commence business operations prior to the date Landlord has completed the 
Work, then the Commencement Date shall be deemed to occur on such date that Tenant (or anyone claiming under or through Tenant) 
shall occupy all or any part of the Premises for the purpose of commencing business operations.  
   

d) Notwithstanding anything contained in this Lease to the contrary, if Landlord, for any reason whatsoever cannot deliver 
possession of the Premises to Tenant on the Commencement Date set forth in the Basic Lease Provisions, this Lease will not be void or 
voidable, nor will Landlord be liable to Tenant for any loss or damage resulting therefrom, but in that event, the Term will commence 
on the earlier of: (i) the date Landlord delivers possession of the Premises to Tenant or (ii) the date Landlord would have delivered 
possession of the Premises to Tenant but for any reason attributable to Tenant.  

   
e)  Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary, provided that Tenant shall execute and deliver this Lease to 

Landlord on or before December 11, 2009, if Landlord has not delivered possession of the Premises to Tenant on or before May 1, 
2010, due to reasons other than Force Majeure or Tenant’s own acts or omissions, Landlord shall, as Tenant’s sole remedy, reimburse 
Tenant for: (i) all “holdover” costs actually incurred by Tenant pursuant to of its current lease with 450 Sentry Parkway Associates 
dated January 21, 2005  (hereinafter “Current Lease”), accruing from May 1, 2010 through and including the day immediately 
preceding the Commencement Date hereof (the “Holdover Period”), to the extent such holdover rent for the Holdover Period exceeds 
the base monthly rent reserved in the Current Lease for the last month of the term thereof; provided, however, that Landlord’s 
obligation hereunder shall not exceed $939.22 per day for the Holdover Period.  Provided that (i) the Lease is in full force and effect, 
(ii) Tenant is not in default hereunder, (iii) Tenant takes occupancy of the Premises and (iv) Tenant delivers to Landlord documentation 
reasonably satisfactory to Landlord evidencing Tenant’s actual payment of such holdover costs, Landlord shall reimburse such costs 
promptly upon presentation of evidence of payment of such fees by Tenant. Landlord shall have no obligation to reimburse Tenant for 
any holdover rental accruing as a result of Force Majeure or Tenant’s own acts or omissions. Tenant shall use reasonable efforts to 
minimize any holdover rent payable by Tenant under the Current Lease.  
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21.                                OVERDUE RENT CHARGE/INTEREST :  
   

a) Tenant will pay an “ Overdue Rent Charge ” of eight percent (8%) of any installment of Fixed Basic Rent or Additional 
Rent which Tenant fails to pay within ten (10) days after the due date thereof, to cover the extra expense involved in handling non-
payments and/or delinquent payments.  The Overdue Rent Charge will constitute Additional Rent and an agreed upon amount of 
liquidated damages and not a penalty.  

   
b) Any amount owed by Tenant to Landlord which is not paid when due will bear interest at the lesser of (i) the rate of two 

percent (2%) per month from the due date of such amount, or (ii) maximum legal interest rate permitted by law. The payment of interest 
on such amounts will not extend the due date of any amount owed.  

   
c) Notwithstanding anything in this Article to the contrary, Landlord shall waive a Late Charge one time during each Lease 

Year provided, however, the installment of Fixed Basic Rent or Additional Rent so due is paid by the fifteenth (15th) day of the month.  
However, any payment received subsequent to the fifteenth (15th) of the month during these grace periods shall require a Late Charge 
to be reassessed and added to Tenant’s obligations hereunder.  
   

22.                                INSURANCE:  
   

a)                                       Tenant’s Insurance.   On or before the Commencement Date or Tenant’s prior entry into the Premises, Tenant will 
obtain and have in full force and effect, insurance coverage as follows:  

   
(i)                                      workers’ compensation in an amount required by law; (ii) commercial general liability with a per 
occurrence limit of One Million Dollars ($1,000,000) and a general aggregate of Three Million Dollars ($3,000,000) 
for bodily injury and property damage on an occurrence basis and containing an endorsement naming Landlord, its 
agents, designees and lender as additional insureds, an aggregate limit per location endorsement (if any), and no 
modification that would make Tenant’s policy excess or contributing with Landlord’s liability insurance; (iii) all 
risk property insurance for the full replacement value of all of Tenant’s furniture, fixtures, equipment, alterations, 
improvements or additions that do not become Landlord’s property upon installation; and (iv) any other form or forms 
of insurance or any increase in the limits of any of the coverages described above or other forms of insurance as 
Landlord or the mortgagees or ground lessors (if any) of Landlord may reasonably require from time to time if in the 
reasonable opinion of Landlord or said mortgagees or ground lessors said coverage and/or limits become inadequate 
or less than that commonly maintained by prudent tenants with similar uses in similar buildings in the area.  All 
policies obtained by Tenant will be issued by carriers having ratings in Best’s Insurance Guide (“ Best ”) of A and 
VIII, or better (or equivalent rating by a comparable rating agency if Best no longer exists) and licensed in the State.  
All such policies must be endorsed to be primary and noncontributing with the policies of Landlord being exces s, 
secondary and noncontributing.  No policy will be canceled, nonrenewed or materially modified without thirty (30) 
days’ prior written notice by the insurance carrier to Landlord.  If the forms of policies, endorsements, certificates, or 
evidence of insurance required by this Article are superseded or discontinued, Landlord may require other equivalent 
or better forms.  Evidence of the insurance coverage required to be maintained by Tenant, represented by certificates 
of insurance issued by the insurance carrier, must be furnished to Landlord prior to Tenant occupying the Premises 
and at least thirty (30) days prior to the expiration of current policies.  Copies of all endorsements required by this 
Article must accompany the certificates delivered to Landlord.  The certificates will state the amounts of all 
deductibles and self-insured retentions and that Landlord will be notified in writing thirty (30) days prior to 
cancellation, material change, or non-renewal of insurance.  If requested in writing by Landlord, Tenant will provide 
to Landlord a certified copy of any or all insurance policies or endorsements required by this Article.  
   

b)                                      Tenant will not do or allow anything to be done on the Premises which will increase the rate of fire insurance on the Building 
from that of a general office building.  If any use of the Premises by Tenant results in an increase in the fire insurance rate
(s) for the Building, Tenant will pay Landlord, as Additional Rent, any resulting increase in premiums.  Tenant’s insurance 
obligations set forth in Section 22 a) (i) and (ii) above shall continue in effect throughout the Term and after the Term as long 
as Tenant, or anyone claiming by, through or under Tenant, occupies all or any part of the Premises.  

   
c)                                       Waiver of Claims. Landlord and Tenant hereby waive all claims and release each other and each other’s employees, agents, 

customers and invitees from any and all liability for any loss, damage or injury to property occurring in, on, about or to the 
Premises or the Building by reason of fire or other casualty, regardless of cause, including the negligence of Landlord or 
Tenant and their respective employees, agents, customers and invitees, and agree that the property insurance carried by either 
of them will contain a clause whereby the insurer waives its right of subrogation against the other party.  Each party to this 
Lease will give to its insurance company notice of the provisions of this Section 22 c) and have such insurance policies 
properly endorsed, if necessary, to prevent the invalidation of such insurance by reason of the provisions of this Section c).  
Each party shall bear the risk of its own deductibles.  Landlord and Tenant acknowledge that the insurance requirements of this 
Lease reflect their mutual recognition and agreement that each party will look to its own insurance and that each can best 
insure against loss to its property and business no matter what the cause.  If Tenant fails to maintain insurance or self insures 
for loss including, without limitation, business interruption, Tenant shall be deemed to have released Landlord for all loss or 
damage which would have been covered if Tenant had so insured.  

   
d)                                      Building Insurance. Landlord will at all times during the Term carry a policy of insurance which insures the Building, 

including the Premises and the Work, if any, against loss or damage by fire or other casualty (namely, the perils against which 
insurance is afforded by a standard fire insurance policy); provided, however, that Landlord will not be responsible for, and 
will not be obligated to insure against, any loss of or damage to any personal property or trade fixtures of Tenant or any 



alterations which Tenant may make to the Premises or any loss suffered by Tenant due to business interruption.  All insurance 
maintained by Landlord pursuant to this Article may be effected by blanket insurance policies.  
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23.                                INDEMNITY:  
   

Tenant will defend, indemnify and hold Landlord and its agents harmless from and against any and all claims, actions or proceedings, 
costs, expenses and liabilities, including attorneys fees and disbursements incurred in connection with each such claim, action or 
proceeding, whether in contract or tort, arising from Tenant’s use and occupancy of the Premises, including Tenant’s negligent acts or 
omissions at the Real Property.  In case any action or proceeding be brought against Landlord by reason of any such claim, Tenant, 
upon notice from Landlord, will, at Tenant’s expense, resist and defend such action or proceeding with counsel acceptable to Landlord.  
   

24.                                BROKER:  
   

Tenant represents and warrants to the Landlord that no broker brought about this transaction, except Tenant’s Broker and Tenant agrees 
to indemnify and hold Landlord harmless from any and all claims of any broker(s) (other than Tenant’s Broker) arising out of or in 
connection with the negotiations of or entering into of this Lease by Tenant and Landlord. Landlord shall pay a leasing commission to 
Tenant’s Broker per the terms of a commission agreement to be entered into between Landlord and Tenant’s Broker.  
   

25.                                PERSONAL LIABILITY:  
   

There will be no personal liability on the part of Landlord, its constituent members (including officers, directors, partners, members and 
trustees) and their respective successors and assigns or any mortgagee in possession, with respect to any of the terms, covenants and 
conditions of this Lease, and Tenant will look solely to the equity of Landlord in the Building for the satisfaction of each and every 
remedy of Tenant in the event of any breach by Landlord of any of the terms of this Lease to be performed by Landlord, such 
exculpation of liability to be absolute and without any exceptions whatsoever.  
   

26.                                NOTICES:  
   

Any notice by either party to the other shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been duly given only if (i) delivered personally or 
(ii) sent by registered mail or certified mail return receipt requested in a postage paid envelope or (iii) sent by nationally recognized 
overnight delivery service, if to Tenant, at the Building; if to Landlord, at Landlord’s address as set forth above to the attention of 
President and Chief Executive Officer, with a copy to the attention of the Executive Vice President and General Counsel; or, to either at 
such other address as Tenant or Landlord, respectively, may designate in writing.  Notice shall be deemed to have been duly given, if 
delivered personally, on delivery thereof, if mailed, upon the third (3 ) day after the mailing thereof or if sent by overnight delivery 
service, the next business day.  
   

27.                                AUTHORITY:  
   

The signatories on behalf of Tenant represent and warrant that they are authorized to execute this Lease, and if Tenant is a corporation 
or other Entity, Tenant will, within fifteen (15) days of Landlord’s request, provide Landlord with a resolution confirming the 
authorization. Tenant represents and warrants to Landlord (i) that neither Tenant nor any person or entity that directly owns a ten 
percent (10%) or greater equity interest in Tenant nor any of its officers, directors or managing members (collectively, “ Tenant and 
Others in Interest ”) is a person or entity with whom U.S. persons or entities are restricted from doing business under regulations of 
the Office of Foreign Asset Control (“ OFAC ”) of the Department of the Treasury (including those named on OFAC’s Specially 
Designated and Blocked Persons List) or under any statute, executive order (including Executive Order 13224 signed on September 24, 
2001 (the “ Executive Order ”) and entitled “Blocking Property and Prohibiting Transactions with Persons Who Commit, Threaten to 
Commit, or Support Terrorism”), or other governmental action, (ii) that Tenant and Others in Interest’s activities do not violate the 
International Money Laundering Abatement and Financial Anti-Terrorism Act of 2001 or the regulations or orders promulgated 
thereunder (as amended from time to time, the “ Money Laundering Act ”), and (iii) that throughout the Term Tenant will comply 
with the Executive Order and the Money Laundering Act.  
   

28.                                PARKING SPACES  
   

Tenant’s occupancy of the Premises will include the use of the parking spaces set forth in the Basic Lease Provisions.  Tenant will, 
upon request, promptly furnish to Landlord the license numbers of the cars operated by Tenant and its subtenants, invitees, 
concessionaires, licensees and their respective officers, agents and employees.  If any vehicle of Tenant, or of any subtenant, invitee, 
licensee, concessionaire, or their respective officers, agents or employees, is parked in any part of the Real Property other than those 
portions of the parking area(s) designated for this purpose by Landlord, or if Tenant shall exceed the number of parking spaces allocated 
to Tenant in the Basic Lease Provisions, then, in addition to Landlord’s rights and remedies provided in this Lease, Tenant will pay to 
Landlord $100.00 per day.  
   

29.                                RELOCATION:  
   

Intentionally omitted.  
   

30.                                MISCELLANEOUS:  
   

a)                                                               If any of the provisions of this Lease, or the application of such provisions, will be invalid or unenforceable, the 
remainder of this Lease will not be affected, and this Lease will be valid and enforceable to the fullest extent permitted by law.  

   
b)                                                              The submission of this Lease for examination does not constitute a reservation of, or option for, the Premises, 

and this Lease is submitted to Tenant for signature with the understanding that it will not bind Landlord unless and until it has been 
executed by Landlord and delivered to Tenant or Tenant’s attorney or agent and until the holder of any mortgage will have 
unconditionally approved this Lease, to the satisfaction of Landlord, if such approval is required under the terms of such mortgage.  

rd 



   
c)                                                               No representations or promises will be binding on the parties to this Lease except those representations and 

promises expressly contained in the Lease.  
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d)                                                              The article headings in this Lease are intended for convenience only and will not be taken into consideration in 

any construction or interpretation of this Lease or any of its provisions.  
   
e)                                                               Force Majeure means and includes those situations beyond either party’s reasonable control, including acts of 

God; strikes; inclement weather; or, where applicable, the passage of time while waiting for an adjustment of insurance proceeds, 
except that such passage of time shall not adversely effect Tenant’s right to an abatement of Fixed Basic Rent or Additional Rent as 
otherwise provided in the Lease.  Any time limits required to be met by either party hereunder, whether specifically made subject to 
Force Majeure or not, except those related to the surrender of the Premises by the end of the Term or payment of Fixed Basic Rent or 
Additional Rent, will, unless specifically stated to the contrary elsewhere in this Lease, be automatically extended by the number of 
days by which any required performance is delayed due to Force Majeure.  

   
f)                                                                 Tenant consents to the receipt of electronic messages from Landlord or its affiliates, but not for purposes of 

“Notice” under Paragraph 26 of the Lease.  
   
g)                                                              No payment by Tenant or receipt by Landlord of a lesser amount than the Fixed Basic Rent and Additional Rent 

payable hereunder will be deemed to be other than a payment on account of the earliest stipulated Fixed Basic Rent and Additional 
Rent, nor will any endorsement or statement on any check or any letter accompanying any check or payment of Fixed Basic Rent or 
Additional Rent be deemed an accord and satisfaction, and Landlord may accept such check or payment without prejudice to Landlord’s 
right to recover the balance of such Fixed Basic Rent and Additional Rent or to pursue any other remedy provided herein or by law.  

   
h)                                                              No failure by either party to insist upon the strict performance of any covenant, agreement, term or condition of 

this Lease, or to exercise any right or remedy upon a breach of any such covenant, agreement, term or condition, and no acceptance by 
Landlord of full or partial rent during the continuance of any such breach by Tenant, will constitute a waiver of any such breach or of 
such covenant, agreement, term or condition unless otherwise agreed to by the parties in writing.  No consent or waiver, express or 
implied, by either party to or of any breach of any covenant, condition or duty of the other party will be construed as a consent or 
waiver to or of any other breach of the same or any other covenant, condition or duty, unless such consent or waiver is in writing and 
signed by the party granting such consent or waiver.  

   
i)                                                                  Landlord covenants that if, and so long as, Tenant pays Fixed Basic Rent and any Additional Rent as required 

under this Lease, and performs Tenant’s other covenants under the Lease, Landlord will do nothing to affect Tenant’s right to peaceably 
and quietly have, hold and enjoy the Premises for the Term, subject to the provisions of this Lease.  

   
j)                                                                  The provisions of this Lease will apply to, bind and inure to the benefit of Landlord and Tenant and their 

respective heirs, successors, legal representatives and assigns.  The term “Landlord” as used in this Lease means only the owner or a 
master lessee of the Building, so that in the event of any sale of the Building or of any master lease thereof, the Landlord named herein 
will be and hereby is entirely freed and relieved of all covenants and obligations of Landlord under this Lease accruing after such sale, 
and it will be deemed without further agreement that the purchaser or the new master lessee of the Building has assumed and agreed to 
carry out any and all covenants and obligations of Landlord accruing under this Lease after such sale.  

   
k)                                                               Landlord reserves the right unilaterally to alter Tenant’s ingress and egress to the Building or make any change 

in operating conditions to restrict pedestrian, vehicular or delivery ingress and egress to a particular location, or at any time close 
temporarily any Common Facilities to make repairs or changes therein or to effect construction, repairs or changes within the Building, 
or to discourage non-tenant parking, and may do such other acts in and to the Common Facilities as in Landlord’s sole judgment may be 
desirable to improve their convenience. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Landlord shall exercise reasonable care to avoid any material 
interruption to Tenant’s business operations as a result of the exercise of such rights.  

   
l)                                                                  To the extent such waiver is permitted by law, the parties waive trial by jury in any action or proceeding brought 

in connection with this Lease or the Premises.  This Lease will be governed by the laws of the State (without the application of any 
conflict of laws principles), and any action or proceeding in connection with this Lease shall be decided in the courts of the State.  

   
m)                                                            Tenant agrees not to disclose the terms, covenants, conditions or other facts with respect to this Lease, including 

the Fixed Basic Rent and Additional Rent, to any person, corporation, partnership, association, newspaper, periodical or other entity, 
except to Tenant’s accountants or attorneys (who shall also be required to keep the terms of this Lease confidential) or as required by 
law.  This non-disclosure and confidentiality agreement will be binding upon Tenant without limitation as to time, and a breach of this 
paragraph will constitute a material breach under this Lease.  In addition, Tenants employees, contractors, etc. shall keep any of the 
terms and conditions of this Lease, including any billing statements and/or any backup supporting those statements, confidential.  

   
n)                                                              Any State statutory provisions dealing with termination rights due to casualty, condemnation, delivery of 

possession or any other matter dealt with by this Lease are superseded by the terms of this Lease, but only to the extent such statutes 
permit waiver by agreement.  

   
o)                                                              Whenever it is provided that Landlord will not unreasonably withhold, condition or delay consent or approval or 

will exercise its judgment reasonably (such consent or approval and such exercise of judgment being collectively referred to as “ 
consent ”), if Landlord delays, conditions or refuses such consent, Tenant waives any claim for money damages (including any claim 
for money damages by way of setoff, counterclaim or defense) based upon any claim or assertion that Landlord unreasonably withheld, 
conditioned or delayed consent.  Tenant’s sole remedy will be specific performance.  Failure on the part of Tenant to seek relief within 
30 days after the date upon which Landlord has withheld, conditioned or delayed its consent will be deemed a waiver of any right to 
dispute the reasonableness of such withholding, conditioning or delaying of consent.  

   
p)                                                              Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Lease, in no event will Landlord or Tenant be liable 

to the other for the payment of consequential, punitive or speculative damages, except as provided in Article 19 hereof.  
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31.                                LANDLORD’S SECURITY INTEREST :  
   

As additional security for the faithful performance and observance by Tenant of all of the terms, provisions and conditions of this 
Lease, Tenant hereby grants to and creates on behalf of Landlord a security interest in all of Tenant’s equipment, fixtures, decorations, 
alterations, furniture, machinery, installations, additions and improvement in the Premises.  The security interest herein granted and any 
security interest of the Landlord granted by statute shall be subordinate, solely as to furniture, trade fixtures and other personalty, to any 
purchase money security interest given by Tenant in connection with the financing of the purchase of the item of personalty in 
question.  This Lease constitutes a security agreement under the Pennsylvania Uniform Commercial Code.  Tenant agrees from time to 
time to execute and deliver such security agreements and financing statements as Landlord shall reasonably require to evidence and/or 
perfect the lien of the security interest granted herein, within five (5) days of Landlord’s request therefor.  Upon the occurrence of any 
default hereunder by Tenant, beyond applicable notice and cure periods, Landlord may, at its option, foreclose on said security and 
apply the proceeds of the sale of the property covered thereby for the payment of all rent owing under this Lease or any other sum 
owing by Tenant under the terms of Article 10 above, including, but not limited to any damages or deficiencies resulting from any 
reletting of the Premises, whether said damage or deficiency accrued before or after summary proceedings or other re-entry by 
Landlord.  Tenant covenants that it shall keep and maintain all fixtures, machinery, equipment, furnishings and other personalty at the 
Premises, whether or not the property of Tenant, in good, substantial and efficient operating condition (including replacement of same 
when necessary) at Tenant’s sole cost and expense, at all times during the term of this Lease.  
   

32.                                USE AND OCCUPANCY TAX AND MISCELLANEOUS TAXES :  
   

Tenant shall pay prior to delinquency all taxes (or its equivalent) assessed against or levied or imposed upon its use and oc cupancy of 
the Premises or upon the fixtures, furnishings, equipment and all other personal property of Tenant located in the Premises and when 
possible Tenant shall cause said fixtures, furnishings, equipment and all other personal property to be assessed and billed separately 
from the property of Landlord.  In the event any or all of Tenant’s fixtures, furnishings, equipment and all other personal property or its 
occupancy of the Premises shall be assessed and taxed with the property of Landlord, Tenant shall pay to Landlord its share of such 
taxes within twenty (20) days after delivery to Tenant by Landlord of a statement in writing setting forth the amount of such taxes 
applicable to Tenant’s fixtures, furnishings, equipment, personal property or occupancy.  If, during the Term of this Lease or any 
renewal or extension thereof, any tax is imposed upon the privilege of renting or occupying the Premises or upon the amount of rentals 
collected therefor, Tenant will pay each month, as Additional Rent, a sum equal to such tax or charge that is imposed for such month, 
but nothing herein shall be taken to require Tenant to pay any income, estate, inheritance or franchise tax imposed upon Landlord 
except to the extent required by Exhibit G hereof.  In addition, Tenant will pay as additional rent, all school district business use and 
occupancy tax applicable to Tenant and the Premises (if any) within the time set forth in any bill rendered by the taxing authority 
having such authority, or Landlord for said tax.   Landlord shall have the same rights and remedies for the non-payment of such use and 
occupancy tax, or any other item hereunder, that it has upon Tenant’s failure to pay rent hereunder.  
   

33.                                OPTION TO RENEW :  
   

(a)                                   If the term of this Lease shall then be in full force and effect and Tenant has complied fully with its obligations hereunder, 
Tenant shall have the option to extend the term of this Lease for a period of three (3) years (the “Renewal Term”) commencing 
on the day immediately following the Expiration Date, provided however that Tenant shall give Landlord notice of its election 
to extend the term no earlier than twelve (12) months prior to the Expiration Date nor later than nine (9) months prior to the 
Expiration Date of the term.  TIME BEING OF THE ESSENCE in connection with the exercise of Tenant’s option pursuant 
to this Article.  

   
(b)                                  Such extension of the term of this Lease shall be upon the same covenants and conditions, as herein set forth except for the 

Fixed Basic Rent (which shall be determined in the manner set forth below), and except that Tenant shall have no further right 
to extend the term of this Lease after the exercise of the single option described in paragraph (a) of this Section.  If Tenant 
shall duly give notice of its election to extend the term of this Lease, the Renewal Term shall be added to and become a part of 
the Term of this Lease (but shall not be considered a part of the initial Term), and any reference in this Lease to the “Term of 
this Lease”, the “Term hereof”, or any similar expression shall be deemed to include such Renewal Term, and, in addition, the 
term “Expiration Date” shall thereafter mean the last day of such Renewal Term.  Landlord shall have no obligation to perform 
any alteration or preparatory or other work in and to the Premises or provide a tenant improvement allowance and Tenant shall 
continue possession thereof in its “as is” condition.  

   
(c)                                   If Tenant exercises its option for the Renewal Term, the Fixed Basic Rent during the Renewal Term shall be the fair market 

rent for the Premises, as hereinafter defined.  
   
(d)                                  Landlord and Tenant shall use their best efforts, within thirty (30) days after Landlord receives Tenant’s notice of its election 

to extend the Term of this Lease for the Renewal Term (“Negotiation Period”), to agree upon the Fixed Basic Rent to be paid 
by Tenant during the Renewal Term.  If Landlord and Tenant shall agree upon the Fixed Basic Rent for the Renewal Term, the 
parties shall promptly execute an amendment to this Lease stating the Fixed Basic Rent for the Renewal Term.  

   
(e)                                   If the parties are unable to agree on the Fixed Basic Rent for the Renewal Term during the Negotiation Period, then within 

fifteen (15) days after notice from the other party, given after expiration of the Negotiation Period, each party, at its cost and 
upon notice to the other party, shall appoint a person to act as an appraiser hereunder, to determine the fair market rent for the 
Premises for the Renewal Term.  Each such person shall be a real estate broker or appraiser with at least ten years’ active 
commercial real estate appraisal or brokerage experience (involving the leasing of office space as agent for both landlords and 
tenants) in the County of Montgomery.  If a party does not appoint a person to act as an appraiser within said fifteen (15) day 



period, the person appointed by the other party shall be the sole appraiser and shall determine the aforesaid fair market rent.  Each 
notice containing the name of a person to act as appraiser shall contain also the person’s address.  Before proceeding to 
establish the fair market rent, the appraisers shall subscribe and swear to an oath fairly and impartially to determine such rent.  
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If the two appraisers are appointed by the parties as stated in the immediately preceding paragraph, they shall meet promptly 
and attempt to determine the fair market rent.  If they are unable to agree within forty-five (45) days after the appointment of 
the second appraiser, they shall attempt to select a third person meeting the qualifications stated in the immediately preceding 
paragraph within fifteen (15) days after the last day the two appraisers are given to determine the fair market rent.  If they are 
unable to agree on the third person to act as appraiser within said fifteen (15) day period, the third person shall be appointed by 
the American Arbitration Association (the “Association”), upon the application of Landlord or Tenant to the office of the 
Association nearest the Building.  The person appointed to act as appraiser by the Association shall be required to meet the 
qualifications stated in the immediately preceding paragraph.  Each of the parties shall bear fifty percent (50%) of the cost of 
appointing the third person and of paying the third person’s fees.  The third person, however selected, shall be required to take 
an oath similar to that described above.  
   
The three appraisers shall meet and determine the fair market rent.  A decision in which two of the three appraisers concur 
shall be binding and conclusive upon the parties.  In deciding the dispute, the appraisers shall act in accordance with the 
rules then in force of the Association, subject however, to such limitations as may be placed on them by the provisions of this 
Lease.  
   

(f)                                     After the fair market rent for the Renewal Term has been determined by the appraiser or appraisers and the appraiser or 
appraisers shall have notified the parties, at the request of either party, both parties shall execute and deliver to each other an 
amendment of this Lease stating the Fixed Basic Rent for the Renewal Term.  

   
(g)                                  If the Fixed Basic Rent for the Renewal Term has not been agreed to or established prior to the commencement of the 

Renewal Term, then Tenant shall pay to Landlord an annual rent (“Temporary Rent”) which Temporary Rent shall be equal to 
one hundred twenty-five percent (125%) of the Fixed Basic Rent payable by Tenant for the last year of the Term immediately 
preceding the Renewal Term.  Thereafter, if the parties shall agree upon a Fixed Basic Rent, or the Fixed Basic Rent shall be 
established upon the determination of the fair market rent by the appraiser or appraisers, at a rate at variance with the 
Temporary Rent (i) if such Fixed Basic Rent is greater than the Temporary Rent, Tenant shall promptly pay to Landlord the 
difference between the Fixed Basic Rent determined by agreement or the appraisal process and the Temporary Rent, or (ii) if 
such Fixed Basic Rent is less than the Temporary Rent, Landlord shall credit to Tenant’s subsequent monthly installments of 
Fixed Basic Rent the difference between the Temporary Rent and the Fixed Basic Rent determined by agreement or the 
appraisal process.  

   
(h)                                  In describing the fair market rent during the Renewal Term, the appraiser or appraisers shall be required to take into account 

the rentals at which leases are then being concluded (as of the last day of the Term) (for leases with similar lease terms with the 
lessor and lessee each acting prudently, with knowledge and for self-interest, and assuming that neither is under undue duress) 
for comparable space in the Building and in comparable office buildings in the County of Montgomery.  

   
(i)                                      The option granted to Tenant under this Article 33 may be exercised only by Tenant, its permitted successors and assigns, and 

not by any subtenant or any successor to the interest of Tenant by reason of any action under the Bankruptcy Code, or by any 
public officer, custodian, receiver, United States Trustee, trustee or liquidator of Tenant or substantially all of Tenant’s 
property.  Tenant shall have no right to exercise this option subsequent to the date Landlord shall have the right to give the 
notice of termination referred to in Article 10 of the Lease unless Tenant cures the default within the applicable grace period.  
Notwithstanding the foregoing, Tenant shall have no right to extend the term if, at the time it gives notice of its election 
(i) Tenant shall not be in occupancy of substantially all of the Premises or (ii) the Premises (or any part thereof) shall be the 
subject of a sublease.  If Tenant shall have elected to extend the term, such election shall be (at Landlord’s sole option) deemed 
withdrawn if, at any time after the giving of notice of such election and prior to the commencement of the Renewal Term, 
Tenant shall sublease (all or any portion of) the Premises or assign Tenant’s interest in this Lease.  

   
34.                                TERMINATION OPTION :  
   

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, Tenant shall have a one-time option to surrender the Premises 
(“Termination Option”) in accordance with the following terms and conditions:  
   
a.                                        If Tenant desires to exercise the Termination Option, Tenant shall give Landlord irrevocable written notice (“Termination 

Notice”) of Tenant’s exercise of this Termination Option, which shall be delivered by certified mail which Termination Notice 
must be received by Landlord no later than the date that is nine (9) full months prior to the Termination Date.  TIME IS OF 
THE ESSENCE with respect to Landlord’s receipt of the Termination Notice and all other deadlines in this Article.  

   
b.                                       If Tenant gives the Termination Notice and complies with all the provisions in this Article, the Lease as it applies to the 

Premises only shall terminate at 11:59 p.m. on the last day of the month during which the day prior to the forty-second (42 ) 
month anniversary of the Commencement Date occurs (the “Termination Date”).  

   
c.                                        In consideration for Tenant’s termination of this Lease, Tenant shall pay Landlord $118,971.00 (“Termination Fee”) 

simultaneously with the Termination Notice sent by Tenant to Landlord.  
   
d.                                       Tenant’s obligations to pay Fixed Basic Rent, Additional Rent, and any other costs or charges under this Lease, and to 

perform all other Lease obligations for the period up to and including the Termination Date, shall survive the termination of 
this Lease.  

   
e.                                        Notwithstanding the foregoing, if at any time during the period on or after the date on which Tenant shall exercise its 

Termination Option, up to and including the Termination Date, Tenant shall be in default of this Lease, then Landlord may 
elect, but is not obligated, to cancel and declare null and void Tenant’s exercise of the Termination Option and this Lease shall 
continue in full force and effect for the full Term hereof unaffected by Tenant’s exercise of the Termination Option.  If 
Landlord does not cancel Tenant’s exercise of the Termination Option after Tenant’s default, Tenant shall cure any default 

nd 



within the period of time specified in this Lease and this obligation shall survive the Termination Date.  
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f.                                          In the event Tenant exercises the Termination Option, Tenant covenants and agrees to surrender full and complete possession 

of the Premises to Landlord on or before the Termination Date vacant, broom-clean, in good order and condition, reasonable 
wear and tear excluded, and, in accordance with the provisions of this Lease, and thereafter the Premises shall be free and clear 
of all leases, tenancies, and rights of occupancy of any entity claiming by or through Tenant.  

   
g.                                       If Tenant shall fail to deliver possession of the Premises on or before the Termination Date in accordance with the terms 

hereof, Tenant shall be deemed to be a holdover Tenant from and after the Termination Date, and in such event all covenants 
and terms of Article 19 shall apply and shall also be liable to Landlord for all costs and expenses incurred by Landlord in 
securing possession of the Premises.  Landlord may accept any such sums from Tenant without prejudice to Landlord’s right to 
evict Tenant from the Premises by any lawful means.  

   
h.                                       If Tenant properly and timely exercises the Termination Option and properly and timely satisfies all other monetary and non-

monetary obligations under this Lease, the Lease as it applies to the Premises shall cease and expire on the Termination Date 
with the same force and effect as if said Termination Date were the date originally provided in this Lease as the Expiration 
Date of the Term hereof.  

   
i.                                           If this Lease has been assigned or all or a portion of the Premises has been sublet, this Termination Option shall be deemed 

null and void and neither Tenant nor any assignee or sublessee shall have the right to exercise such option during the term of 
such assignment or sublease.  

   
THE UNDERSIGNED TENANT ACKNOWLEDGES THAT IT FULLY U NDERSTANDS THE CONFESSIONS OF 

JUDGMENT CONTAINED IN RIDER A HEREOF AND THAT THE L ANDLORD-TENANT RELATIONSHIP CREATED 
HEREBY IS COMMERCIAL IN NATURE AND THAT THE UNDERSI GNED WAIVES ANY RIGHT TO A HEARING WHICH 
WOULD OTHERWISE BE A CONDITION TO LANDLORD’S OBTAIN ING THE JUDGMENTS AUTHORIZED BY Rider A.  

   
THE UNDERSIGNED TENANT FURTHER ACKNOWLEDGES AND UND ERSTANDS THAT TENANT HAS WAIVED 

ITS RIGHT TO A TRIAL BY JURY.  
   
EACH PARTY AGREES that it will not raise or assert as a defense to any obligation under this Lease, or make any claim that this 

Lease is invalid or unenforceable, due to any failure of this document to comply with ministerial requirements, including requirements for 
corporate seals, attestations, witnesses, notarizations or other similar requirements, and each party hereby waives the right to assert any such 
defense or make any claim of invalidity or unenforceability due to any of the foregoing.  

   
THE PARTIES to this Lease have executed and delivered this Lease as of the date set forth above.  
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RIDER A  

   
Confession of Judgment  

   
This Rider is made a part of that certain Lease Agreement dated                                    by and between INOVIO BIOMEDICAL 
CORPORATION, as Tenant and SENTRY PARK WEST L.L.C., as Landlord.   Notwithstanding, anything in the Lease to the contrary, the 
provision of this Rider A shall prevail.  
   
LANDLORD SHALL HAVE THE FOLLOWING RIGHTS TO CONFESS  JUDGMENT AGAINST TENANT AND ALL PERSONS 
CLAIMING THROUGH TENANT, FOR POSSESSION OF THE DEMI SED PREMISES TO LANDLORD:  
   

(i)             WHEN THIS LEASE SHALL BE TERMINATED BY REASON OF A DEFAULT BY TENANT OR 
ANY OTHER REASON WHATSOEVER, EITHER DURING THE ORIGINAL TERM OF THIS LEASE OR ANY RENEWAL OR 
EXTENSION THEREOF, AND ALSO WHEN THE TERM HEREBY CREATED OR ANY EXTENSION THEREOF SHALL HAVE 
EXPIRED, IT SHALL BE LAWFUL FOR ANY ATTORNEY TO APPEAR FOR TENANT IN ANY AND ALL SUITS OR ACTIONS 

LANDLORD:  
   

TENANT:  
         
SENTRY PARK WEST L.L.C.  

   
INOVIO BIOMEDICAL CORPORATION  

            
By:  Mack-Cali Glendale Limited Partnership, member  

      

            
By:  Mack-Cali Sub XXII, Inc., general partner  

      

            
            
By:  

      
By:  

   
   

Name:  
      

J. Joseph Kim  
   

Title:  
      

Chief Executive Officer  



WHICH MAY BE BROUGHT FOR POSSESSION AND/OR EJECTMENT; AND AS ATTORNEY FOR TENANT 
TO CONFESS JUDGMENT IN EJECTMENT AGAINST TENANT AND ALL PERSONS CLAIMING UNDER TENANT FOR THE 
RECOVERY BY LANDLORD OF POSSESSION OF THE DEMISED PREMISES, FOR WHICH THIS LEASE SHALL BE LANDLORD’S 
SUFFICIENT WARRANT.  UPON SUCH CONFESSION OF JUDGMENT FOR POSSESSION, IF LANDLORD SO DESIRES, A WRIT OF 
EXECUTION OR OF POSSESSION MAY ISSUE FORTHWITH, WITHOUT ANY PRIOR WRIT OR PROCEEDINGS WHATSOEVER.  IF 
FOR ANY REASON AFTER SUCH ACTION SHALL HAVE BEEN COMMENCED, THE SAME SHALL BE DETERMINED AND THE 
POSSESSION OF THE DEMISED PREMISES SHALL REMAIN IN OR BE RESTORED TO TENANT, THEN LANDLORD SHALL HAVE 
THE RIGHT UPON ANY SUBSEQUENT OR CONTINUING DEFAULT OR DEFAULTS, OR AFTER EXPIRATION OF THE LEASE, OR 
UPON THE TERMINATION OF THIS LEASE AS HEREINBEFORE SET FORTH, TO BRING ONE OR MORE FURTHER ACTIONS AS 
HEREINBEFORE SET FORTH TO RECOVER POSSESSION OF THE DEMISED PREMISES.  

   
(ii)            In any action of ejectment, Landlord shall cause to be filed in such action an affidavit made by Landlord or 

someone acting for Landlord setting forth the facts necessary to authorize the entry of judgment, of which facts such affidavit shall be conclusive 
evidence.  If a true copy of this Lease shall be filed in such action (and the truth of the copy as asserted in the affidavit of Landlord shall be 
sufficient evidence of same), it shall not be necessary to file the original Lease as a warrant of attorney, any rule of court, custom or practice to 
the contrary notwithstanding.  

   
(iii)           The right to enter judgment against Tenant and to enforce all of the other provisions of this Lease herein 

provided for, at the option of any assignee of this Lease, may be exercised by any assignee of Landlord’s right, title and interest in this Lease in 
Tenant’s own name, notwithstanding the fact that any or all assignments of such right, title and interest may not be executed and/or witnessed in 
accordance with the Act of Assembly of May 28, 1715, 1 Sm. L. 94, and all supplements and amendments thereto that have been or may 
hereafter be passed.  Tenant hereby expressly waives the requirements of such Act of Assembly and any and all laws regulating the manner 
and/or form in which such assignments shall be executed and witnessed.  

   
(iv)           Tenant acknowledges that it has been represented by counsel in connection with the negotiation of this 

Lease, that it has read and discussed with such counsel the provisions herein relating to confession of judgment, and that it understands the 
nature and consequences of such provisions.  

   
The rights and remedies set forth herein in favor of Landlord shall be in addition to any other rights and remedies that Landlord may have under 
the Lease or at law or in equity.  
   
THE PRIOR PARAGRAPHS SET FORTH WARRANTS OF AUTHORIT Y FOR AN ATTORNEY TO CONFESS JUDGMENTS 
AGAINST TENANT FOR POSSESSION OF THE PREMISES.  IN GRANTING THESE WARRANTS OF ATTORNEY TO 
CONFESS JUDGMENTS AGAINST TENANT HEREBY KNOWINGLY, INTENTIONALLY AND VOLUNTARILY, AND, ON THE 
ADVISE OF THE SEPARATE COUNSEL OF TENANT, UNCONDITI ONALLY WAIVES ANY AND ALL RIGHTS TENANT HAS 
OR MAY HAVE WITH RESPECT TO PRIOR NOTICE AND AN OPP ORTUNITY FOR HEARING UNDER THE  
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RESPECTIVE CONSTITUTIONS AND LAWS OF THE UNITED STA TES AND THE COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA.  
   
In consideration of the promises and covenants set forth in the Lease of which this Rider is a part, and intending to be legally bound hereby, 
Tenant has caused this Rider to be executed this         th day of                   , 200 .  
   
   
Tenant  
   
INOVIO BIOMEDICAL CORPORATION  
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By:  
      

Name:  J. Joseph Kim  
   

         
Title:  President and CEO  

   



   
EXHIBIT A  

   
LOCATION OF PREMISES  
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EXHIBIT B  

   
RULES AND REGULATIONS  

   
1.           OBSTRUCTION OF PASSAGEWAYS : Tenant will not: (i) obstruct the sidewalks, entrance(s), passages, courts,  elevators, 

vestibules, stairways, corridors and other public parts of the Building, or (ii) interfere with the ability of Landlord and other tenants to use 
and enjoy any of these areas, and (iii) use them for any purpose other than ingress and egress.  

   
2.           WINDOWS :  Tenant will not cover or obstruct windows in the Premises.  No bottles, parcels or other articles will be placed on the 

windowsills, in the halls, or in any other part of the Building other than the Premises.  No article will be thrown out of the doors or 
windows of the Premises.  

   
3.           PROJECTIONS FROM BUILDING : No awnings, air-conditioning units or other fixtures will be attached to the outside walls or the 

window sills of the Building or otherwise affixed so as to project from the Building, without the prior written consent of Landlord.  
   
4.           SIGNS :  Tenant will not affix any sign or lettering to any part of the outside of the Premises, or any part of the inside of the Premises so 

as to be visible from the outside of the Premises, without the prior written consent of Landlord.  However, Tenant will have the right to 
place its name on any door leading into the Premises, the size, color and style thereof to be subject to the Landlord’s approval, which 
approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed. Tenant’s name will be placed on the Building directory.  Tenant will 
not have the right to have additional names placed on the Building directory without Landlord’s prior written consent, which consent 
shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed.  

   
5.           FLOOR COVERING : Tenant will not lay linoleum or other similar floor covering so that the same will come in direct contact with the 

floor of the Premises.  If linoleum or other similar floor covering is desired to be used, an interlining of builder’s deadening felt will first 
be fixed to the floor by a paste or other material that may easily be removed with water.  The use of cement or other similar adhesive 
material for this purpose is expressly prohibited.  

   
6.           INTERFERENCE WITH OCCUPANTS OF BUILDING : Tenant will not make, or permit to be made, any unseemly or disturbing 

noises or odors and will not interfere with other tenants or those having business with them.  Tenant will keep all mechanical apparatus in 
the Premises free of vibration and noise which may be transmitted beyond the limits of the Premises.  

   
7.           LOCK KEYS : No additional locks or bolts of any kind will be placed on any of the doors or windows by Tenant.  Tenant will, on the 

expiration or earlier termination of Tenant’s tenancy, deliver to Landlord all keys to any space within the Building either furnished to or 
otherwise procured by Tenant, and in the event of the loss of any keys furnished, Tenant will pay to Landlord the cost thereof.  Tenant, 
before closing and leaving the Premises, will ensure that all windows are closed and entrance doors locked.  Nothing in this Paragraph 7 
will be deemed to prohibit Tenant from installing a security system within the Premises, provided: (1) Tenant obtains Landlord’s consent 
which will not be unreasonably withheld or delayed; (2) Tenant supplies Landlord with copies of the plans and specifications of the 
system; (3) such installation will not damage the Building or any Common Facilities; (4) all costs of installation and removal (if required 
by Landlord) will be borne solely by Tenant; and (5) Landlord is afforded the security code or other means of access to the Premises for 
purposes permitted under the Lease.  

   
8.           CONTRACTORS : Tenant will not enter into any contract of any kind with any supplier of towels, water, toilet articles, waxing, rug 

shampooing, venetian blind washing, furniture polishing, lamp servicing, cleaning of electrical fixtures, removal of waste paper, rubbish 
or garbage, or other like service, nor will Tenant install or cause to be installed any machine of any kind (other than customary office 
equipment) in the Premises, other portions of the Building or the Real Property without the prior written consent of the Landlord.  Tenant 
will not employ any persons other than Landlord’s janitors for the purpose of cleaning the Premises without the prior written consent of 
Landlord.  Landlord will not be responsible to Tenant for any loss of property from the Premises, however occurring, or for any damage 
to the effects of Tenant by such janitors or any of its employees, or by any other person or any other cause.  

   
9.           PROHIBITED ON PREMISES : Tenant will not conduct, or permit any other person to conduct, any auction upon the Premises, nor 

will Tenant manufacture or store, or permit others to manufacture or store, goods, wares or merchandise upon the Premises, without the 
prior written approval of Landlord, except the storage in customary amounts of ordinary office supplies to be used by Tenant in the 
conduct of its business.  Tenant will not permit the Premises to be used for gambling.  Tenant will not permit any portion of the Premises 
to be occupied as an office for a public stenographer or typewriter, or for the manufacture or sale of intoxicating beverages, narcotics, 
tobacco in any form or as a barber or manicure shop or for any medical use, including medical testing on humans or animals.  
Canvassing, soliciting and peddling at the Real Property are prohibited, and Tenant will cooperate to prevent the same.  No bicycles, 
vehicles or animals of any kind will be brought into or kept in or about the Real Property, except guide dogs.  

   
10.         PLUMBING, ELECTRIC AND TELEPHONE WORK : Plumbing facilities will not be used for any purpose other than those for 

which they were constructed; and no sweepings, rubbish, ashes, newspaper or other substances of any kind will be thrown into them.  
Waste and excessive or unusual amounts of electricity or water use is prohibited.  When electric or communications wiring of any kind is 
introduced, it must be connected as directed by Landlord, and no stringing or cutting of wires will be allowed, except by prior written 
consent of Landlord, and will be done by contractors approved by Landlord.  

   
11.         MOVEMENT OF FURNITURE, FREIGHT OR BULKY MATTER : The carrying in or out of freight, furniture or bulky matter of 

any description must take place during such hours as Landlord may from time to time reasonably determine and only after advance notice 
to the manager of the Building.  The persons employed by Tenant for such work must be reasonably acceptable to Landlord and provide 
liability insurance reasonably satisfactory to Landlord.  Tenant may, subject to these provisions, move freight, furniture, bulky matter, and 
other material into or out of the Premises on Saturdays between the hours of 9:00 a.m. and 1:00 p.m. and Monday through Friday anytime 



before 7:45 a.m. or anytime after 5:30 p.m., provided Tenant pays additional costs, if any, incurred by Landlord for elevator operators or security 
guards, and for any other expenses occasioned by such activity of Tenant.  If, at least three (3) days prior to such activity, Landlord 
requests that Tenant deposit with Landlord a sum which Landlord reasonably estimates to be the amount of such additional cost, the 
Tenant will deposit such sum with Landlord as security for such cost.  There will not be used in the Building or Premises, either by 
Tenant or by others, any hand trucks except those equipped with rubber tires and side guards, and no hand trucks will be allowed in the 
elevators without the consent of the superintendent of the Building.  
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12.         SAFES AND OTHER HEAVY EQUIPMENT : Landlord reserves the right to prescribe the weight and position of all safes and other 

heavy equipment so as to distribute their weight properly and to prevent any unsafe condition from arising.  Tenant will not place a load 
upon any floor of the Premises exceeding the floor load per square foot area which it was designed to carry or which is allowed by law.  

   
13.         ADVERTISING :  Landlord may prohibit any advertising by Tenant which in Landlord’s reasonable opinion tends to impair the 

reputation of the Building or its desirability as a building for offices, and upon written notice from Landlord, Tenant will refrain from or 
discontinue such advertising.  

   
14.         NON-OBSERVANCE OR VIOLATION OF RULES BY OTHER TENANTS : Landlord will not be responsible to Tenant for non-

observance or violation of any of these rules and regulations by any other tenant.  
   
15.         AFTER HOURS USE : Landlord reserves the right to exclude from the Building during Building Hours and at all hours on Saturdays, 

Sundays and Building Holidays, all persons who do not present a pass to the Building signed by the Tenant.  Each Tenant will be 
responsible for all persons for whom such a pass is issued and will be liable to the Landlord for the acts of such persons.  

   
16.         RESERVATION OF RIGHTS : Landlord reserves to itself any and all rights not granted to Tenant hereunder, including  the 

following:  
   

a)             the exclusive right to the use of the name of the Building for all purposes, except that Tenant may use the name  as its business 
address and for no other purposes;  

   
b)             the right to change the name or address of the Building, without incurring any liability to Tenant for doing so;  

   
c)             the right to install and maintain signs on the exterior of the Building;  

   
d)             the exclusive right to use and/or allow others to use the roof of the Building;  

   
e)             the right to limit the space on the directory of the Building to be allotted to Tenant; and  

   
f)              the right to grant to anyone the right to conduct any particular business or undertaking in the Building.  

   
17.         HEALTH AND SAFETY : Tenant will be responsible for initiating, maintaining and supervising all health and safety precautions 

and/or programs required by Legal Requirements applicable to the Premises and/or Tenant’s use and occupancy of the Premises.  
   

— END —  
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EXHIBIT C  

   
WORKLETTER AGREEMENT  

   
INOVIO BIOMEDICAL CORPORATION (“ Tenant ”) and we (“ Landlord ”) are executing a written lease (“ Lease ”), covering premises 
located at 1787 Sentry Park West, Blue Bell, PA, as more particularly described in the Lease (“ Premises ”).  
   
To induce Tenant to enter into the Lease (which is hereby incorporated by reference) and in consideration of the covenants contained in this 
Workletter Agreement (the “ Workletter ”), Landlord and Tenant agree as follows:  
   
1 .              Landlord, at its sole cost and expense, will have its architect prepare the following architectural and mechanical drawings and 

specifications based upon the sketch layout supplied to Landlord by Tenant.  
   

a .              Architectural drawings and specifications for Tenant’s partition layout, reflected ceiling, placement of electrical outlets and 
other installations for the work to be done by Landlord.  

   
b .              Mechanical plans and specifications where necessary for installation of air conditioning systems, ductwork and heating.  
   
All such plans and specifications are expressly subject to Landlord’s written approval, which approval will not be unreasonably 
withheld.  
   

2 .              Landlord agrees to cause the partition plan, electrical plan and the reflected ceiling plan to be delivered to Tenant on or before the 
fifteenth (15th) day after Lease execution.  Tenant agrees to approve the plans by initialing and returning them to Landlord within three 
(3) days of receipt of each plan.  Upon approval of the plans initialed by Tenant, Landlord will file the plans with the appropriate 
governmental agencies. This Lease is expressly conditioned upon Landlord obtaining a building permit from the appropriate 
government official for the Work (as hereinafter defined).  

   
3 .              Landlord agrees, at its expense and without charge to Tenant (unless otherwise provided), to do the work in the Premises as shown on 

the approved plans described above and described on SK-3 dated October 1, 2009 and the “ Description of Materials ” schedule 
attached to this Workletter, which will be referred to as the “ Work ” in the following provisions of this Workletter.  “ Building 
Standard ” will mean the type and grade of material, equipment and/or device designated by Landlord as standard for the Building.  
All items are Building Standard unless otherwise noted.  

   
4 .              Intentionally omitted.  
   
5 .              All low partitioning, workstation modules, bank screen partitions and prefabricated partition systems will be furnished and installed by 

Tenant at its expense.  
   
6 .              The installation or wiring of telephone and computer (data) outlets is not part of the Work. Tenant will bear the responsibility to 

provide its own telephone and data systems at Tenant’s sole cost and expense.  
   
7 .              Changes in the Work, if necessary or requested by the Tenant, will be accomplished after the execution of the Lease and  this 

Workletter, and without invalidating any part of the Lease or Workletter, by written agreement between Landlord and Tenant (referred 
to as a “ Change Order ”).  Each Change Order will be prepared by Landlord and signed by both Tenant  and Landlord stating their 
agreement on all of the following:  

   
a .              The scope of the change in the Work; and  
   
b .              The cost of the change; and  
   
c .              The manner in which the cost will be paid; and  
   
d .              The estimated extent of any adjustment to the Commencement Date (if any) as a result of the change in the Work.  
   

Each and every Change Order will be signed by Landlord’s and Tenant’s respective construction representatives.  In no event 
will any Change Order(s) be permitted without such authorizations.  A 10% supervision plus 10% overhead charge will be 
added to the cost of any Change Order and to the cost of any other work to be performed by Landlord in the Premises due to 
changes requested by Tenant after Landlord’s completion of the Work.  If Tenant fails to approve any such Change Order 
within one (1) week, it will be deemed disapproved in all respects by Tenant, and Landlord will not be authorized to proceed 
on it.  Any increase in the cost of the Work or the change in the Work stated in a Change Order requested by Tenant which 
results from Tenant’s failure to timely approve and return said Change Order will be paid by Tenant.  Tenant agrees to pay 
Landlord the cost of any Change Order requested by Tenant upon receipt of an invoice for the Change Order.  

   
8 .              If Tenant elects to use the architect suggested by Landlord, this architect becomes solely the Tenant’s agent with respect to the plans, 

specifications and the Work.  If any change is made after completion of schematic drawings and prior to completion of final 
construction documents which result in a Change Order and additional costs, such costs will be the responsibility of the Tenant.  

   
9 .              Upon substantial completion of the Work which shall be determined by Landlord’s architect at Landlord’s expense and prior to 

Tenant’s occupancy of all or any part of the Premises, Tenant will identify and list any portion of the Work which does not conform to 
this Workletter or the Lease (“ Punch List ”).  The Landlord will review with the Tenant all of the items so listed and correct or 
complete any portion of the Work referenced in the Punch List which fails to conform to the requirements of this Workletter or the 
Lease.  



   
10 .            The terms contained in the Lease (which includes all Exhibits to the Lease) constitute Landlord’s agreement with Tenant with respect 

to the Work.  
   
11 .            Except as set forth in the last sentence of this paragraph or other provisions of the Lease, all Work within the Premises will become the 

property of Landlord upon installation, except for those items described in paragraph 5 above, including workstation modules.  No 
refund, credit or removal of any Work will be permitted at the expiration or earlier termination of the Lease.  Items installed that are not 
integrated in any way with the Work ( e.g., furniture and other trade fixtures) become the property of Tenant upon installation.  
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12 .            It is agreed that notwithstanding the date provided in the Basic Lease Provisions for the Commencement Date, the term will not 

commence until the earlier of (i) the date Tenant (or anyone claiming under or through Tenant) occupies all or any part of the Premises 
and commences business operations or (ii) the date Landlord has “substantially completed” the Work; provided, however, that if 
Landlord is delayed in substantially completing the Work as a result of:  

   
a .              Tenant’s failure to approve the plans and specifications in accordance with Paragraph 2 of this Workletter;  
   
b .              Tenant’s failure to furnish interior finish specifications ( i.e. , paint colors, carpet selection, etc.) to Landlord by  the fifth (5th) 

business day after Tenant has approved the plans and specifications pursuant to Paragraph 2;  
   
c .              Tenant’s request for materials, finishes or installations other than Landlord’s Building Standard;  
   
d .              Tenant’s changes in the Work;  
   
e .              The performance of a person, firm, partnership or corporation employed by Tenant and the non-completion of work by such 

person, firm, partnership or corporation; and/or  
   
f.               Any act or omission of Tenant which delays governmental inspections and approvals, including, if necessary and without 

limitation, failure to install furniture and/or failure to obtain low voltage wiring permits;  
   

then the Commencement Date will be accelerated by the number of days of such delay, and Tenant’s obligation to pay Fixed Basic Rent 
and Additional Rent will commence as of such earlier date.  
   

13 .            Landlord will permit Tenant and its agents to enter, as licensees only, the Premises prior to the Commencement Date so that Tenant 
may perform through its own contractors such other work and decorations as Tenant may desire at the same time Landlord’s contractors 
are working in the Premises.  Such license shall not trigger an earlier Commencement Date. The foregoing license to enter prior to the 
Commencement Date, however, is conditioned upon:  

   
a .              Tenant’s workmen and mechanics working in harmony and not interfering with the labor employed by Landlord, Landlord’s 

mechanics or contractors or by any other tenant or its mechanics or contractors;  
   
b .              Tenant providing Landlord with evidence of Tenant’s contractors and subcontractors carrying such worker’s compensation 

insurance as required by law, commercial general liability and property insurance in amounts no less than the amounts set forth 
in Article 22 a) of the Lease.  If at any time such entry will cause disharmony or interference of the nature described in 
subparagraph 13 a) above, this license may be withdrawn by Landlord upon forty-eight (48) hours written notice to Tenant.  
Such entry will be deemed controlled by all of the terms, covenants, provisions and conditions of the Lease, except as to the 
covenant to pay Fixed Basic Rent, Additional Rent and utilities.  Landlord will not be liable in any way for any injury, loss or 
damage which may occur to any of Tenant’s decorations or installations made prior to the Commencement Date, the same 
being solely at Tenant’s risk; and  

   
c.              Tenant will use union contractors if required by Landlord so long as Landlord is also using union contractors.  
   

14 .            No part of the Premises will be deemed unavailable for occupancy by Tenant, nor will any work which the Landlord is obligated to 
perform in such part of the Premises be deemed incomplete for the purpose of any adjustment of Fixed Basic Rent payable under the 
Lease, if minor details of construction, decoration or mechanical adjustments exist and the non-completion of such details does not 
materially interfere with the Tenant’s use of such part of the Premises.  

   
15 .            If construction is to occur in a space occupied by Tenant’s employees, Tenant will be liable for all costs associated with a delay, if 

Tenant fails to comply with a submitted construction schedule to relocate personnel, furniture or equipment.  These costs will include, 
but not be limited to, the following:  

   
a .              cost of construction workers time wasted;  
   
b .              cost of any overtime work necessary to meet schedule deadlines; and  
   
c .              any other costs associated with delays in final completion.  
   

16 .            This Workletter is based on the materials and layouts set forth or referenced in the Workletter.  Any change to the materials and layout 
will require a recalculation of construction costs and any increases in costs caused by changes made by Tenant shall be Tenant’s 
responsibility.  Such recalculation will not negate any other Article of this Lease.  

   
17.            All sums payable by Tenant to Landlord in connection with this Exhibit C and any other work to be performed by Landlord within the 

Premises and billable to Tenant will be deemed Additional Rent.  
   
18.            With respect to the construction work being conducted in or about the Premises, each party agrees to be bound by the approval and 

actions of their respective construction representatives.  Unless changed by written notification, the parties designate the following 
individuals as their respective construction representatives:  
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FOR LANDLORD:  FOR TENANT:  

         
   

Clete MacDonald  Kevin Rassas  
   

c/o Mack-Cali Realty Corporation  Inovio Biomedical Corporation  
   

2200 Renaissance Boulevard  450 Sentry Parkway  
   

King of Prussia, PA 19406  Blue Bell, PA 19422  



   
Description of Materials  
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EXHIBIT D  

   
CLEANING SERVICES  

(Five Nights Per Week)  
   
TENANT ’S PREMISES  
   
1.             Vacuum clean all carpeted areas.  
   
2.             Sweep and dust mop all non-carpeted areas. Wet mop whenever necessary.  
   
3.             All office furniture such as desks, chairs, files, filing cabinets, etc. will be dusted with a clean treated dust cloth whenever necessary 

and only if such surfaces are clear of Tenant’s personal property including but not limited to plants.  
   
4.             Empty wastepaper baskets and remove waste to designated areas.  
   
5.             All vertical surfaces within arms reach will be spot cleaned to remove finger marks and smudges.  Baseboard and window sills are to 

be spot cleaned whenever necessary.  
   
6.             All cleaning of cafeterias, vending areas and kitchen facilities are excluded.  Tenant may make necessary arrangements for cleaning 

these areas directly with Landlord’s cleaning maintenance company.  
   
7.             Cleaning hours will be Monday through Friday between 5:30 p.m. and 11:00 p.m.  
   
8.             No cleaning service is provided on Saturday, Sunday and Building Holidays.  
   
9.              Cartons or refuse in excess of that which can be placed in wastebaskets will not be removed.  Tenant is responsible to place such 

unusual refuse in trash dumpster.  
   
10.            Cleaning maintenance company will neither remove nor clean tea, office cups or similar containers.  If such liquids are spilled in 

wastebaskets, the wastebaskets will be emptied but not otherwise cleaned.  Landlord will not be responsible for any stained carpet 
caused from liquids leaking or spilling from Tenant’s wastebaskets.  

   
11.            Glass entrance doors will be cleaned nightly.  Interior glass doors or glass partitions are excluded. Tenant may make arrangements for 

cleaning interior glass doors and partitions with Landlord’s cleaning maintenance company.  
   
COMMON AREAS  
   
1.             Vacuum all carpeting in entrance lobbies, outdoor mats and all corridors.  
   
2.             Wash glass doors in entrance lobby with a clean damp cloth and dry towel.  
   
3.             Sweep and/or wet mop all resilient tile flooring. Clean hard surface floors such as quarry tile, etc..  
   
4.             Wash, clean and disinfect water fountains.  
   
5.             Clean all elevator cabs and stairwells.  
   
6.             Lavatories — Men and Women.  

a.      Floors in all lavatories will be wet mopped with a germicidal detergent to ensure a clean and germ free surface.  
b.      Wash and polish all mirrors, shelves, bright work including any piping and toilet seats.  
c.      Wash and disinfect wash basins and sinks using a germicidal detergent.  
d.      Wash and disinfect toilet bowls and urinals.  
e.      Keep lavatory partitions, tiled walls, dispensers and receptacles in a clean condition using a germicidal detergent when necessary.  
f.       Empty and sanitize sanitary disposal receptacles.  
g.      Fill toilet tissue holders, towel dispensers and soap dispensers. Refills to be supplied by Landlord or its cleaning contractor.  
   

7.            Clean all air ventilation grill work in ceilings.  
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EXHIBIT E  

   
BUILDING HOLIDAYS  

   
BUILDING CLOSED  

   
   

* NEW YEAR’S DAY *  
   
   

* MEMORIAL DAY *  
   
   

* INDEPENDENCE DAY *  
   
   

* LABOR DAY *  
   
   

* THANKSGIVING DAY *  
   
   

* CHRISTMAS DAY *  
   
   

— END —  
   
1  

 



   
EXHIBIT F  

   
COMMENCEMENT DATE AGREEMENT  

   
1.0           PARTIES  
   

THIS AGREEMENT made the                   day of                 , 200  is by and between                                  (“ Landlord ”) whose address 
is c/o Mack-Cali Realty Corporation, 343 Thornall Street, P.O. Box 7817, Edison, New Jersey 08818-7817 and 
                                                   (“ Tenant ”) whose address is                                                                                 .  
   

2.0           STATEMENT OF FACTS  
   

2.1            Landlord and Tenant entered into a Lease dated                         , 200  (referred to as the “ Lease ” in this Agreement) setting 
forth the terms of occupancy by Tenant of approximately                gross rentable square feet on the            (      ) floor (referred 
to as the “ Premises ” in this Agreement) at                                                            (referred to as “ Building ” in this 
Agreement); and  

   
2.2            The Commencement Date of the Term of the Lease has been determined in accordance with the provisions of Article 20 of the 

Lease.  
   

3.0           STATEMENT OF TERMS  
   

The parties conclusively agree that they have received good and valuable consideration for making the following agreements:  
   

3.1            The Commencement Date of the Term of the Lease is                      , 200  and the Expiration Date of the Term is 
                           , 20    ,  and Articles 4 and 6 of the Basic Lease Provisions are modified accordingly.  

   
3.2            Tenant represents and warrants to Landlord that (i) there exists no default under the Lease either by Tenant or Landlord; and 

(ii) there exists no offset, defense or counterclaim to Tenant’s obligations under the Lease.  
   
3.2            This Agreement is executed by the parties hereto for the purpose of providing a record of the Commencement and Expiration 

Dates of the Lease.  
   
EXCEPT as modified in this Agreement, the Lease will remain in full force and effect as if the same were set forth in full in this 

Agreement, and Landlord and Tenant ratify and confirm all the terms and conditions of the Lease as modified by this Agreement.  
   
THIS AGREEMENT will be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective legal representatives, 

successors and permitted assigns.  
   
EACH PARTY AGREES that it will not raise or assert as a defense to any obligation under the Lease or this Agreement or make any 

claim that the Lease or this Agreement is invalid or unenforceable due to any failure of this document to comply with ministerial requirements 
including, but not limited to, requirements for corporate seals, attestations, witnesses, notarizations or other similar requirements, and each party 
waives the right to assert any such defense or make any claim of invalidity or unenforceability due to any of the failures described above.  

   
Landlord and Tenant have executed this Agreement as of the date and year first above written and represent and warrant to each other 

that the individual signing this Agreement on its behalf possesses the requisite authority to sign this Agreement.  
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LANDLORD  TENANT  
      
      
By:  

      
By:  

   
   

Name:  
      

Name:  
   

Title:  
      

Title:  



   
EXHIBIT G  

   
TAX AND OPERATING COST RIDER  

   
Tenant will pay in addition to the Fixed Basic Rent provided in this Lease, Additional Rent to cover Tenant’s Percentage of the increased cost to 
Landlord, for each of the categories enumerated in this Exhibit, over the “ Base Period Costs ” for these categories.  
   
a.              Operating Cost Escalation — If the Operating Costs incurred for the  Real Property for any Lease Year or Partial Lease Year during 

the Term will be greater than the Base Operating Costs (reduced proportionately to correspond to the duration of periods less than a 
Lease Year), then Tenant will pay to Landlord, as Additional Rent, Tenant’s Percentage of all such excess Operating Costs.  Operating 
Costs will include, by way of illustration and not of limitation: personal property taxes; management fees for the Building only; labor, 
including all wages and salaries for those employees working at the Building (to the extent that employees work at the Building and 
other building(s) owned or managed by Landlord or an affiliate of Landlord, such wages and salaries shall be reasonably allocated by 
Landlord among such buildings); social security and other taxes which may be levied against Landlord upon such wages and salaries; 
supplies; repairs and maintenance; maintenance and service contracts; painting; wall and window washing; tools and equipment (which 
are not required to be capitalized for federal income tax purposes); trash removal; lawn care; snow removal and all other items properly 
constituting direct operating costs according to standard accounting practices (collectively referred to as the “ Operating Costs ” in this 
Lease); but not including depreciation of Building or equipment; interest; income or excess profits taxes; costs of maintaining the 
Landlord’s corporate existence; franchise taxes; any expenditures required to be capitalized for federal income tax purposes, unless said 
expenditures are for the purpose of reducing Operating Costs at the Real Property, or those which under generally applied real estate 
practice are expensed or regarded as deferred expenses or are required under any Legal Requirement, in which event the costs thereof 
shall be included.  Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary, any additional costs incurred by Landlord during the 
Calendar Year by reason of Landlord or any of its vendors entering into new labor contracts or renewals or modifications of existing 
labor contracts will not be included in Base Operating Costs.  In addition, Tenant will pay Landlord Tenant’s Percentage of all costs and 
expenses incurred by Landlord in connection with complying with any “homeland security” requirements and such costs and expenses 
will not be included in Operating Costs.  
   
If any repair, replacement or improvement within the definition of Operating Costs is capitalized under generally accepted accounting 
principles, then (A) the cost of any such repair, replacement or improvement shall only be included in Operating Costs if such repair, 
replacement or improvement (i) is necessary to comply with any governmental or quasi-governmental law, statute, ordinance, rule, 
order, requirements or regulation, which is enacted or promulgated after the date hereof, (ii) is reasonably intended to reduce Operating 
Costs or (iii) constitutes a replacement which in Lessor’s reasonable judgment is economically prudent to make in lieu of repairs, 
(B) the cost thereof shall be amortized on a straight line basis over the lesser of ten (10) years or the useful life of such repair, (C) the 
amount so amortized attributable to such repair, replacement or improvement shall be included in Operating Costs in each Lease Year 
for such portion of the amortization period which occurs during the Term, provided, however, that all amounts thereof included in 
Operating Costs in any Lease Year subsequent to the year paid shall have added thereto interest from the date Lessor incurred such 
cost.  For amortization purposes, applicable interest shall be two (2) percentage points in excess of the prime rate charged by JP Morgan 
Chase Bank, or its successor, at the time of expenditure.  

   
b.              Intentionally omitted.  
   
c.              Tax Escalation — If the Real Estate Taxes for the Real Property for any Lease Year or Partial Lease Year during the Lease Term will 

be greater than the Base Real Estate Taxes (reduced proportionately to correspond to the duration of periods less than a Lease Year), 
then Tenant will pay to Landlord as Additional Rent, Tenant’s Percentage of all such excess Real Estate Taxes.  
   
As used in this Lease, “ Real Estate Taxes ” mean the property taxes and assessments imposed upon the Building and other portions of 
the Real Property, or upon the rent payable to the Landlord, including, but not limited to, real estate, city, county, village, school and 
transit taxes, or taxes, assessments, or charges levied, imposed or assessed against the  Real Property by any taxing authority, whether 
general or specific, ordinary or extraordinary, foreseen or unforeseen.  If due to a future change in the method of taxation, any franchise, 
income or profit tax will be levied against Landlord in substitution for, or in lieu of, or in addition to, any tax which would otherwise 
constitute a Real Estate Tax, such franchise, income or profit tax will be deemed to be a Real Estate Tax for purposes of this Lease.  

   
Landlord, will have the exclusive right, but not the obligation, to contest or appeal any Real Estate Tax assessment levied on all or any 
part of the Real Property.  

   
d.              Insurance Cost Escalation — If the Insurance Costs for the Real Property for any Lease Year or Partial Lease Year during the Term 

will be greater than the Base Insurance Costs (reduced proportionately to correspond to the duration of periods less than a Lease Year), 
Tenant will pay to Landlord as Additional Rent for each Lease Year or Partial Lease Year, Tenant’s Percentage of such excess 
Insurance Costs.  
   
As used in this Lease, “ Insurance Costs ” mean all fire, general liability and other insurance costs, together with any deductibles, 
incurred by Landlord in connection with its operation and maintenance of the Real Property for any Lease Year or Partial Lease Year 
during the Term.  

   
e.              Lease Year — As used in this Lease, Lease Year will mean a calendar year. Any portion of the Term which is less than a Lease Year, 

that is, from the Commencement Date through the following December 31, and from the last January 1 falling within the Term to the 
end of the Term, will be deemed a “ Partial Lease Year ”.  Any reference in this Lease to a Lease Year will, unless the context clearly 
indicates otherwise, be deemed to be a reference to a Partial Lease Year if the period in question involves a Partial Lease Year.  
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f.               Payment — Prior to each Lease Year, Landlord will give Tenant an estimate of amounts payable under this Rider for such Lease Year 

or Partial Lease Year. By the first day of each month during such Lease Year or Partial Lease Year, Tenant will pay Landlord one-
twelfth (1/12th) of the estimated amount.  If, however, the estimate is not given before such Lease Year or Partial Lease Year begins, 
Tenant will continue to pay by the first day of each month on the basis of last year’s estimate, if any, until the month after the new 
estimate is given.  As soon as practicable after each Lease Year or Partial Lease Year ends, Landlord will give Tenant a statement (the “ 
Statement ”) showing the actual amounts payable by Tenant under this Rider for such Lease Year.  If the Statement shows that the 
actual amount Tenant owes for such Lease Year or Partial Lease Year is less than the estimated amount paid by Tenant during such 
Lease Year or Partial Lease Year, Landlord, at its option, will either return the difference or credit the difference against the next 
succeeding payment(s) of Additional Rent.  If the Statement shows that the actual amount Tenant owes is more than the estimated 
Additional Rent paid by Tenant during such Lease Year or Partial Lease Year, Tenant will pay the difference within thirty (30) days 
after the Statement is delivered to Tenant.  

   
g.              Books and Reports — Landlord will maintain books of account which, provided that Tenant has not breached this Lease, will be open 

to Tenant and its representatives at all reasonable times so that Tenant can determine that such Operating, Insurance and Real Estate 
Tax Costs have, in fact, been paid or incurred. Tenant’s representatives will mean only (i) Tenant’s employees or (ii) a Certified Public 
Accounting firm, and neither Tenant’s employees nor any Certified Public Accounting firm will be permitted to perform such 
inspection and/or audit on a contingency basis or for any other tenant in the Building.  At Landlord’s request, Tenant and/or Tenant’s 
Certified Public Accounting firm will execute a confidentiality agreement reasonably acceptable to Landlord prior to any examination 
of Landlord’s books and records.  In the event Tenant disputes any one or more of such charges, Tenant will attempt to resolve such 
dispute with Landlord, provided that if such dispute is not satisfactorily settled between Landlord and Tenant within thirty (30) days, 
then upon request of either party, the dispute will be referred to an independent certified public accountant to be mutually agreed upon 
to arbitrate the dispute, and if such an accountant cannot be agreed upon, the American Arbitration Association may be asked by either 
party to select an arbitrator, whose decision on the dispute will be final and binding upon both parties, who will jointly share any cost of 
such arbitration. Pending resolution of the dispute, the Tenant will pay to Landlord the sum so billed by Landlord, subject to its ultimate 
resolution as set forth above or Landlord will either return the difference or credit the difference against next succeeding payment(s) of 
Additional Rent.  The arbitration mechanism set forth above shall be the sole process available to resolve such disputes.  

   
h.              Right of Review — Once Landlord will have finally determined the Operating, Insurance or Real Estate Tax Costs at the expiration of 

a Lease Year, then as to the item so established, Tenant will only be entitled to dispute such charge for a period of six (6) months after 
such charge is billed to Tenant, and Tenant specifically waives any right to dispute any such charge any time after the expiration of said 
six (6) month period.  

   
i.               Occupancy Adjustment — If the Building is less than ninety-five percent (95%) occupied during the Calendar Year or during any 

Lease Year or Partial Lease Year subsequent to the Calendar Year, then the Operating Costs will be adjusted during the Calendar Year 
and the Operating Costs will be adjusted during any such Lease Year or Partial Lease Year so as to reflect ninety-five percent (95%) 
occupancy. The aforesaid adjustment will only be made with respect to those items that are in fact affected by variations in occupancy 
levels.  

   
j.               The parties agree that Tenant’s Percentage, as defined in the Basic Lease Provisions, reflects and will be continually adjusted to reflect 

the ratio of the gross square feet of the area rented to Tenant (including an allocable share of all Common Facilities) [the numerator] as 
compared with the total number of gross square feet of the entire Building (or additional buildings that may be constructed within the 
Real Property) [the denominator] measured outside wall to outside wall, but excluding therefrom any storage areas.  Landlord shall 
have the right to make changes or revisions in the Common Facilities of the Building so as to provide additional leasing area. Landlord 
shall also have the right to construct additional buildings in the Real Property for such purposes as Landlord may deem appropriate, and 
subdivide the lands for that purpose if necessary, and upon so doing, the Real Property shall become the subdivided lot on which the 
Building in which the Premises is located. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Tenant’s Percentage shall not increase during the Term, 
unless the rentable area of the Premises shall increase. However, if any service provided for in subparagraph a. or any utility provided 
for in subparagraph b. is separately billed or separately metered within the Building, then the square footage so billed or metered shall 
be subtracted from the denominator and the Tenant’s proportionate share for such service and/or utility shall be separately computed, 
and the Base Period Costs for such item shall not include any charges attributable to said square footage.  Tenant understands that as a 
result of changes in the layout of the Common Facilities from time to time occurring due to, by way of example and not by way of 
limitation, the rearrangement of corridors, the aggregate of all Building tenant proportionate shares may be equal to, less than or greater 
than one hundred percent (100%).  

   
- END -  
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EXHIBIT H  

   
ELECTRICITY RIDER  

   
Landlord shall cause electricity to be supplied to the Premises (“Building Standard Office Electrical Service”).  Tenant shall obtain and pay for 
Tenant’s separate supply of electric current by direct application to, and arrangement with, the utility companies servicing the Building.  
Landlord or the applicable utility company shall provide such meters used to measure such electricity service at Landlord’s expense.  Tenant 
shall pay all charges with respect to consumption of electricity applicable to the Premises directly to the utility company servicing the Building.  
Any and all rebates, grants and subsidies for utilities issued by the utility companies servicing the Building or other public or quasi-public 
institutions shall remain the property of Landlord. Tenant shall promptly pay Landlord any rebates, grants and subsidies Tenant receives in 
connection with utility services received by Tenant in the Building, unless Tenant has incurred the expense necessary that gave rise to such 
rebates, grants and subsidies. If, pursuant to a legal requirement or the policies or operating practices of the utility company servicing the 
Building, Tenant is no longer permitted to obtain electrical energy directly from the utility company, Landlord will furnish electrical energy to 
the Premises either, at Landlord’s option, on a “check-metering” basis or a rent inclusion basis.  Landlord shall give Tenant notice at least thirty 
(30) days prior to the date on which Landlord shall commence furnishing electrical energy to the Premises (unless such notice is not feasible 
under the circumstances, in which event Landlord will give Tenant such notice as is reasonably possible), which notice will set forth the terms on 
which Landlord will so furnish electrical energy to the Premises.  If any utilities are not (or cannot be) separately metered or assessed or are only 
partially separately metered or assessed and are used in common with other Tenants of the Building, Tenant will pay to Landlord an equitable 
apportionment of such charges for utilities used in common with other Tenants of the Building, based on the square footage of floor space leased 
to each Tenant using such common facilities, the average electrical consumption of each Tenant and other pertinent considerations, in addition to 
Tenant’s payment of the separately metered charges. Tenant shall defend, indemnify and hold Landlord harmless from and reimburse Landlord 
for all liability, damages, costs, fees, expenses, penalties and charges (including, but not limited to, attorneys’ fees and disbursements) incurred 
in connection with (i) Tenant’s failure to pay for any electricity provided to Tenant hereunder or (ii) misuse or neglect by Tenant of the meters
(s) and equipment supplying the electricity.  
   
d .              Tenant’s use of electric current in the Premises shall not exceed the capacity of any electrical conductors and equipment in or 

otherwise serving the Premises.  
   

e .              Tenant shall not, without the prior consent of Landlord make or perform or permit any alteration to wiring installations or other 
electrical facilities for the supply of electric current located in or serving the Premises.  If Landlord grants such consent, all additional 
conduit, feeders and wiring and other equipment required therefor shall be provided and/or installed by Landlord and the reasonable 
cost thereof shall be paid by Tenant as Additional Rent within fifteen (15) days after demand therefor.  
   

c.              Landlord shall not be liable in any way to Tenant for any loss, damage or expense which Tenant may sustain or incur as a result of any 
failure, defect or change in the quantity or character of electrical energy available for redistribution to the Premises pursuant to this 
Exhibit nor for any interruption in the supply, and Tenant agrees that such supply may be interrupted for inspection, repairs and 
replacement and in emergencies with at least forty-eight (48) hours advance notice (except for emergencies). Notwithstanding the 
foregoing and in any event, the full measure of Landlord’s liability for any interruption in the supply due to Landlord’s acts or 
omissions shall be an abatement of Fixed Basic Rent and Additional Rent, unless Landlord fails to take such measures as may be 
reasonable under the circumstances to restore such service without undue delay.  In no event shall Landlord be liable for any business 
interruption suffered by Tenant.  
   

d.              Landlord, at Tenant’s expense, shall furnish and install all replacement lighting tubes, lamps, ballasts and bulbs required in the 
Premises.  Tenant, however, shall have the right to furnish and/or install any or all of the items mentioned in this sub-paragraph (d).  
   

e.              Tenant shall pay, as Additional Rent, Tenant’s Percentage of the cost to the Building (including applicable sales or use taxes) for utility 
and energy costs, including any fuel surcharges or adjustments with respect thereto, incurred for water, sewer, gas and other utilities and 
heating, ventilating and air conditioning for the Building, to include all leased and leasable areas (not separately billed or metered 
within the Building) and Common Facilities electric and lighting, for the Building and Real Property, for any Lease Year or Partial 
Lease Year, during the Term (collectively, “Additional Utility Rent”).  Tenant shall pay to Landlord, on account of the Additional 
Utility Rent payable pursuant to this subparagraph e., the annual sum of $1.20 per square foot of gross rentable area of the Premises 
(“Estimated Additional Utility Rent”), subject to the adjustments on the first day of each and every calendar month of the term (except 
that if the first day of the term is other than the first day of a calendar month, the first monthly installment, prorated to the end of said 
calendar month, shall be payable on the first day of the first full calendar month).  From time to time during the term, the Estimated 
Additional Utility Rent may be adjusted by Landlord on the basis of either Landlord’s reasonable estimate of the Building’s and Real 
Property electric consumption and demand or the Building’s and Real Property actual consumption of and demand for electricity, and, 
in either event, the Electric Rate or Cost per Kilowatt and Cost per Kilowatt Hour then in effect.  Subsequent to the end of each calendar 
year during the Term, or more frequently if Landlord shall elect, Landlord shall submit to Tenant a statement of the Additional Utility 
Rent for such year or shorter period together with the components thereof, as set forth in this subparagraph e. (“Additional Utility 
Statement”).  To the extent that the Estimated Additional Utility Rent paid by Tenant for the period covered by the Additional Utility 
Statement shall be less than the Additional Utility Rent as set forth on such Additional Utility Statement, Tenant shall pay Landlord the 
difference within 30 days after receipt of the Additional Utility Statement.  If the Estimated Additional Utility Rent paid by Tenant for 
the period covered by the Additional Utility Statement shall be greater than the Additional Utility Rent as set forth on the Additional 
Utility Statement, such difference shall be credited against the next required payment(s) of Estimated Additional Utility Rent.  If no 
Estimated Additional Utility Rent payment(s) shall thereafter be due, Landlord shall pay such difference to Tenant. The utility and 
energy costs that vary with occupancy and that are attributable to any part of the Term in which less than ninety-five percent (95%) of 
the Building is occupied by tenants will be adjusted by Landlord to the amount that Landlord reasonably believes they would have been 



if ninety-five percent (95%) of the Building had been occupied.  
   
1  
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Exhibit 21.1 

INOVIO BIOMEDICAL CORPORATION  
Subsidiaries  

Subsidiary Name(1)   Jurisdiction of Organization 

Genetronics, Inc.    Delaware 
VGX Pharmaceuticals, LLC   Delaware 
VGX Animal Health, Inc   Delaware 
Inovio Asia Pte. Ltd.    Singapore 

(1)  In accordance with Instructions (ii) to Exhibit (21) to the Exhibit Table in Item 601 of Regulation S-K, Registrant has 
omitted from the above table one of its subsidiaries because such omitted subsidiary does not constitute a significant 
subsidiary of registrant as of the end of the year covered by this report.  
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Exhibit 23.1 

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm  

        We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements (Form S-3 Nos. 333-76738, 333-108752, 333-111287, 333-
116696, 333-118187, 333-123619, 333-131332, 333-134084, 333-140119, 333-160123 and 333-160126; Form S-8 Nos. 333-58168, 333-
100077, 333-120061, 333-136126, 333-142938, 333-150769, 333-156035 and 333-161559;) of Inovio Biomedical Corporation and in the related 
Prospectuses of our report dated March 26, 2010, with respect to the consolidated financial statements of Inovio Biomedical Corporation, 
included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the year ended December 31, 2009.  

    /s/ Ernst & Young LLP 
 
San Diego, California 

 
  

 
  

March 26, 2010     
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Exhibit 31.1 

Certification of CEO Pursuant to  
Securities Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)  

as Adopted Pursuant to  
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002  

I, J. Joseph Kim, certify that:  

1.  I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Inovio Biomedical Corporation  
 

2.  Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to 
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the 
period covered by this report;  
 

3.  Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material 
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;  
 

4.  The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act 
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15(d)-15(f)) for the registrant and have:  
 
(a)  Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 

supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to 
us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;  
 

(b)  Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed 
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of 
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;  
 

(c)  Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions 
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such 
evaluation; and  
 

(d)  Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's 
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is 
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and  
 

5.  The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent 
functions):  
 
(a)  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which 

are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and 
 
 

(b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's 
internal control over financial reporting.  

Date: March 26, 2010   /s/ J. JOSEPH KIM  

J. Joseph Kim  
President, Chief Executive Officer and Director 
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Exhibit 31.2 

Certification of CFO Pursuant to  
Securities Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)  

as Adopted Pursuant to  
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002  

I, Peter Kies, certify that:  

1.  I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Inovio Biomedical Corporation;  
 

2.  Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to 
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the 
period covered by this report;  
 

3.  Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material 
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;  
 

4.  The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act 
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15(d)-15(f)) for the registrant and have:  
 
(a)  Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 

supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to 
us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;  
 

(b)  Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed 
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of 
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;  
 

(c)  Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions 
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such 
evaluation; and  
 

(d)  Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's 
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is 
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and  
 

5.  The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent 
functions):  
 
(a)  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which 

are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and 
 
 

(b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's 
internal control  

Date: March 26, 2010   /s/ PETER KIES  

Peter Kies  
Chief Financial Officer 
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Exhibit 32.1 

Certification Pursuant to  
18 U.S.C. Section 1350,  
As Adopted Pursuant to  

Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002  

        In connection with the Annual Report of Inovio Biomedical Corporation (the "Company") on Form 10-K for the year ending December 31, 
2009 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), each of the undersigned, in the capacities and on 
the date indicated below, hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 
2002, that to his knowledge:  

(1)  The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and  
 

(2)  The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations 
of the Company.  

March 26, 2010   /s/ J. JOSEPH KIM  

J. Joseph Kim  
President, Chief Executive Officer and Director  

(Principal Executive Officer) 
 
  

 
  

 
/s/ PETER KIES  

Peter Kies  
Chief Financial Officer  

(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer) 
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